F	AD-A13	5 884 SIFIED	STRUCI SITUAI CENTER DOT/F/	TURAL RI TIONS(U R ATLAN AA/CT-8	ESPONSE) FEDER TIC CIT 3/42 NA	OF TRA AL AVIA Y NJ R SA-TM-E	NSPORT TION AI G THO 35654	AIRPLA DMINIST #SON ET	NES IN RATION AL. NC F/	CRASH TECHNIC V 83 G 1/2	1 CAL NL	/2 -	 ~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~	
ĺ														
														:
ļ														
£.		_					_				_			



MICROCOPY RESOLUTION TEST CHART NATIONAL BUREAU OF STANDARDS 1963 A DOT/FAA/CT-83/42 NASA-TM-85654

Structural Response of Transport Airplanes in Crash Situations

R.G. Thomson NASA Langley Research Center Hampton, VA 23665

C. Caiafa FAA Technical Center Atlantic City Airport, NJ 08405

November 1983

Final Report

This document is available to the U.S. public through the National Technical Information Service, Springfield, Virginia 22161.

.....



DTC FILE COPY



US Department of Transportation Federal Aviation Administration

Technical Center Atlantic City Airport, N.J. 08405



National Aeronautics and Space Administration Langley Research Center Hampton, Virginia 23665

83 12 16 073

مېرې <u>د مېرې له مېر</u>

NOTICE

This document is disseminated under the sponsorship of the Department of Transportation in the interest of information exchange. The United States Government assumes no liability for the contents or use thereof.

The United States Government does not endorse products or manufacturers. Trade or manufacturer's names appear herein solely because they are considered essential to the object of this report.

	. Report No. NASA TM-85654	2. Government Access	sion No. FJY	3. Me	cipient's Catalog No.
4	Title and Subtitle	mans port Airplanes		5. Re No	port Date ovember 1983
	Crash Situations	ransport Airplanes		6. Per	rforming Organization Code
7	Author(s)			8. Per	forming Organization Report No.
	Robert G. Thomson, Caesa	r Caiafa*		10. Wa	rk Unit No.
9	Performing Organization Name and Addr	F18			
	NASA Langley Research Cen Hampton, VA 23665	nter		11. Co	ntract or Grant No.
				13. Ty	pe of Report and Period Covered
12	. Sponsoring Agency Name and Address			Te	echnical Memorandum
	National Aeronautics and Washington, DC 20546	Space Administrat	ion	14. Sp	onsoring Agency Code
15	Supplementary Notes *FAA Technical Center Atlantic City, NJ 08405				
	Abstract	<u></u>	· · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · ·		
	This report highlights the data undertaken in a join these accident data studies improved transport crash Accident data pertaining tank rupture, wing break	he results of cont nt research progra ies it was conclud worthiness is in t to fuselage integ s, tearing of tank	ractural m sponso led that the reduc grity, ma c lower s	studies of t red by the FA the greatest tion of fire in landing ge urfaces. and	ransport accident A and NASA. From potential for realted fatalities. ar collapse, fuel engine pod scrubbing
	This report highlights the data undertaken in a join these accident data stud- improved transport crash Accident data pertaining tank rupture, wing breaks are discussed. In those of the fuselage structur- damage, trauma caused fa current seat/restraint s data does not adequately the dynamic interaction of	he results of cont nt research progra ies it was conclud worthiness is in t to fuselage integ s, tearing of tank accidents where t e is expended and talities are also ystems are examine define the relati with the seat, flo	cractural am sponso led that the reduc grity, ma c lower s the energ discusse d but it ionship b bor and f	studies of t red by the FA the greatest tion of fire in landing ge urfaces, and y absorbing p lane experien d. The dynam is concluded etween occupa uselage struc	ransport accident A and NASA. From potential for realted fatalities. For collapse, fuel engine pod scrubbing protective capability res major structural sic performance of that the accident nt response and ture
17	This report highlights the data undertaken in a join these accident data stud- improved transport crash Accident data pertaining tank rupture, wing breaks are discussed. In those of the fuselage structure damage, trauma caused fa current seat/restraint s data does not adequately the dynamic interaction of Key Words (Suggested by Author(s))	he results of cont nt research progra ies it was concluc worthiness is in t to fuselage integ s, tearing of tank accidents where t e is expended and talities are also ystems are examine define the relati with the seat, flo	ractural m sponso led that the reduc grity, ma c lower s the energ the airp discusse d but it onship b bor and f	studies of t red by the FA the greatest tion of fire in landing ge urfaces, and y absorbing p lane experien d. The dynam is concluded etween occupa uselage struc	ransport accident A and NASA. From potential for realted fatalities. For collapse, fuel engine pod scrubbing protective capability ces major structural ic performance of that the accident nt response and ture.
17	This report highlights the data undertaken in a join these accident data stud- improved transport crash Accident data pertaining tank rupture, wing breaks are discussed. In those of the fuselage structure damage, trauma caused fa current seat/restraint s data does not adequately the dynamic interaction of Key Words (Suggested by Author(s)) Accident data, survivabi crashworthiness, acciden	he results of cont nt research progra ies it was concluc worthiness is in t to fuselage integ s, tearing of tank accidents where t e is expended and talities are also ystems are examine define the relati with the seat, flo	ractural m sponso led that the reduc prity, ma c lower s the energ the airp discusse d but it ionship b bor and f	studies of t red by the FA the greatest tion of fire in landing ge urfaces, and y absorbing p lane experien d. The dynam is concluded etween occupa uselage struc	ransport accident A and NASA. From potential for realted fatalities. For collapse, fuel engine pod scrubbing protective capability ces major structural inc performance of that the accident nt response and ture.
10	This report highlights the data undertaken in a join these accident data stud improved transport crash Accident data pertaining tank rupture, wing breaks are discussed. In those of the fuselage structure damage, trauma caused fa current seat/restraint s data does not adequately the dynamic interaction of Key Words (Suggested by Author(s)) Accident data, survivabi crashworthiness, acciden	he results of cont nt research progra ies it was concluc worthiness is in t to fuselage integ s, tearing of tank accidents where t e is expended and talities are also ystems are examine define the relati with the seat, flo	ractural m sponso led that the reduc grity, ma c lower s the energ the airp discusse d but it onship be oor and f	studies of t red by the FA the greatest tion of fire in landing ge urfaces, and y absorbing p lane experien d. The dynam is concluded etween occupa uselage struc	ransport accident A and NASA. From potential for realted fatalities. For collapse, fuel engine pod scrubbing protective capability ces major structural fic performance of that the accident nt response and ture.

1

And a state of the state of the

· visite

NV.

TABLE OF CONTENTS

	PAGE
EXECUTIVE SUMMARY	vii
INTRODUCTION	1
OBJECTIVE	2
ESTABLISHMENT OF ACCIDENT STUDY BASE	3
Accident Data Summary Aircraft Type Aircraft Size Aircraft Configuration Operation Phase Validation of Data Base Summary of the Selected Accident Study Data Base	3 4 5 6 7 8 9
DEFINITION OF ACCIDENT CATEGORIES AND THEIR RELATION TO FATALITIES	10
Accident Severity and Survivability	11
DEFINITION OF ACCIDENT SCENARIOS	13
Air-To-Surface, Hard Landing Air-To-Surface, Flight Into Obstruction Surface-To-Surface	13 14 15
STRUCTURAL FEATURES AND SUBSYSTEMS THAT CONTRIBUTE TO OCCUPANT INJURIES AND FATALITIES	15
Failure Mechanisms and Injury Types Subsystem Participation Subsystem Participation and Accident Severity Structural Factors in Fatalities	16 16 16 17
POTENTIAL FOR IMPROVING CRASH PERFORMANCE	17
Fire Hazard Evacuation from the Aircraft Structural Break-up Effects of Water Entry Assessment	17 18 19 20 20
CONCLUDING REMARKS	2 1
REFERENCES	21
APPENDIX	22

iii

and have been and the second the second

LIST OF TABLES

TABLE	PAGE
1 - SUMMARY OF ACCIDENT INJURY LEVELS AS A FUNCTION OF AIRPLA CLASS (BASED ON REDUCED NUMBER OF STRUCTURAL-RELATED ACC	NE WEIGHT 41 CIDENTS)
2 - SUMMARY OF ACCIDENT INJURY LEVELS AS A FUNCTION OF AIRPLA CLASS (BASED ON REDUCED NUMBER OF STRUCTURAL-RELATED ACC	NE WEIGHT 42 CIDENTS)
3 - SUMMARY OF ACCIDENT TYPES BY OPERATIONAL MODE (BASED ON F NUMBER OF STRUCTURAL-RELATED ACCIDENTS)	LEDUCED 43
4 - SUMMARY OF ACCIDENT TYPES BY AIRPLANE WEIGHT CLASS, BASED NUMBER OF STRUCTURAL-RELATED ACCIDENTS) ON REDUCED 44
5 - AVERAGE DISTANCE FROM AIRPORT ASSOCIATED WITH ACCIDENT CA	TEGORIES 45
6 - SUMMARY OF ACCIDENT OCCURRENCE AS A FUNCTION OF PROXIMITY	TO AIRPORT 46
7 - COMPARATIVE SUMMARY OF ACCIDENT TYPES BY AIRPLANE WEIGHT NTSB AND WORLDWIDE DATA	CLASS, FOR 47
8 - COMBINED SELECTED ACCIDENT DATA BASE (REF. 19, 20, 21) (5	Pages) 48
9 - ACCIDENT DATA BASE SUMMARY; REF. 19	53
10 - SELECTED ACCIDENT DATA BASE (REF. 19) (5 Pages)	54
11 - STRUCTURAL DAMAGE SEVERITY	59
12 - NUMBER OF FATALITIES AS A FUNCTION OF DAMAGE SEVERITY	60
13 - FAILURE MECHANISMS	61
14 - INJURY TYPES	62
15 - STRUCTURAL SYSTEMS (REF. 19) (3 Pages)	. 63
16 - STRUCTURAL COMPONENT PARTICIPATION (REF. 19)	66
17 - COMPONENT PARTICIPATION AND ACCIDENT SEVERITY AS A FUNCTI ACCIDENT SCENARIO	ON OF 67
18 - AREAS FOR R&D ON CURRENT METAL AIRCRAFT	68

(g

~

914 F. 5. 94

100.00

iv

ν

LIST OF ILLUSTRATIONS

FIGURE	PAGE
1(A) - TRANSPORT AIRPLANE VS TAKEOFF GROSS WEIGHT	70
1(B) - NUMBER AND SERVICE - YEARS* OF JET TRANSPORT AIRCRAFT CURRENTLY IN SERVICE	71
2 - AIRCRAFT SIZE AND CONFIGURATION	72
3 - ACCIDENTS AS A FUNCTION OF OPERATIONAL REGIME	73
4 - NORMALIZED FATALITY RATIO AS A FUNCTION OF DISTANCE FROM AIRPORT FOR CRASH SCENARIOS	74
5 - COMPARISON OF NTSB SUMMARIES	75
6 - SELECTED ACCIDENT STUDY DATA BASE	76
7 - PROBABLE CAUSE OF ACCIDENTS	77
 B - DOMESTIC VERSUS FOREIGN JET TRANPSPORT ACCIDENTS (1959-1979) (2 Pages) 	78
 9 - DOMESTIC VERSUS FOREIGN JET TRANSPORT ACCIDENTS (1959-1979) (2 Pages) 	80
10 - DISTRIBUTION OF FATALITIES AS A FUNCTION OF ACCIDENT CATEGORY	82
11(A) - FATALITIES AS A FUNCTION OF SINK RATE; REF. 19	83
11(B) - FATALITIES AS A FUNCTION OF SINK RATE; REF. 20	84
11(C) - FATALITIES AS A FUNCTION OF SINK RATE: REF. 21	85
12(A) - INJURIES AS A FUNCTION OF SINK RATE: REF. 19	86
12(B) - INJURIES AS A FUNCTION OF SINK RATE; REF. 20	87
12(C) - INJURIES AS A FUNCTION OF SINK RATE; REF. 21	88
13 - STRUCTURAL FACTORS IN FATALITIES	89
the mate for	

DTIC COPY NBPECTED

EXECUTIVE SUMMARY

The subject report compiles the results of contractual studies of transport aircraft accident data covering a 20-year period.

A joint effort between Federal Aviation Administration (FAA) Technical Center and NASA, the major transport aircraft manufacturers, were contracted to do an in-depth investigation of transport aircraft accidents. The purpose of this study was to define failure mechanisms affecting occupant survivability in a crash environment, and to define a range of survivable crash conditions or crash scenarios that may form a basis for developing improved crashworthiness design technology.

The accident data base consisted of a review of 933 world-wide transport accidents which occurred during the years of 1959-1979. The source of the data were the files of the Federal Aviation Administration (FAA), Civil Aeronautics Board (CAB), National Transportation Safety Board (NTSB), International Civil Aviation Organization (ICAO), British Air Registraion Board (BARB), Ariline Pilots Association (ALPA), periodicals, newspapers, official accident reports released by foreign governments, and transport aircraft manufacturers.

The data presented focuses on survivable accidents only, which after applying the established criteria to the total data base was reduced from 933 accidents to 176 survivable transport accidents; (Domestic 99, Foreign 76) delineated by operational phase, failure modes and occupant statistics.

The following criteria were established for statistics to be considered in this data base: (a) airframe survivable volume was maintained during impact and prior to severe fire; (b) at least one occupant did not die from trauma; (c) potential for egress was present; (d) accident demonstrated structural or system performance. Criterion (b) is significantly more severe than the FAR criterion or NYSB definitions of a survivable accident. Criterion (b) does not mean that if one survives all should survive; rather, it means that one occupant was able to withstand the accident environment in his immediate vicinity. This permits accidents to be considered for research definition and direction that are beyond the scope of current design criteria.

In general, the studies suggest the following:

- o 3 distinct scenarios and associated impact conditions.
- o Floor deformation is the primary cause of seat failure.
- o Accidents involving fire increase severity and reduces chances for occupant survivability.
- o Fuel tank rupture which allows significant fuel release is the primary cause of fire.
- o Continued dedicated accident investigation going beyond the determination of probable cause and providing more extensive crashworthiness data relative to impact loads, occupied volume, correlation of seat failures with occupant injuries, pressence of emergency egress, etc.

TRANSPORT AIRCRAFT CANDIDATE SCENARIOS

.... .

			IMP/	ACT CONDITIONS			
					AIRPLANE CONFIC/		
CANDIDATE Scenario	OPERATIONAL PHASE	DISTANCE FROM AIRPORT	FORWARD VELOCITY (VF)	SINK RATE (VS)	IMPACT CONDITIONS	TERRAIN	HAZARD
Ground to Ground (Overrun)	Take-off abort/ landing overrun	On Runway or within 3000 ft. of end of runway	60-100 Kts	less than or equal to 5 fps.	Gears ext. symmetrical	Runway Hard Ground	Ditches Trees Mounds Light Stanchions
Air to Ground (Hard Landing)	Landing-hard Landing-hard shoot	on Runway or Within 300 ft. of threshold	126-160 Kts.	Greater than 5 fps. but less than or equal to 12 fps	Cears ext. Symmetrical	Runway Soft Ground	None
Air to Ground (Impact)	Final Approach	On Runway or Between Outer Marker and Missed approach point	Greater than 126 Kts.	Greater than 12 fps.	Gears ext. retract. Symmetrical Unsymme- trical trical <u>Fitch</u> 5.45 <u>718ht</u> 718ht Path -4 h-7	Hard Ground, Hilly, Rocky	Trees Poles Slopes Bldgs.

. ایسی ۱

يولك ورزاله

33

viii

6-1979	07/12/12 C CATAFA ACT-530 UNIT 6 PAGF E U A LS VS LF REN N N N 0 0 00.0 NARD IMPACT-66AR FAIL	100 100 100 100 100 100 100 100 100 100	И N N 0 0 00.0 VEERED-SEP GEAR.M2 8 	якто 0 0.0.2 сторо и и и и 1 энт 10 10 сторо и и и и 1 энт 10 10 сторо и и и и 1 энт 10 сторо и и и и и и и и и и и и и и и и и и	N N N R O OOS STALL-HARD INPACT FN	N N N 0 0 00.0 0VERAN-PRAKE FIRE-L' P-FIRE LT UING-RMGSFI EVG SEP-THR ULG	N N N 0 0 00.0 0 00 00 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0	N N Y N O OOLO OVERRAN-LOST THRUST HSERS=HTT FENCE, RUND ER-DROWINGS	N N N O O OD, O SHORT - HIT TREES, TAN UPI, FIRE-HIT RR TRACI 051 GEAR	N N O O OO. O HARD LUD-SEP ONE ENG	N N N 0 0 0040 LMS FAILED-A/C 510PP N N N 0 0 0040 LMS FAILED-A/C 510PP N HEMAINING GEAKS & 1 WING TIP-FIPE	V ТІН-03194-031904 С.00 0 П И И И И V 114-03194-5043 ГЗСЛ 1501 И И И И И И И И И И И И И И И И И И И	id from O
gn Survivable 195.	CENTER, ATLANTIC CITY ALRPORT, N.J. D8405 0N S H S T E 6 F C I FAT FF TF DF UF INJ INJ FS E A N E 0 L S 3 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 6 FX N Y N Y N N	1200002101 FD N N N Y Y	1 4 0 0 0 0 10 31 FX N N Y Y N	1 1 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0	. 5 27 0 0 27 6 1 fx N 7 N N N	2 6 1 3 0 0 4 0 0 8 8 0 F X N Y Y Y N N	2 ¢ 130 0 ¢0 0 88 2 0 FX N Y Y Y N N	5 i 15 0 0 15 0 0 90 X N Y Y N N	03000000000000000000000000000000000000	2 2 0 0 0 0 7 5	0 0 0 0 0 0 0 1 0 1 0 1 0 0 1 0 0 1 0 0 1 0 0 1 0 0 1 0	5 1 4 8 4 8 0 0 0 11 14 FX N Y Y Z N N	Reproduce
Forei		W/S 1141541 8707 LISAON Y LO 10	W/S N72201 8207 HAMAURG T TO 4	M/S (147241 CVL (184551LA 7 LD (U/S 122161	W/S 116-116-2 8207 PARTS, 08LY Y TO 13	101 1 100 10 10 10 10 10 10 10 10 10 10	W/S N92062 DC-8 RIO DF JANI Y TO 10	W/S N70161 CVL CORDORA, AR. Y FA 7	U/S BITRAC HAC UISLEY, FNG Y LD	W/S DIS2A4 CMF SINGAPORE Y LD A	W/S 112164 8207 80MF Y 10 7	

Ĩ

ix

5 1170 CAIRO Y FA 127 6 121 0 0 121 6 0 FX N Y N N N N N N N N N N V V N N N N N N	A 0 0.00.0 HISH RALE OF DESCENT - FM -5.8410045 E.E.CT -5.841007 E.E.CT UPT -118 UPT -118 UPT -118 UPT -118 UN 0 UN 157 UN 157 UN 157 UN 5.56445 UN 5.141 UN 157 UN 0 UN 157 UN 0 UN 0 UN UN
0 CUL NEU DEL-H T FA B1 Z 0 0 14 65 FX N	v N D DA.D A/C HIT CEMENT PILLAR -6 v N 0 D NLO EAR TALLEO -4/C HIT APP LIG v N 0 D NLO HITS 5 5 € Kuall -50 vrivors Lic v N 0 D NLO Lavoe ED SANDY SOIL-5 EP v N 0 D ARATED GEAR-MINOR FUEL 5 v N D D O ARATED GEAR-MINOR FUEL 5 v N D D O O O V V V v N D O O O O O V V V V v N O O O O O O V
A DC-A TOKYO D F A 7 6 5 7 6 5 3 7 0 1 0 1<	W N 0 0 M1405HR -A/C H17 6 5 € K UACL -50RV10085 BJECTED EJECTED EJECTED -50RV10085 -50RV10085 V N 157 20 01.0 LANOED N N NO 501L-56P V N 157 20 01.0 LANOED 54NDY 501L-56P PILL PILL PILL -111 670-4/7 910KL UP V N 0 0 0.1 780 111 670-4/7 910KL UP V N 0 0 0.1 780 111 670-4/7 910KL UP V 0 0 0.0 0 0.0 0
A TRI KUMAIT Y FA 83 4 0 0 0 83 X N </td <td>N 157 20 00.0 Landed in Sandy Soil-SEP PILL SEAR-MINOR FUEL S PILL PILL V 0 00.0 ENG OUT TRAINING - RT WIN V 0 0 00.0 ENG OUT TRAINING - RT WIN V 0 0 00.0 ENG OUT TRAINING - RT WIN V 0 0 00.0 ENG OUT TRAINING - VEERED- V 0 0 00.0 ENG OUT TRAINING - VEERED-</td>	N 157 20 00.0 Landed in Sandy Soil-SEP PILL SEAR-MINOR FUEL S PILL PILL V 0 00.0 ENG OUT TRAINING - RT WIN V 0 0 00.0 ENG OUT TRAINING - RT WIN V 0 0 00.0 ENG OUT TRAINING - RT WIN V 0 0 00.0 ENG OUT TRAINING - VEERED- V 0 0 00.0 ENG OUT TRAINING - VEERED-
A DC-A NICTLAND TO S Z D Z D 3 D FX N	u 0
А 991 ТОКТО Y TO 5 5 5 0 0 0 0 FX N Y Y N N N N N 6 0C-A MFXICO CITY Y FA 110 4 0 0 0 6 104 FX N N N N N N N N N Y Y Y N N N Y Y Y N N N Y Y Y N N Y Y Y N N Y Y Y N N Y Y Y N N Y Y Y N N Y Y Y N N Y Y Y N N Y Y Y N N Y	N N 0 00.3 ENS OUT TRAINING-VEERED- HIT DITCH-LOST GEARERGE
6 DC-A MFXICO CITY Y FA TIG 4 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 4 D4 FX N N N N N N N N V 7 7 N N N V 7 7 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0	ulv5
7 DC-8 MONROVIA Y FA 90 3 51 51 0 0 0 23 16 FX N Y Y Y N N V 7 CVL HONG XONG Y FA RD 5 17 D D 17 D 5 58 Y N Y Y Y N U	V N 0 0 00.0 LAVDED IN DAY LAKE BED-H 11 1 4 VIGH ROADSSHED N. 6 FUSF. BROKE
7 CVL HONG X FA BU 5 17 U D 17 U S SA X N V V V N U	ч и 140 19 00.0 нісн вате об descent-Los в бееак-ніт Several в 135-fire
	<pre>v Y N N 00.0 SHORT, IN WATER, NOSE UP = A/C FUSE. 3NUFE-A/C SAN K-PAX 0R04460</pre>
7 CMT POME YLD 66 T D D D D D 66 X N Y N Y N N N	✓ N D D0.0 MARD LOG -VEERED OFF RMY SPILL - SPILL
2 яял номб конб у то 117 4 1 0 0 1 0 136 0 X N N V N N	V N D D D1. D ANORT -VEERED INTO BAY-FU U7 - D D1. D ANORT -VEERED INTO BAY-FU

х

	ANTIC CITY AIRPORT, TF DF UF INJ 1 0 0 60 1 0 0 1 2 0 0 0 21 42 0 0 0 0 123 5 0 0 0 123 5 0 0 0 123 5 0 0 0 123 5 0 0 0 123 5 0 0 0 123 5 0 0 0 123 5 0 0 0 123 5 0 7 0 2 14 1 7 0 2 14 1 7 0 0 0 33 1 0 45 2 0 5 0 0 4 1	ECHUICAL CENTER ALANILC CITY ALRORT I S N I S I O O O T <ld< td=""> 61 Z 1 O I S N T<ld< td=""> 61 Z 1 O 1 O O 60 60 T<ld< td=""> 61 Z 1 O 1 O O 60 7 7 7 7 7<!--</th--><th>0.4.05 0N 07/16/6.2 C CATATA ACT-330 UNIT 6 PAG FS E A N E O L L V A LS VS LF RFM A Y N Y Y Y Y N N N O 0 00.0 VEFRE HIT BLG A Y N Y Y Y N N N N O 0 00.0 SHORT - A7C BROSSAL F F F F F F - A7C BRORD</th><th>FX Y N<!--</th--><th>FX N Y Y Y N N N N 0 00.0 SHORT -HITTRFS RL FX N Y Y N N N N N N 0 0 00.0 JINDSHFP-ML0 IMPAC FX N Y N N N N N N 0 0 00.0 JINDSHFP-ML0 IMPAC FX N Y Y N N N N N N 0 0 00.0 SHORT HIT IREES ALC IN FX N Y Y N N N N N 0 0 00.0 SHORT HIT IREES ALC OU FX N Y Y N N N N N 0 0 00.0 SHORT HIT IREES ALC OU FX N Y Y N N N N N 0 0 00.0 SHORT HIT IREES ALC OU</th><th>X N N Y N N Y N N N 0 00.0 LOST POWER AT VR-WH TY Y Y N N N N N N 0 00.0 HIT HILL-SURVIVORS</th><th>AND NI TRONG TJAMI C.000.1 N.N. N. V. V.</th></th></ld<></ld<></ld<>	0.4.05 0N 07/16/6.2 C CATATA ACT-330 UNIT 6 PAG FS E A N E O L L V A LS VS LF RFM A Y N Y Y Y Y N N N O 0 00.0 VEFRE HIT BLG A Y N Y Y Y N N N N O 0 00.0 SHORT - A7C BROSSAL F F F F F F - A7C BRORD	FX Y N </th <th>FX N Y Y Y N N N N 0 00.0 SHORT -HITTRFS RL FX N Y Y N N N N N N 0 0 00.0 JINDSHFP-ML0 IMPAC FX N Y N N N N N N 0 0 00.0 JINDSHFP-ML0 IMPAC FX N Y Y N N N N N N 0 0 00.0 SHORT HIT IREES ALC IN FX N Y Y N N N N N 0 0 00.0 SHORT HIT IREES ALC OU FX N Y Y N N N N N 0 0 00.0 SHORT HIT IREES ALC OU FX N Y Y N N N N N 0 0 00.0 SHORT HIT IREES ALC OU</th> <th>X N N Y N N Y N N N 0 00.0 LOST POWER AT VR-WH TY Y Y N N N N N N 0 00.0 HIT HILL-SURVIVORS</th> <th>AND NI TRONG TJAMI C.000.1 N.N. N. V. V.</th>	FX N Y Y Y N N N N 0 00.0 SHORT -HITTRFS RL FX N Y Y N N N N N N 0 0 00.0 JINDSHFP-ML0 IMPAC FX N Y N N N N N N 0 0 00.0 JINDSHFP-ML0 IMPAC FX N Y Y N N N N N N 0 0 00.0 SHORT HIT IREES ALC IN FX N Y Y N N N N N 0 0 00.0 SHORT HIT IREES ALC OU FX N Y Y N N N N N 0 0 00.0 SHORT HIT IREES ALC OU FX N Y Y N N N N N 0 0 00.0 SHORT HIT IREES ALC OU	X N N Y N N Y N N N 0 00.0 LOST POWER AT VR-WH TY Y Y N N N N N N 0 00.0 HIT HILL-SURVIVORS	AND NI TRONG TJAMI C.000.1 N.N. N. V.
--	---	---	---	--	---	--	---

xi

OCA TORONTO Y LD TOA 3 TOA 3 TOA 108 TOA O O O N	-FULSF, BROKE PNTO Y LO 10A 3 108 10A 0 0 0 0 0 5X N Y Y N N N N N N 0 18 00,0 HARD-TAIL 1ST-44 RUY, SEP-FTHE-TYPL3 0 60 ANDUVD
RAC GEGONALSEA Y TO A 5 X N N N N N N N N N N N N N N N N N N N	
990 ACAPULCO Y LO 8.3 0 <th0< th=""> 0 0</th0<>	NA, SPA Y TO AS 4 0 0 0 0 0 3 82 X N N N N N N N N O 00.0 OVERAN -HIT 6.5 M E
CHI MUNICH Y TO Z3 Z <thz< th=""> <thz< th=""> <thz< th=""> <thz< th=""> <thz< td=""><td>ULCO Y LO 8 3 0 0 0 0 0 8 0 FX N Y N N N N N N 0 0 00.0 HADR IMPACT FAILED W</td></thz<></thz<></thz<></thz<></thz<>	ULCO Y LO 8 3 0 0 0 0 0 8 0 FX N Y N N N N N N 0 0 00.0 HADR IMPACT FAILED W
8707 IELAVIV Y 10 5 0 0 0 3 5 N N Y Y N N N E N 5 N 5 N N N N N 5 0 10 - COSI F 5 5 5 0 10 0 18 7 X N N N N N N N 10 <td>ICH Y FO 23 3 0 0 0 0 0 23 FX N Y N Y N N N N N 0 0 00,0 HIT FENCE-GEAR SEP</td>	ICH Y FO 23 3 0 0 0 0 0 23 FX N Y N Y N N N N N 0 0 00,0 HIT FENCE-GEAR SEP
BAC CONSTANA T Z Z T Z <thz< th=""> Z <thz< th=""> <thz< <="" td=""><td>AVIV Y 10 3 5 0 0 0 0 0 0 3 FX N Y Y N N N N 0 0 00.0 HIT A/C UNDER TOU -L</td></thz<></thz<></thz<>	AVIV Y 10 3 5 0 0 0 0 0 0 3 FX N Y Y N N N N 0 0 00.0 HIT A/C UNDER TOU -L
B707 ВОМВАУ Y TO 5 0 0 0 0 0 5 FX N	IANA T FA 27 4 18 0 0 0 18 9 0 X N N N N N N N 0 00.0 SHJRT
19.4.С. НАЧВИRG. Y TO 121 5 22 0 0 0 22 92 0 FX N Y N N N N N N 0 0 00.0 LOST ALL PRAER AT 50 M - CRASHED OVAUTOTAN - HIT AHIDGE 1707 URUTCHI, CH Y LD 3 4 0 0 0 0 3 X N N N Y N N N N 0 00.3 HARD LANDING	AV Y TO S S D J D D D S FX N N N N N N N N N O D D.0 ENG. OUT TPAINTRG-LO REAL OUER-TAIL HIT RUNUAN RED INTO ROUGH I
П707 URUNCHI, CH Y LO 3 4 () O O O O O 3 X N N N N N N N N O O O O A HARD LANDING	URG Y TO 121 5 22 0 0 U 22 97 0 FX N Y N N N N N O 0 00.0 LOST ALL POWER AT 50 CRASHED OV AUTOTAN - RHIDGE RHIDGE
	10H1, CH Y LD 5 4 0 0 0 0 0 0 3 X N N N Y N N N N 0 00.3 HARD LANDING
DC-9 ADANA Y FA 5 5 1 0 0 0 1 4 0 FX N N N N N N N N 0 0 00.0 IMPACIFD ON DOJNIND LFG	VA Y FA 5 5 1 0 0 0 1 4 0 FX N N N N N N N 0 0 00.0 [MPACIFD ON DOLIVIND
VC1 ADDIS AIBA Y TO 107 5 43 0 0 0 43 15 49 FX N Y N N N N N N N N N N N N N N N N N	ЗИНАХ Y TO 107 5 43 0 0 0 43 15 49 FX N Y N N N N N N N N N N N N N N N N N

xii

TYPE LOCN S PH OCC I FAT FF TF DF UF INJ II	M STEGDFEW HJFSEANEOLLVALSVSLFREM
0C-8 BOMBAY Y LD 120 2 0 0 0 0 0 1	20 FX N N Y Y N N N N N 0 00.0 RWY 100 SHORT - OVERRAN H
DC-8 MOSCON, USS T TO 76 6 62 0 0 62 14	DEXNYYYNNNN 0 000.0 STALL DUE 10 FLAP RETRAC
F28 BOLRADÍSPA Y LD 4 2 0 0 0 0 4	O X N N N Y N N N N N O 00.0 OVERAN -CROSSED GULLY A
. 8707 KHANO, NIGE Y LD 202 3 172 172 0 0 0	30 FX N Y Y Y Y N N N N D 44 00.0 SHORT-HARD-LOST R4G-LFFT WING SEP-FINE AF ROOT-F
1 8737 NEW DELHI Y FA 65 5 52 52 0 0 0 13	DFXYYYNNN 00000 SHORT-HITSHOULDER-SEPG Far, ftyling, acersed Roke k purked.
5 0707 BUENOS AIRES Y LD 86 1 0 0 0 0 0 0	86 FD N Y Y N Y N N N N 110 30 00.0 HARD LOGLING NIT GRO.
4 F2B TUPIN, ITAL Y FA 42 5 38 0 0 0 38 4	D FX N Y N N N N N N O O OD. O 1 MPACT SHORT-FUSE. BROKE
4 8727 PORTO-ALEGR Y LD 74 3 D D D 0 0 0	74 0 N Y N Y N N N N 0 0 00.0 LOVG & FST -VENT THRU 2 BRICK WALLS.
. 8747 NAIRODI, KE Y TO 157 6 59 11 48 0 0 44	54 FX Y Y N N Y N N N O O OD.O NOSE HIGH STALL-AFT FUSE
5 FJR PALEMRANG Y LD 62 3 25 0 0 0 25 0	37 FX N N Y N N N N N 0 00.0 OVFRAN HIT TREES.
6 0C10 ISTANPUL T LD 376 3 0 0 0 0 1 3	175 FX N Y Y Y N N N N 151 10 00.0 SHORT-LOST GEAR, ENGS-LEF
2 DC-A NIANEY, NIG Y FA 4 2 2 0 0 0 2 2	DEXNYNYNNN N 0000 SHORT -HIT DITCH -A/C HR

0.1277 ПЛЛ ПОТИТИЕ V 10 50 5 314 116 114 0 12 02 0 14 V V V V V V V V V V V V V V V V V V	<pre>// muddyr Type Loch // S PH OCC I FAT FF TF DF UF INJ FS E A N E O L L V A LS VS LF NEW // Prestulick y TO 4 3 0 0 0 0 4 FX N Y N Y N N N 0 0 00.3 ENS FRAINING // DOC 2 ENS FRAINING</pre>
5 011877 9C 0 </td <td>S U12777 A747 TENFRIFE Y TO 396 5 334 118 134 0 A2 62 0 FX N Y N Y Y N N N D DD.D CALLISIAN N</td>	S U12777 A747 TENFRIFE Y TO 396 5 334 118 134 0 A2 62 0 FX N Y N Y Y N N N D DD.D CALLISIAN N
5 07277 02-8 KULA LUMU 7 0	S 041877 bc-8 токто - у то 140 2 0 0 0 0 0 0 140 X И У И И И И И И 0 0 00.0 VEFAFD -LOS
1 01/10/1 0.0 <td< td=""><td>S 092777 DC-8 KULA LUMPU 7 FA 79 5 54 25 9 0 0 45 0 FX N Y N N N N N N N N 0 0 09.0 CAISHEN ON T</td></td<>	S 092777 DC-8 KULA LUMPU 7 FA 79 5 54 25 9 0 0 45 0 FX N Y N N N N N N N N 0 0 09.0 CAISHEN ON T
5 111977 BAZZI MADEIRA T LO 164 6 128 0 0 128 0 128 0 0 128 0 0 128 0 111077 0419414 11011 05 111011 0	15 100277 DC-B SHANNON Y ГО 259 1 D D O O O 17 242 FX N Y N N N N N N N N N O O O O 201.51 Зирилование и римстият Зят
121A77 CVL MADEIRA Y LD 57 4 36 D 0 56 D 15 B X N N N N N N N N N D 0 00.2 A/C FOUCHED DOWN IN WAIF P-FLOATED 5 MINUTYS - N - 0 - 0 - 0 - 0 - 0 - 0 - 0 - 0 - 0	112-1-118970 C.C.N.N.N.N.N.N.N.Y.Y.Y.Y.N.O. 6 128 0 0 0 128 5 0 12 0 1 0 0 1 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0
75 030378 DC-R SANTIAGO DE Y LD 222 4 0 0 0 0 0 52 170 FX N N N N N N N N N N N N N N N N N N	12 121877 СУL МАОЕЛАА Т LD 57 4 36 0 0 36 0 13 8 × N N N N N N N N N N N N N N N N N N
15 U12578 B727 LONDON 7 LD R2 2 0 0 0 0 0 0 82 D N N Y Y Y N N N 0 7 07.0 HIT 445 AND HOLY (F5-4.75 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1	V3 030378 DC-8 SANTIAGO DE Y LD 222 4 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 N N N N N N N N N
15 040278 8737 5A0. FAULO Y LO 42 2 0 0 0 0 42 FX N N Y N N N N N N N 0 0 00.0 WEELS UP -DID NOT SHUT 15 040278 8737 CHARLROL, N Y LO 3 3 0 0 0 0 5 FX N Y Y Y N N N N N 0 00.0 OVERAN -HIT ILS TOLER -	12 U12578 B727 LONDON 7 LD A2 2 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 82 D N N Y Y Y N N W 0 7 00.0 HIT HAFD AV
15 040478 8737 CHARLROL, N Y LO 3 3 0 0 0 0 0 0 5 FX N Y Y Y N N N N N 0 00,0 0468AN -HIT ILS TOAFR -	15 040278 8737 540. FAULO 7 LO 42 2 C 0 0 0 0 12 FX N N Y N N N N N N 0 0 00. D WHELS UP -
-	15 040478 8737 CHARLROL, N T LO 3 3 0 0 0 0 0 3 FX N T T Y N N N N N 0 0 00.0 04588AN -HI

• •.

xiv

İŧ

ATLANTIC CITY ATROGRI, N.J. MA405 04 07/16/P2 C CAIAFA ACT-530 UNIT 6 PAGF 8	FF IF DF UF INJ INJ FS E ANE OLL VALS VS LF REY 0 2 0 47 58 X Y Y N Y Y N 1: 49 40 01. J LNSI POJER-OVERRAN-CRASH ED 1470 17 3 0 6 6 P AVIUF	ULIO 0 0 195 64 0 FX N Y Y N N N N N N N N Y Y N X 10 56 0 195 64 0 FX N N N N N N N N Y Y N X 10 56 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1	0 0 0 108 0 21 X N N N N N N N Y 125 12 03.3 IMPACTED LEVEL-9ROKE UP SAVK-PAX DKOUNED	0 0 0 0 170 0 N N Y Y Y N N N 0 00.0 HARD IMPACT-FUSE. FLOOR	20 25 0 0 15 4 FX Y Y Y N N N N N 170 70 09.5 WINDSHH-HARD TAIL DOWN 1 MPAGT-HITTALDG	14 0 0 0 0 140 FX N N Y N Y N N N N 0 00.2 OVERAN OCRACK IN LEFT U	O 3 O 69 13 2 FX N Y Y Y N N N N O 0000 TOUCHDOWN -HIT VEH.SEP M LG - ATRAOURNE -HIT VING LOW -HIT RLG				
DAIA AF CURDED & PROCESSED AT FAA TECHNICAL CENTER.	* USIS MADDYY ITPE LOCM S PH OCC I FAT F	1 4/5 111578 0C-8 COLUM90,58 7 FA 259 6 195 1 4/5 121778 8737 HTDEEABAD,1N Y TO 126 3 1	1 W/S 12237A DC-9 PALERMO, IT T LD 129 4 10A	W/S 021979 8207 ST. LUCIA Y FA 170 2 0.		(W/S 101179 0C10 MEXICO CITY T LD 87 6 72			3	

xν

Image: Section of the sectin of the section of the section of the section of the section of th		մեն																		
unit statication contraction contraction contraction statication						•	:				100	INTS .	!	I	 : :	i :				
Unit State Four Four	•	•	1	 	: J 1 1	LAILL	RE MOD	ES						0000	ANT ST	V LISTI	5			
c(10000015 07 52 c4 67 53 c9 19 15 9 19 15 9 19 15 9 19 15 9 19 15 19 15 9 19 15 19 15 9 19 15 19 15 19 15 19 15 19 15 19 15 19 15 19 15 19 15 19 15 19 15 19 15 19 15 19 15 10		HUL	SEA1	I MIK	E NG	GEAR Fail.	DUR FAIL.	FLUUR FAIL	F UE L	ENER EVAC	ALER	0000	TUTAL	•••FAT F.IKE	AL J T J E _THAU	S A M S		SER	n in N i N	
$ \begin{array}{ c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c$	CLIDENTS	1.6	2	44	67	29	35	10	10	15	0	8209	1294	370	548	1.7	315	837	6378	
Allo [14]	1114 L APPRCH	- 7 0	·		-19			-19	2			2080	1023	121	452	P1	326	386	1/9	
ANT-UT 31 2 3520 90 64 23 0 3 185 5245 CLUBUIS 30 21 23 21 20 3 13 2 352 0 3 185 5245 ANLLULES 42 33 27 23 21 50 8 3 8 12876 1294 310 564 1318 ANLLULES 42 53 26 32 18 24 5 4 3095 800 370 20 20 20 20 20 ULL 41 53 20 15 25 5 10 5 5444 494 0 370 204 20 204 20 UL 10 53 25 13 15 5 1 31 370 0 370 204 204 204 UL 10 14 53 5 13 5 5 1305 800 370 204 204 204 204 204 204 204 204 204 204 204 204 204 204 204 204 204 204	Aub 104.	5	19	10	:5	22	16	20	~	-	~	2441	181	6/	13	55	a	256	2004	
Li wilu 12 33 27 25 28 21 30 8 5876 1294 370 548 41 355 564 1918 0x1-tuixiu 41 41 41 21 30 5 5 4 3005 800 370 226 0 204 325 724 0x1-tuixiu 53 20 15 25 5 10 5 5444 496 0 322 41 151 512 458 1x1 A14 53 20 15 25 5 10 5 5444 496 0 320 204 323 41 512 458 0x1u 53 20 15 15 15 5 5444 496 0 324 41 512 458 0x1u 14 14 15 15 5 <td< td=""><td>ALI -UFF LLEVENTS</td><td>34.</td><td>6</td><td>61</td><td></td><td>44</td><td>8</td><td>10</td><td>5</td><td>5</td><td>~</td><td>3520</td><td>90</td><td>94</td><td>55</td><td>0</td><td>~</td><td>185</td><td>5245</td><td></td></td<>	ALI -UFF LLEVENTS	34.	6	61		44	8	10	5	5	~	3520	90	94	55	0	~	185	5245	
UL LOS (1 23 20 37 18 24 5 5 4 30 37 226 0 204 125 1240 L. UI L. 53 29 14 23 30 15 25 5 4 30 37 225 4 151 512 458 L. UI L. 16 20 15 19 13 15 5 2 3 10 5 544 494 0 322 4 151 512 458 L. UI LOS 5 6 600 37 0 226 0 204 270 686 UL LOS 5 2 5 4 3 2 5 6 600 570 226 0 204 270 686 UL LOS 5 2 5 4 3 2 618 800 570 226 0 204 270 686 UL LOS 5 2 5 4 3 2 618 800 570 226 0 204 270 686 UL LOS 5 2 5 4 3 2 618 800 570 226 0 204 270 686 UL LOS 5 2 5 4 3 2 618 800 570 226 0 204 270 686 UL LOS 5 2 5 4 3 2 618 800 570 226 0 204 270 686 UL LOS 5 2 5 4 3 2618 800 570 226 0 204 270 686 UL LOS 5 2 6 1 7 21 3 2 4 2118 19 20 1 201 20 10 10 10 18 159 0 1 201 10 10 18 159 UL LOS 5 2 6 1 7 2 1 1 21 3 2 4 2118 4 59 0 371 41 97 459 10 10 18 120	СС. 40 ГИ	~ ~		11	.≈	28	12	30	80	~		12876	1294	370	548	41	335	204	1.18	
LL WITH U FINE 14 23 20 15 25 5 10 5 5444 494 0 522 41 151 512 4538 11 56 600 370 226 0 204 270 686 11 105 10 114 15 10 15 19 15 15 2 5 4 3 1956 600 370 226 0 204 270 686 11 105 50 50 570 266 600 570 226 0 204 307 1511 11 1055 24 3 24 12 16 15 11 21 3 2 4 2118 459 0 521 41 97 459 1220 11 1055 11 1055 11 21 3 2 4 2118 459 0 521 41 97 459 1220	051-СКАЗН 181 А.СС			50-	55		18	**	5	`	-	3005	8 00	. 0 7 C	226	0	204	325	1240	
11 11 11 10 370 0 20 20 0 20 0 20 0 20 0 20 0 20 0 20 0 20 0 20 20 0 20 0 20 0 20 0 20 0 20 20 0 20 10 10 10 10 10 20 10 10 20 10 10 20 20 10	ы. и Ги. • т ткі	53	**	14	\$ 2	30	15	52	S	10	~	2444	767	0	522	11	151	212	44.38	
ULL LUSS 50 24 29 17 22 5 4 3 2618 800 570 226 0 204 307 1517 ILL LUSS 50 27 17 10 15 11 21 3 2 4 2118 459 0 321 41 97 459 1220 PULL LUSS 51 24 12 16 15 11 21 3 2 4 2118 459 0 321 41 97 459 1220	сі 1 н[нЕ 1 н]	14	10	07	51	1 0	51	- 51	^	~	~	1367	8 00	370	226	0	204	270	4 8 6	
mit 1055	111 1185	26	~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~	28	72	62	11	22	\$	4	m	2618	8 00	570	226	0	204	307	1317	
	11 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1	- 77		21	16		=	~	^	~	•	2118	4 59	Þ	152		26	4.39	1220	
	ו אחרר בזצא און הארג	\$	с,	2	~	5	-	~	0	-	-	422	0	_0	0	_0	٩	18	627	
	; , ; ;			•	• •	•		1 1 1 . !						:	· · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · ·	:				
						1														
				•		1	1	1	ł	1 1 1 1					•	, ,				
			•			t	•	•	:					;	•	**				

xvi

Domestic Survivable 1959-1979	UMULU & PAULESSLÜ ATTECHNICAL CENTER, ATLANTIC CITY ATRPORT, N.J. 08405 0N 09/23/42 C CATAFA ACT-35U UNIT 6 PAUE 2 190477 TPF LOLA 5 PH OCC 1 FAT FF TF DF UF 14J INJ FS E A N E OL L V A LS VS LF REM 1.11299 UZUZ USULAASH Y FA B S & U & O U U & FK N Y Y N N N N U U U 4.0 ATTEMPTED CAASH LUU IN R 1.11299 UZUZ USULAASH Y FA B S & U & O U U & FK N Y Y N N N N U U U 4.0 ATTEMPTED CAASH LUU IN R	111-01 05-3 JFK V FU 105 5 4 4 0 0 0 0 102 FK N Y Y N N N N U U U. АНОНТЕU VI-UVEHRAU-HITF ENGE-CHUSSEBULVD-KILLEDF U/1101 05-3 vEnvem T LD 122 3 17 17 0 U U U 105 FK Y Y Y Y N N N 0 U D. HTDBAULICS FALLED -A/C V	-)-2-6-1 d72U 405104 T LD 71 1 0 0 0 0 0 2 69 FD R M Y M N Y N N Y 0 0 0. LONG HARD LDG - GEAH CULL FASE - FHICTION FINE STAN Juitue J/U/ JFK T LO 145 4 U 0 0 0 16 129 X Y N Y N N N N N 0 0 U. NO HEMAHKS	151405 CAMA TIMSILANIL T 10 54 0 0 0 0 0 0 1 53 D N N N N N N N U U 49.4 40 NEMARKS	1/1145 1/1/ KANSAS CITY T LO 66 4 0 0 0 0 2 64 FX T N Y Y Y N N N 0 0 00.0 GRD LUOP ON UVE HULH -HIT BLDG., LEVEE 132765 CL44 MIANI,FLA. 7 TO 10 3 6 U 6 0 0 4 0 X Y Y Y Y Y Y 7 39 0 99.9 NO HEMARKS	JJJ1665 CA3U KANSAS CITY Y TO 4.3 U U O U O U Q J 4.FX NYYYNNNN N U U STALL-MARU IMPACT - LNU U OUT THAINING 110365 JZZZ CIN/M.CUMACT Y FA 62.5.56 O 4. O 54. 4. O FXYY NNN NNN N 145.55 4.0 IMPACTED 2000ED HILL - A/	111105 4727 SALT LAKE CI T LO 91 4 43 43 0 U U 35 13 FX Y N N Y Y Y N N 12U 15 U. HIGH AATE OF DESCENT - GE	14.2740 L1141 AHOMUHE, UKLA T FA YB 6 83 U 83 U 0 15 Q XT N T N N N N 150 55 V9.U KU HEMARKS	
		00 1911/0 S/N			<u>10 2010/0 2/0</u>	11 20 20 20 20 20 20 20 20 20 20 20 20 20	u/s 1111 c/u	1 0777 11 5/10	

. ._1

xvii

urs_lluur_urs2r_Iantvarra	
U/5 - 11106 L - 47-17 C INCLINNATL - Y T0 - 36 - 5 - 7 - 0 - 1 - 0 - 2 - 35 - 6 × N - Y - Y - N - N - 1 - 1 - 0 - 1 - 0 - N - N - 1 - 1 - 0 - 1 - 0 - N - N - 1 - 1 - 0 - 0	0_99.0_NO_REMARKS
u/1. 112467 (5484) (110(14114)1 Y FA 82 5 70 0 0 0 70 12 0 FX Y Y N N N N N 191 60 99.0 H0 u/5 11226/ 4707 H0401444 u/5 11226/ 4707 H0401444 u/5 11226/ 4707 H040144 u/5 11226/ 4707 H040144 u/5 11226/ 4707 H040144 u/5 11226/ 4707 H040144 u/5 11226/ 4707 H04014 u/5 11226/ 47014	0 1.0 А ВОЯТЕД V1 - 0VE ници - 56 Р Н6 - А/С БАНАСЕД 14 5LID К. QUT 1 № 6 нис А
u/5 J122u/ a7J2 HUMOLULU Y T0 52 0 0 0 0 0 99.9 HO u/5 J122u / a7J2 HUMOLULU Y T0 5 0	0.99-0 IMPACIED 4000E4-1111 -4/
U/S J32166 U/2/ CHICAGO Y TO 3 5 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 1 2 FX W Y Y N. N. N. N. N. N. 0 0 0 4 40 41 41 41 41 41 41 41 41 41 41 41 41 41	0 99 19 10 REMAKS
U/2 J12362 J61 ATLANTIC CIT LP 4 3 D 0 0 0 0 2 2 FX M Y Y N N N N N N 0 0 0 4 AR AR U/2 UJU368 U727 JFK Y LP 102 2 U 0 0 0 0 4 98 0 Y N N Y N N N N 0 0 0 4 41 U/2 UJU368 U727 SALT LAKE CLY L0 92 2 0 0 0 0 0 4 88 0 Y N Y Y N Y N N 126 0 99,9 NG	0 0 4 ABURIED AT VR - UVERNUN - HIT DITCH - UNKE LT WING FUSHL - AE EUS
U/2 U0U368 U727 J15 T LP 102 2 U U 0 0 0 4 98 0 7 N N Y N N N N N N 0 0 U HI U/2 U0U368 U727 SALT LAKE GL Y L0 92 2 U 0 0 0 0 0 4 88 0 Y N N Y N Y N Y N Y N U 126 0 99 9 NG	0 0. Twy ENG OUT THALLING -GE AR HIT DIICH -LUST GEAN -ENG FLAE
U/S JOUJ45 U??.SALT.LAKE (I_Y_L0_9? 2 0 0 0 0 0 0 4 88 0 Y 4 N Y Y N Y N N 126 0 99.9 NG	0 0. HIT ILS TUR-LUST GEAN
04, 9, 96 25 0 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1	0 99.9 NO KEMAKES
	2 94 9 NO REMARKS
-1/2 -12 2 4 4 4 5 2 4 1 - 2 2 4 5 2 5 2 0 0 2 0 0 0 1 2 1 5 X Y N Y N Y N Y N N 1 3 0 3 2 9 3 9 4 4	2 99.9 NO NEMAKS
112 122018 2712 ANCHORAGE Y TO 5 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0	U 99.9 NO KEMAKKS
1/5 1;2/4 0 0C-1 SIUUX CITY Y TO 66 3 U 0 0 0 0 0 0 3 63 X Y Y N N N Y N N N N X 46 *	U U. AUUNTED AT VI - SLIUE OF F KUT INTU IREES

xviii

HE C	UNDED . PHOCESSED AT FA	<u>i technical cenier, atlantic city algront, N.J. UB405 on U3/23/82 c Cniata act-330 uni</u>	1 6 PAGE
- 1 2 1 2	NADUTY TYPE LOCH	The second secon	
570	122708 CS30 CHICAGO	Y LO 45 5 27 0 27 0 0 16 2 X Y N Y N N Y N N V G 0 99.9 NO HEMAHKS	
: : :	(1) (16.69 C 541) URADFURD	Y FA 28 4 11 U D 0 11 17 O X Y N Y A A Y N N N 134 3Y 99.9 NU HEMAKKS	
	111501 0C-3 102 ANGELE	5 Y FA 45 5 15 0 0 15 0 17 13 X Y Y N Y N Y N Y 0 0 0 . IMPACI SANT - A 7 FO 45 5 15 0 0 15 0 17 13 X Y Y N Y N N Y 0 0 0 0 A 7 F 105 EL .	A HUNICA BAY
S/ii	120109 CL44 AHCHORAGE	Y LD 4 3 0 0 0 0 2 2 FX N N Y N N N N N U 0 99.9 NO REMARKS	
· • • •	UNZ-07 C380 HOSES LAKE	Y TO 5.3 3.2 1 0 0 2 0 FX N Y Y Y N N N N 116 0 0 646 001 - TH U N - FIRE	AINING - 3LIDE 100
u/ 5	141.69 0C-7 5F. THURAS	T LO 114 2 U U U U U U 119 D N N N N N N N U U 0 00.0 NU REMARKS	
5	1.01 <u>004 .05-0 .51056101.5</u>	AL Y TU 5 3 U O U O U S X N Y Y N N N N 130 U O. OVERRUN - 11	-101 12 130 - 102
s/n	יייייייייייייייייייייייייייייייייייייי	ALY LP 6.2 0 0 0 0 0 1 5 0 N Y Y N N N N 0 0 0 0 NO HEMAKKS	
	1) U27U 0C-3 51. CRUIX	T LD 63 4 23 0 0 23 0 11 29 X Y N N Y Y N Y Y N Y O 0 3.0 1HFACT WAT	NUNDHO XS 4- H
1	ULUIIU BC-I HANGURAHE	T 10 217 0 0 0 0 0 0 2 215 0 N N N N N N 0 0 92.9 NO RLMARKS	
s/n	11/11/10 11/51 PHILADCL	IA Y TO 62 2 U U 0 U 1 61 X N Y Y N N N 100 0 0. LUST POVEN IA Y TO 62 2 U U 0 0 U 1 61 X N Y Y N N N 100 0 0. LUST POVEN	-046 RHUN -66
1	110110 nC-3 1FK	Y 10 11 5 11 0 11 0 0 0 0 0 0 1 K Y Y Y Y Y Y Y Y Y Y Y Y Y Y Y Y Y Y	
	••••		
	•		

xix

xx

VI VI VI	ÖNDED & PÄJČESSEB AT FRATECHNICAL ČENTERATIC CITTATRAGATJAJ. OB405 ON D9/23/82 CEATAAATAAATAAAC 1
n/ s	U2U172 U747 JFK Y 1 347 5 0 0 0 0 0 8 339 5 N N Y N N N N N U 0 99,9 NO HEMARKS
U/ 5	1191572 B717 SAH FRA:ICISC T TO 3 4 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 3 X N N T N N N N 140 U 99.9 NO REMANKS
57N	12U672 W737 CHICAUO MID Y FA 61 5 43 25 18 0 0 12 6 FX Y Y Y Y N N N 120 25 14.0 STALLED - IMPACTED U AND TAEES - A/C JHUX - FIRE
570	121572 4747 MIAMI Y LO 16U 2 0 U 0 0 0 U 160 0 N N N Y Y N N N 140 U 5.5 OVENHUN - HIT CURCE
M S	1224/2 0C-4 CHICAGO 01H Y TO 45 3 10 10 0 0 0 0 9 26 FX Y N Y N Y N N 140 15 0. HIT CV880 -IMPACIED - Skifded 570 H FI RUFI FUEL LINES
570	122772 LTUI MIAMI T FA_126 6 99 0 99 0 0 77 0 X Y Y N Y N Y N W W 200 27 02 IMPACTED IN EVCHOLA A/C DISIXFMOST 3
511	134571_4707 VENVER 7 TO 3 2 0 U 0 0 U U 3 FON A 7 7 Y N N N 0 U 0 - ENG FERT FLT -LT
	JÓ 2075 UC-5 UARGUM TIU 261 0 0 0 0 0 0 5 258 D N N Y N N Y N 0 0 0 0 4 MARKS
5/3	UO2113 OC-4 JFK T FA 128 3 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 120 FX Y N Y N N N N 148 58 0. LUTHENT SPUILE
577	UZ2173 F227 ST LUUIS Y FA 44 6 38 0 38 0 U 6 U X Y N Y Y N N W U U U. 20 HEMANCS
\$ 10	
	112471 11257 LAFEUSUUNO Y LP 46 2 0 U 0 0 U 0 10 46 FO. N N N N N N N N 159 U U. UVERHUN TO SMALL HI
;	

xxi

			-		
	4010	CHAICAL CENTER, ATL	ите стех лимонт, и. J. de	405 011 U3/23/82 C CALAFA 1	ACT-550 UNIT 6 PAGE
1 - S W.	11272 <u>12-2</u> -2 1041740006	EA 72. 5 0 0	<u></u>	<u> </u>	MIT FAP LIGHTS -LT WING, ENG & GEAN SEPANATED -F USEL, JUDKE
5/0	112/75 BC-7 AKHUM	LD 26 5 0. 0		0 67 09 N N N X X X	OVERHUN - FELL INTO 17M.
5/n -	X	LU-167.5 0 0	1 X X J 291 Y 0 0 0	Y Y Y N H N 153 18 0.	A/C HIT FAP LIGHTS - CHG
- <i> </i>	121723_BC=3_PHTE958446	10 91 3 0 0	0 0 0 1 91 FD N Y 1	- 0 0 0 0 · · ·	LUSI POWER-VEENED -LMG FULVED -LT WIRD FARK RU PI
5/6	T V321 TANPA	0 0 0	N N 0 211 1 0 0 0	Y N N Y N O O	NO HEMARKS
s/n -	T 735144 507 2017 519110	. LP 65 2 0 0	0 0 0 5 62 FX N N I	Y Y N Y N 150 20 4 9	HARD HOSE OUNI INPACT
·	ul ju č4. u čuč. Pasa. PAsu	F.A. 101. 3 96 95	1 0 0 5 0 FX Y Y	Y Y Y N N N 142 25 U.	A/C HIT FREES, LAVA WALL. - b UITCH -TANKS HUP1 FIKE
5/8	120///4 มูราช เบร ภทจุธเ	[0] 0] 0] 0] 0] - 0	0 0 0 1 1 60 0 N N	<u> </u>	ND REMAKES
· · · ·	1)22774_05-5_ARCHURAGE	10 <u>235 0 0</u>	0 0 0 1 232 p N H	T N N N Y N 0 0 0.	NU REMARAS
- 3/2	1/1/1/4 DC-7 CHARLOILE	1. F.A. 52 6 71 35	6 U U 1U 1 FX Y Y	T T N N N 129 17 50.0	A/C LANDED IN FIELU, NIT THEES - 5 EP. GEAN AND 41 NGS -417 GULLET
570	11טפיל אַלאל בטא אמפר א	1 LU 63 2 U D	U 0 U 5 60 X N N 1	Y N Y N N 147 17 U.	NO HETARKS
	024975 UAC LAKE 1440 Y	. 10 44 4 10 0	0 0 0 0 44 × 11 11		HIT SNOW UARK - JEERLD - R I MIRG, AMG, RG SEP
н 4 . Г					

xxij

14 RECORDED			
NIA RECORDED			
	6 PRUCESSED AT FAI	V TECHNICAL CENTER, ALLANTIC CITY ALAPOHIZ N.J. 08405 ON 0372	5/82 C CATAFA ACT-350 UNIT 6 MAUE 8
VI 15/5 ATUBT	N307 3411 1	I S PH OCCIERTEDEDEUEINIUNES EAUEOLUV	LES VS LF REM
11550-510	5. u7.57 (AsPER	<u>т LD 99 2 U U 0 0 U J 98 х н и т т и и и</u>	1 152 0 0. QVERNUN - HIT ILS-DITLH
1 11 2 11 12 24 7		Y FA 124 6 112 25 87 0 0 12 0 6X Y Y Y N N 1	U 123 22 99.9 UIND SHEAR -HIT FAP LIGH
1/010 5/0	1727 DENVER	Y TO 154 4 0 0 0 0 0 15 119 X Y N N N Y Y N N	4 120 18 0. 41ND SHEAR - SIALL
152 W - 574		<u>x 10 231 0 0 0 0 0 0 3 228 0 N N Y N N N N N N N N N N N N N N N N</u>	4 0 0 0 • ИО КЕМАИК S
701 00 570 .	5-57 ALASKA	YLD 30 6 10 0 10 0 20 0 X W N N N N N	4 109 0 U . NO REMAKES
72111 570	, <u>8727 HALETUN</u>	Y FA 139 2 0 0 0 0 0 1 138 0 Y H N N N N N	4 147 29 0. UINO SHEAR -HANU INFACT
12111_21	1 D(1-1)	Y TO 139 3 0 0 0 0 0 2 137 FX Y Y Y N Y Y	108 0 0. ENGINE DISINT - FIHE #5 E NG - WENT OFF TAXIWAT - RI WING LOST FUEL
10121 510	2. 11747. AN CHORAGE	<u>× 1 × 1 × 1 × 1 × 1 × 1 × 1 × 1 × 1 × 1</u>	U U U. SLIDE BACKAARDS OFF HUHH
1.80.50 S.10	0.05-20 VAN 4UTS	Y TO 6 5 5 0 3 0 0 3 0 X Y N 2 N N N N	V D D V. V. REMARKS
/ 01 210 - 2 /10 -	6 J/2/ DENVEN	T [0 120 0 0 0 0 0 1 119 0 N N Y N N Y Y	4 0 0 0 0 KEMAHKS
/ {n }0 ⁻ 3/n	0 4747 KETCHIKAN	Y LD 57.5 . U 1 U 0 32 24 FX Y Y Y Y N N 1	и 100 9 1.0 0VFHHUN - FLEN UVEH GULLE - LANDED 12 NEH RA JINE IN
112.20 2.10	241011 12 7770 9	Y LO 88 5 37 19 18 U U U 19 32 FX Y Y N Y Y N I	ч 127 О 1.1 О∨ЕННОМ - ЩЕМТ ООЦИ 5 ЕОРЕ , скоббер номо
:	1 1		
;;			

t

r xxiii

141 - 2721 2 alt 2 /u 		1 - <u>5</u> H 51F 6 D F E W
- 	176- 45-3 PHILA.	S PH UCC. I. F.A.J. F.F. I.F. <u>D.F. UT 111, 114, F.S.E.A. H.E. 0. L.E. V.A. L.S. V.S. L.F. N.E.M.</u> T. F.A. 1US. Z. Q. U. Q. Q. U. S. 20. X.Y. N.Y. N.Y.Y.H. N. 1151, 25. U. WHEELS UP
	100 0C-4 0ENVER	Y. TO. 85. 3. U. V. N.
151_ 274	INVIN TRA'S OZO	Y FQ 3 2 Q 0 0 0 0 0 3 0 X Y N N Y Y N N 160 0 U. FUD CG -0 V
י וות י ג <i>ו</i> ח		TL0.101 0 0 0 0 0 2 94 0 N Y N N N Y N 0 0 0 0 0 0 1 40 KEMARKS
U/SU/U	- 10 Banki Mah 6-30 //	Т FA. 95 6 62 20 42 0 0 22 1 FX Y Y V V V И И И U U 42.U LANGED UN , POLES, C USEL, UHOK
160 8/6		ТО 607.0. 0. 0. 0. 0. 0. 0. 2265 В N. H. T. H. M. W. W. N. 0. 0. U. NU HEMANKS
201- 270-		TFA 20.5 6.0 6 0 0 19 1 X Y N N N N N N N U U U U. NO REMARKS
111 5/1		х Lo 3,2 0 0 0 0 0 0 3 0 N N Y N Y N Y N N O 0 0 0 VEEHED
0\$Ē \$/N	178 0C19_L0S_ANGEL	T 10 197_3 2 2 U 0 U 51 164 FX N Y N N N N N N 159 U 0. UVERHUN -L
<u>n (n - 5 / n</u>	122 PENSACOLA	Y FA 58.3 3 0 U 3 U 11 44 X Y Y Y Y Y Y 13U 27 0 1 144 ACTED W
250 270	578 CV38 NIAMI	ТО 61.00 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0
010 . 310	ווק העל אחנאנאוא	Y LO 72 2 1 U 1 U 0 1 75 D N N N Y Y N N N N 103 U U, UVEHRUN -H

. . .

xxiv

5 110byt frpe Luch 5 pm ucc 1 1.29/8 uc-3 Oregun 7 fa 186 5 11.1979 uc -3 miami 7 Lu 110 0 1121781 u232 Samia ana 7 Lu 110 0	FAT FT DF UF INJ FS FA FS FA FS E A IE C IE IE C IE <	E O L L V A LS VS LF REM E O L L V A LS VS LF REM HANKS- UL 065.7 THELS -FW D FUSEL CRUSHED D FUSEL CRUSHED FUSEL
11/11970 DC-J MIANI Y 10 5 5	0 0 0 0 0 0 1 4 x n y n n 0 0 0 0 0 0 1 4 x n y n n 0 0 0 0 0 4 100 f x r n n n	N N N N N N U U U U. ENGINE OUT THAILING -VIN N N N N N O U U. ENGINE OUT THAILING -VIN R N N N N O U U. NO REMARKS Reproduced from best available copy.
121741 0737 SAWIA ANA 7 LO 110 0	U 0 0 0 4 100 FX Y N N N	N N N N N 0 0 0. 40 REMARKS Reproduced from Copy.
		Reproduced from best available copy.
		Reproduced from to best available copy.
		Reproduced from to best available copy.
		Reproduced from the standard f

xxv

INTRODUCTION

1

Aviation Crash Dynamics Research has a history dating back to the early 1940's. During that period for the first time the idea of designing an aircraft for occupant survivability was given genuine consideration. Crashworthiness research was initiated by onsite investigation of aircraft accidents to identify those structural components and subsystems which contributed to occupant injuries and/or fatalities. Crashworthiness is the characteristic of a system which provídes survivability of occupants. The concepts of for crashworthiness were further advanced through the research efforts of the National Advisory Committee for Aeronautics (NACA) (1,2), the Federal Aviation Administration (FAA) (3,4), and continued later by the National Aeronautics and Space Administration (NASA) (5-16). These efforts focused on both light- and transport airplane data in the areas of; (a). Post-Crash-Fire, (b). Fuel Containment, (c). Aircraft Component Behavior, (d). Crash Environment Data, and (e). and Sub-System ditching.

Within the past 15 years, (1965-1980) renewed efforts have been directed to improving the crashworthiness capability of aircraft. In the 1960's, the U.S. Army in an effort to reduce crash injuries and fatalities, investigated a number of helicopter aircraft accidents (17) identifying crash injuries and the injury causing mechanisms and embarking upon a substantial crashworthiness research program. These efforts culminated in the publication in 1967 of the Army's Crash Survival Design Guide (18). This guide is used as a tool by aircraft designers and manufacturers to incorporate crashworthiness design features into U.S. Army aircraft. The Army's efforts in crashworthiness have been extremely successful and rewarding. This success is directly attributable to a thorough evaluation of available accident data involving U.S. Army helicopter and fixed-wing aircraft.

For many years, the emphasis in aircraft accident investigation has been placed on determining the cause of the accident, with very little effort in identifying structural problems associated with crash survival. It is becoming apparent, through recognition of the U.S. Army success in helicopter crashworthiness, that safety in civil aviation can be further enhanced if crash survival improvements are incorporated during the initial phases of aircraft design. In January 1980, a NASA study contract was initiated with the three major transport aircraft manufacturers, Boeing Commercial Airplane Company, Lockheed-California Company, and Mc Donnell Douglas Corporation (refs.19,20,21) to review and evaluate accident data and to:

(a). define a range of crash situations that might form the basis for developing improved crashworthiness design technology,

(b). identify structural components and aircraft systems that influence the crash dynamic behavior of an aircraft,

(c). define areas of research and identify approaches for improving crash survivability of transport aircraft,

(d). identify test techniques, test data, analytical methods, etc., needed to evaluate the crash dynamic response of transport aircraft.

Transport airplane travel is a relatively safe mode of transportation, accounting for less than 1 percent of the total transportation fatalities per year, and jet transport airplane performance in particular exhibits lower accident statistics than nonjets. Nevertheless, the introduction of the wide-body jumbo jet with its 300 to 400 passenger complement presents the potential for substantial loss of life or injuries in a single accident. Further the use of new advanced materials dictates that efforts continue in safety research to enhance occupant survivability in the event of a crash. With the continued technical advances in analytical predictive methods and experimental methods, many tools are becoming available for use by the airplane designer in addressing the crash response characteristics of future aircraft.

The purpose of this report is to delineate, from accident data, those structurally-related systems of transport aircraft that significantly participate in or influence the dynamic crash behavior of an aircraft and its occupants in a crash situation. While primarily concerned with occupant safety, the secondary benefits of crashworthy design concepts should not be overlooked. The necessity of considering crash safety in airplane design does not and should not, of itself, dictate increased costs. In the long run, designing for crash safety may prove to be cost effective in reducing operation and capital costs.

OBJECTIVE

The objective of the present study is to determine, with as much documented accident data as possible, the basic definition of representative crash scenarios experienced by transport airplanes in survivable or partially survivable accidents. Value limits of initial conditions observed for different classes of crash scenarios are discussed, and an approximate range of initial crash conditions is presented. To this end all available public transport accident data, as well as private transport manufacturers airplane data relevant to transport crash behavior, was reviewed and evaluated. In addition,

aircraft structural components and subsystems were further identified and rated as to their participation in, or influence on, the crash dynamic behavior of a transport airplane and its occupants during a crash situation.

ESTABLISHMENT OF ACCIDENT STUDY BASE

Accident Data Summary

Many safety-related design changes and improvements in present day aircraft have as their foundation previous operational experience and accident data. Accident investigation has historically placed emphasis on determining the cause of the accident with little consideration being given to structural features that may influence or relate to injuries and/or fatalities. With this realization, a study was undertaken with the three leading transport manufacturers (refs. 19, 20, 21) to examine transport accident data to assess to the extent possible the behavior and participation of various structural subsystems during a crash. The material contained in the present paper is based almost entirely on the results of these studies, specifically centered on the following two tasks:

(a) To review and evaluate transport aircraft accident data, define a range of survivable crash conditions or crash scenarios that might form a basis for developing improved crashworthiness design technology

(b) To identify structural features and subsystems that influence injuries/fatalities in the crash scenario defined in (a).

The data base for this study began with a review of 933 worldwide jet transport accidents which occurred between the years 1959-1979 inclusive. Sources of this data were the files of the FAA/CAB, National Transportation Safety Board (NTSB), International Civil Aviation Pilots Organization, British Air Registration Board. Airline Association, and transport aircraft manufacturer's in addition reports in periodicals and newspaper and official accident reports released by foreign governments. Early reports (Circa 1960) contained, for the most part, sparse details on structural factors and the cause of occupant injury/fatalities. reports more Later accident are detailed particularly in the cases of those accidents investigated by the NTSB. These reports address not only the structural response but also human , define sequence of events, cause of injury/fatality, factors performance of cabin interior equipment, and factors affecting emergency egress.

The data base was evaluated with the intent of considering survivable structural accidents only. The following criteria were established for statistics to be considered in this data base:

(a) Airframe survivable volume was maintained during impact and prior to severe fire.

(b) At least one occupant did not die from trauma.

(c) Potential for egress was present.

(d) Accident demonstrated structural or system performance.

Criterion (b) is significantly more severe than the FAR criterion or NTSB definitions of a survivable accident. Criterion (b) does not mean that if one survives all should survive; rather, it means that one occupant was able to withstand the accident environment in his immediate vicinity. This permits accidents to be considered for research definition and direction that are beyond the scope of current design criteria.

Accidents in which the structural airframe played no significant role, such as flight turbulence accidents or maintenance personnel on the ground, were disregarded in this study. accidents Also disregarded were severe, nonsurvivable midair collision accidents. The exclusion of these accidents might alter statistics derived from the data base, consequently care is required in comparing the results of this study to studies using other data bases. Comparisons with other studies however, indicate that all "known" severe but potentially survivable accidents involving commercial jet transports have been included in the present study. All information contained in the present paper has been gleaned from references 19, 20, and 21, and these references should be consulted for further details concerning the accident data.

Aircraft Type

Airplane operating weight classes designated to assist in the evaluation of the accident data were: "Light", "Medium", "Heavy", and "Widebody". These weights are depicted in figure 1 (ref. 21) as classes B, C, D, and E. Weight class A represents all airplanes less than 12500 lbs (maximum takeoff) (the FAA designation of general aviation airplanes); weight class B "Light", 12500 - 100000 lbs; weight class C "Medium", 100000 - 250000 lbs; weight class D "Heavy", 250000 - 400000 lbs; and weight class E "Widebody", 400000 - 800000 lbs.

Table 1 (ref. 21) shows the breakdown, by airplane weight class and severity of injury (fatal, serious, minor) for the period 1964 to 1977 based on NTSB accident reporting in which non-structural accident types have been eliminated. The percentages shown in table 1 indicate that fatalities and serious injury accidents represent 18.5% and 12.3%, respectively, of the total. During this 14 year period only 5.0% of the accidents involved widebody aircraft. This low percentage is partially explained by the fact that the influence of these aircraft was not felt until the early 1970's.

In figure 1(b) the distribution of each type of aircraft in a weight class (ref. 22) currently being used in the worldwide commercial fleets are shown as well as the cumulative service years (i.e., number of aircraft multiplied by years in service, ref. 23). The medium weight class (C) accounts for 67 percent of the aircraft and 63 percent of the cumulative service years. The widebody aircraft (E) currently include 20 percent of the aircraft and less than 10 percent of the cumulative service years.

Table 2 (ref. 21) presents data which show the distribution of aircraft damage, postcrash fire, and primary accident types as a function of the severity of injury. For the structural-related accidents, the 63 fatal accidents are associated with 63 airplanes destroyed and 61 postcrash fires. There are a large number of accidents

(220, Table 2) in which aircraft experienced substantial damage and in which minor, or no, injuries occurred. This type of damage is usually local, such as in the landing gear region. From the bottom of the right hand column of table 3 (ref. 21) it can be observed from the structural-related accidents that of the 105(X,Y) accidents involving fatalities and/or serious injuries (63 + 42), 59% occur during landing, 19% occur during takeoff and 14% are associated with inflight accidents. Controlled and uncontrolled collisions with ground-water (table 3, I. A,B) account for 67% of the inflight fatal accidents. Table 4 (ref. 21) show the distribution of accident types as a function of airplane weight class (fig. 1). Considering the number of different airplanes in each weight class there is relatively little accident data available for each particular airplane model.

Aircraft Size

Accident cases were categorized with respect to size as measured by operating weight in figure 1(A) (ref. 21). Weight classes B and C form a short haul light weight group up to 160000 lbs. A second, heavier, short haul group is formed from weight class C ranging from 160000 lbs to 250000 lbs. Weight class D forms a narrow body long haul group, while the heavier wide body aircraft over 400000 lbs long haul group, weight class E.

Referring to figure 2a each size group is represented in the data base. Smaller short haul aircraft constitute approximately 40% of the cases, larger short haul group approximately 20% of the cases, narrow body long haul group approximately 35% and wide body long haul aircraft approximately 5%. Of particular interest is the effect of size on aircraft crash performance and survivability. Considering the effects of scale as in dynamic modeling, it might be expected that larger would fare better than smaller aircraft if the crash aircraft environment is not scaled up. Further, the individual occupant does not scale up, but becomes relatively smaller in the larger aircraft with a corresponding improvement in survival prospects. For instance fuselage structural elements such as frames and stringers are stronger in an absolute sense and offer greater energy absorbing capability for larger commercial jet aircraft than for smaller propeller driven aircraft. This feature provides an inherent crashworthiness to the jet as compared to the propeller aircraft. A qualitative assessment of the accident data seems to indicate that relative size within the jet group has only minor effects on the crash performance of commercial jet transports. In general, it takes a larger tree, a larger house, and a deeper or wider ditch to do equivalent damage to a large aircraft. Since no two accidents are identical, an accurate comparison of damage between a large and small jet airframe cannot be made.

There is some indication that there may be an effect of size between some smaller propeller driven transport aircraft and the current jet fleet. Although not included in the study data base of ref. 21 three accidents were reviewed that involved high wing, propeller-driven aircraft of one generic type. In these accidents the seat response was different from that observed in survivable jet aircraft accidents in

that many seats separated. Further there were instances of seat "stacking" in the torward tuselage and seat ejection on a large scale. These propeller driven aircraft, because of their smaller dimensional and structural arrangement, may present a smaller mass ratio of airframe to seats than do the larger jet aircraft. This situation may account for the different seat crash response seen by the two types of aircraft.

Aircraft Configuration

Accident cases were categorized with respect to configuration in figure 2b (ref. 21). Emphasis was placed on differences between aircraft types and service uses. The aircraft fuselage internal configuration was classified according to type of service, i.e., passenger or non-passenger. Also in the internal fuselage configuration is the presence of body fuel cells and body fuel lines. The external configuration differences are related to tuselage width, engine placement, landing gear, and fuel cells.

By referring to figure 2b, approximately 20% of transport airplane accidents involve non-passenger service. Non-passenger service was further divided into cargo, training, and positioning flights. As regards cargo service, a review of the accident data shows some cases where cargo shift during the accident increased the hazard to the flight crew. (A notable instance is an accident where cattle pens broke loose during an overrun and blocked the cockpit door). Training accidents most frequently involve engine-out takeoff attempts. These accidents involve extreme yaw and roll angles with ground strikes of wings, engines or aft fuselage. Some accidents involve touch-and-go landing practice.

The principle variation in structural configuration is in placement of engines. Approximately 60% of the accidents involve aircraft with wing mounted engines and 37% involve aft mounted engines while 3% involve wing and aft body mounted engines. The aft mounted engines only separated from the aircraft due to high acceleration loading, while the wing/pylon mounted engines separated both trom high accelerations and from contact with external objects. The Comet IV has engines mounted internally in the wings which help to contain the engines in a crash.

In figure 2c it may be seen that engine separation occurred in 55%, landing gear collapse or separation occurred in 75%, wing box breaks occurred in 45%, fuselage breaks occurred in 48%, and water ditching impact breakup occurred in 3% of the accidents. The separation of an engine and the breaking of a wing box imply fuel spills. In some instances a fuselage break in an aircraft with att mounted engines also caused a fuel spill. The wide body long haul aircraft have main body landing gear that transfer high impact loads to the fuselage structure. Water ditching impact breakup is considered separately from fuselage breaks because in general the forces involved are different.

In figure 2d engine placement was observed to affect the fire hazard. In particular, aft body location is associated with the breaking of engine fuel lines and body fuel lines. Wing pylon mounted location had, in addition to fuel line breaks, the rupturing of wing fuel tanks due to pylon/engine separation. The engines mounted internally in the wings with wing pod fuel cell tanks exhibit engine fires. The wing pod cell tanks have separated due to high accelerations and have contacted external objects. The associated fire hazard was tank rupture.

Containment of fuel, spread/scatter of fuel, and ignition of fuel constitute major areas of study for improving survivability in jet transport accidents. Ignition sources are usually present in aircraft crashes. Hot sections of engines provide an ignition source and landing gear failure usually produce showers of sparks due to friction of structure rubbing the ground. Electrical arcing may occur when the electrical compartment is penetrated or when electric wiring is severed as in the instance of engine/pylon separation.

Operation Phase

The percentage of accidents by operational phase and by operational time is shown in figure 3 (ref. 19). Considering those operational phases taking place near or on the ground (Load, Taxi, Takeoff, Initial climb, Initial Approach, Final Approach, Landing), 79.3% of the accidents occur in 18% of the operational time. Further, those accidents that occur during climb, cruise, and descent are generally non-survivable and outside the range of this crash dynamics study.

The average distance from the airport that the various accident types occur is shown in table 5. In figure 4 a normalized fatality ratio (ref. 21) is plotted as a function of distance from the airport in miles. The Fatality Katio (FR) is the ratio of number of fatalities/ total number of passengers onboard and a normalized fatality ratio is obtained by dividing by the average fatality ratio, based on the total number of reports and briefs considered. This average fatality ratio was 0.1917 (ref. 21), and an "average" accident would have a normalized fatality ratio equal to one. Normalized ratios above one and below one are more and less severe, respectively, than the 'average'. The fatality ratio is related to the distance from airports at which aircraft accidents occur. Accidents around airports such as "Hard Landings", "Takeoff Aborts", and "Overshoots" are relatively fatality free. Under- shoots which occur at approach velocities but involve terrain with some degree of roughness and contour unpredictability at an average distance of approximately 900 feet shy of the runway, are moderately severe, but less than the average. Stalls, which occur on an average about 1.2 miles from the airport, are severe accidents. The airplane's uncontrolled attitude at impact during a stall contributes to this severity. Collision with Obstacles at or near the airport are relatively mild. Usually they involve wires and approach lights which damage the airplane but do not inhibit the pilot from making a safe Injuries that result from this type of accident often occur landing. during the evacuation from the airplane. Collisions with Obstacles, generally trees and buildings, are more fatal than the average. This type of accident occurs on an average 2.3 miles from the airport and has a fatality ratio equal to 1.86. Uncontrolled Ground/Water Collisions occur on an average 2.7 miles from the airport and have a fatality ratio of 3.26. The Uncontrolled Ground/Water Collision accident type occurs

at an average distance of 8 miles from the airport and has a normalized fatality ratio of 3.59, which is the highest of all the categories.

Table 6 shows a distribution of accident occurrence in the proximity of airports. Based on a total of 441 accidents involving 455 aircraft (eight of the 455 aircraft were other than air carrier aircraft) resulting in 447 accident reports in the NTSB accident summary for 1964-69, approximately 50 percent of the accidents occurred at the However, these 50 percent account for only 17.6 percent and airport. 21.7 percent, respectively, of the accidents classified as fatal or severe injury. The nearly 36 percent of the accidents that occur at distances of five miles or more from the airport account for 50 percent and 67 percent of the fatal and serious injury accidents, respectively. The large number of fatal and serious injuries associated with accidents which occur 5 or more miles from an airport attest to the facts that extremely high impact conditions coupled with obstacles, uneven terrain, and inaccessibility of fire-fighting equipment and personnel, all play a role. In addition, these accidents may be characterized by a lack of pilot control to minimize the severity of the crash. For these reasons it appears that the primary emphasis of accident scenario studies should be accidents in the vicinity of airports and generally associated with the landing or takeoff phase of operation.

Validation of Data Base

The NTSB accident data was used as a basis for formulating accident scenarios primarily because it provided the most details about accidents. The NTSB data represents less than 29 percent of the total accidents in the world during the period 1964-77. During this period of time the NTSB summaries include 783 accidents compared to 2707 worldwide accidents (reference 24). Figure 5 (ref. 21) shows a comparison of the number of occurrences of fatal, serious injury and minor/noninjurious accidents for both the original set of data (783) and the reduced (structural-related) set (341) as a function of primary accident types. The distribution and severity of injury exhibited by both sets of data are similar.

Since the primary emphasis of this study is long-range future aircraft with responsibility to perform in compliance with FAR25 requirements, the validity of using NTSB data has to be established. In an attempt to do this the worldwide accident summaries were reviewed on the same basis as the NTSB data as shown in Table 7. The summaries provided in reference 24 were often sketchy and presented difficulties in establishing accident categories associated with many accidents. Thus, the task of summarizing this data was not straightforward. Working within these constraints and limiting the review to class B, C, D, and E airplanes, a total of 660 worldwide accidents are summarized in Table 7 as was done in Table 4 for the NTSB data. The worldwide data is for the period of 1964-1979 and does not include the accidents in the NTSB data file. Since "System Malfunction" and "Collisions with Obstacles" often result in secondary accident conditions a comparison of the two data sets on the basis of accidents in which the impact conditions are more clearly defined is presented. A comparison of the two sets of data show the associated percentages are as follows:

	FATAL	SERIOUS	MINOR/NONE
NTSB	20%	9.3%	70.7%
WORLDWIDE	20%	7%	73%

The use of NTSB data upon which to formulate crash scenarios is considered adequate since the data 1) is representative of the accident history; 2) more readily available; and, 3) consistent with the trends associated with modern day jet usage.

Table 7 shows a comparison of the worldwide data versus the reduced NTSB summary for severity of injury versus accident type. While percentage distribution varies somewhat for each accident type the trend of the data is consistent. For example, air to ground type accidents such as controlled and uncontrolled collisions, stall, collision with obstacles and undershoot, still show the highest percentage of fatal accidents. Air to ground type accidents such as hard landing, wheels-up or retracted gear show little or no fatality occurrence for both sets of data. The worldwide data shows a higher percentage of fatal accident occurrence for an undershoot accident and lower percentage of fatal accident occurrence for an overshoot occurrence than does the NTSB data. A ground-to-ground accident such as an overshoot, or swerve, fatality occurrence shows percentages of from 3 percent to 9 percent. Fatal accidents as a result of gear collapse which occurs during landing, takeoff and taxi, presumably at low speed, occur less than 5 percent of Undershoot accidents, which show a fatality accident the time. percentage which varies from 16 percent to 38 percent, are a cross between a hard landing and air-to-ground collision. The spread in fatal accident percentage for this type accident may be associated with the proximity to the airport at which this accident occurs.

Summary of the Selected Accident Study Data Base

The purpose of the selected accident study data base was to review the historical accident data to identify and define aircraft behavior and structural break-up and the associated in jury causing mechanisms or factors. In an objective, but somewhat unavoidably subjective manner, a combined total of 176 fairly-well documented survivable accidents were chosen to form a data base from the total (341) examined in references 19, 20, and 21. A listing of these 176 accidents are given in Table 8. This data base was then used to study and assess the pertinent structural behavior of both the total airplane and selected subsystems. In a few isolated cases the one survivor condition for survivability was waived when it was felt that trauma forces were within human tolerance levels, but a fire hazard existed. The distribution of accident data between the three contractors (refs. 19, 20, and 21) is illustrated in figure 6. The three transport manufacturers generally examined different accidents, but some accidents were examined by all three manufacturers as indicated in the figure by the cross-hatched area, some by two of the three as indicated by the hatched areas, and other accidents solely by one manufacturer (primarily the accidents involving
his aircraft). It should be noted that accidents in the data base are "potentially impact-survivable" due to the inherent structural capability of the airframe.

A summary of the selected accident study data base from ref. 19 only is presented in Table 9. A listing of these 153 well-documented accident cases are given in Table 10. The accident data base contains 133 cases involving hull loss and 20 cases involving substantial damage. There are 103 cases in which fire was present. In 95 of these cases the aircraft suffered a hull loss and in the others the aircraft suffered substantial damage. In addition there were 22 accidents in which a fuel spill occurred but for which there was no fire. Some of these involved situations where the aircraft came to rest in water or where the climatic conditions such as low temperature precluded the vaporization of fuel or where terrain drained the fuel away from the aircraft; but for these circumstances those cases might also involve fire casualties or further aircraft damage.

The data base contains 119 (or 78% of the 153)accidents which involve fatalities and/or serious injury. For this study the NTSB definitions have been extended further to identify the cause of the Trauma is taken to mean that the fatality/injury is fatality/injury. caused by mechanical forces such as inertia forces resulting from high accelerations or from impact with the surrounding structure. Fire/smoke is assigned to those fatalities/injuries that result from burns, or inhalation of hot gases, smoke or noxious tumes. In some cases passengers are presumed to have received trauma injuries that prevented or slowed down their egress and as a result they died of smoke or flames. For those accidents where the aircraft stopped in water, fatalities due to drowning are identified. No attempt has been made to identify injuries (chemical burns) due to contact with raw fuel although some instances have occurred. Referring to Table 9, it may be seen that approximately 35% of the accidents involve fatalities due to trauma, 37% involve fire/smoke, and 6% involve drowning. As regards the serious injuries 60% involve trauma, and 30% involve fire/smoke. It should be noted that some accidents may involve combinations of the above causes of injury. The selected cases have attempted to address the serious but survivable accident; however, four special cases are included in this data base. The first special case is a 707 at London in 1968 where the aircraft caught fire on take-off and made a successful landing but 5 deaths due to fire occurred during evacuation. The second special case is a DC-8 at Toronto in 1970 where the aircraft was damaged during an attempted landing and exploded during the subsequent attempted go-around killing the 108 occupants. The third special case is a DC-9 at Boston in 1973 where the aircraft struck a seawall, broke-up and burned; one passenger walked out of the fire but died within 24 hours. The fourth special case is a 737 Madras accident in 1979 in which the detonation of an explosive device in the forward lavatory led to landing conditions that resulted in an overrun.

DEFINITION OF ACCIDENT CATEGORIES AND THEIR RELATION TO FATALITIES

Probable Cause of Accidents

The probable cause of accidents is presented in figure 7 (ref. 19). "Probable cause" is based on the determination of the accident investigation team. For 13 accidents the cause is unknown. For 140 cases where cause has been determined 76.4% of the cases are attributed to the cockpit crew, 11.1% to the airplane, 5% to weather, 2.1% to the airport/air traffic controller, 1.4% to miscellaneous, 0.7% to maintenance, and 0.7% to sabotage.

The aircraft was the cause of the accident in 11% of the cases. Landing gear systems and support structure were involved in 7 accidents. Failures involved brakes, wheels, tires, and structure. Engine disintegration, thrust loss, and thrust reversers were involved in 6 accidents. Flight instrumentation was involved in 2 accidents and ground spoilers and elevator trim tab were each involved in 1 accident. From these data it may be concluded that a large percentage of the accidents can be attributed to human error such as pilot and ground control assistance. Such items as ground proximity warning, wind shear detection, automated landing and navigation systems, and advanced integrated systems for pilot assistance offer the best hope for eliminating most accidents in the "avoidable" category. Improved ground control and reduction of hazards on and around airports is another area for improved safety. The avoidance of collisions between aircraft and with ground vehicles should be attainable. Reduction of hazards such as drainage ditches, poles, trees, columns, outbuildings and birds from airports is a matter of concern. In addition the overrun areas for runways could be improved to reduce the severity of accidents in these areas.

Accident Severity and Survivability

In a combined study of foreign and domestic (U.S. and possessions) accidents involving the combined total of selected survivable accidents in refs. 19, 20, and 21, 98 domestic and 78 foreign accidents were reviewed. A listing of these 176 accidents are given in Table 8. These accidents contain the 91 domestic and 62 foreign accidents shown in Table 9. In figure 8 the domestic and foreign accidents are compared on the basis of percent fatalities to total occupants on board for "Phase of Operation", figure 8(a), and "Fatality Category" figure 8(b). The domestic accidents in the fatality category 8(b) show a ratio of trauma - to-fire fatalities of 1.5 while the foreign accidents show a reverse ratio of fire-to-trauma fatalities of approximately 2. These differences are also apparent in figure 9 in which the "Failure Mode", figure 9(a), and, "Accidents with Fire and Fatalities", figure 9(b), are shown plotted versus percentage of accidents. Figure 9(a) has a higher tank rupture for foreign than domestic accidents, and figure 9(b)indicates a general increase in fire and fire fatalities for the foreign accident data when compared to domestic. These differences may reflect the lack of documentation on trauma-related fatalities in the foreign data or may indicate a real trend of an increased fire hazard in foreign accidents.

Accidents have been assessed on the basis of amount of damage to the aircraft and the effect of this damage on survivability. Structural

damage severity in accidents contained in the data base (ref. 19) were assembled into 6 categories as shown in table 11. In general the degree of structural damage and the energy to be dissipated increases as the category increases. Categories 1 through 3 involve accidents in which the occupant protective shell is generally maintained and the fuel system is not destroyed. At category 4, major fuel spillage is introduced. Three classes of fuselage break are used to distinguish the severity of the accident. A class 1 break has the fuselage broken with fuselage sections essentially remaining together. The opening allows fuel/fire entry but is too small for occupant egress. In class 2 breaks the fuselage separates sufficiently to allow occupant egress and fuel/fire entry, but the sections maintain proximity to one another. Class 3 breaks have fuselage sections which separate and come to rest at some distance from each other. Category 3 accidents are severe accidents involving either severe lower fuselage crush or class 1 or 2 breaks, or both. However, in category 3 there are no major fuel spills. Categories 5 and 6 involve increasingly severe destruction of the aircraft with serious breaks in fuel tankage.

The 153 well-documented accidents in the data base have been grouped by category and are summarized in table 12 and figure 10, from which some general observations may be made. First as regards overall survivability, fire presents the greatest hazard. Known fire fatalities outnumber known trauma fatalities by 2.8:1. (This is in contrast to the results presented in figure 8(b) for domestic accident data only.) The foreign accident data reflects the same fire to trauma fatality ratio (approximately) as given here. Fire hazard is most severe for accidents having major fuel spills due to rupturing of fuel tankage (categories 4, 5, and 6). Trauma fatalities occur mostly in categories 5 and 6 which involve severe fuselage breaks. Little structural or detailed is available on several accidents in which a large information percentage of the occupants perished. Deep water impact accidents represent less than 10% of the study data base. Water impact asually results in severe damage to the lower fuselage, often accompanied by class 2 breaks in the fuselage and separation of wings, engines, and landing gear. In some cases many occpants drowned after evacuating the aircraft. In other cases the high tatality rate was due to inappropriate action of the cabin crews after the aircraft came to rest.

Last, as might have been anticipated, the overall survivability generally decreases as the major structural damage to the aircraft increases. For categories 5 and 6, known tatalities due to fire and to trauma appear in almost equal numbers. These categories also have the largest percentages of undefined tatalities. The dashed line in figure 10 is an extension of the fire fatalities curve it one adds all of the undefined fatalities to the fire fatalities.

Category 1 accidents in Table 12 experienced only minor structural damage. There were 3 hull losses and 53 fatalities due to fire. Two accidents involved fires, caused by separation of an engine, that resulted in a catastrophic explosion of the wing tanks. In both instances fatalities occurred when tanks exploded while the aircraft were being evacuated. Another accident involved a fire due to penetration of the wing tank by debris thrown up from landing gear. In this instance the aircraft was successfully evacuated but was destroyed by fire.

Category 2 accidents involved only 1 fatality. In this case the trauma fatality occurred as the aircraft penetrated the airport terminal (the purser was killed when the hull was ruptured by a building column). This accident is an anomaly. There were 12 hull losses, 2 of which were due to slowly spreading fire. Two accidents involved engine separation and fuel line fires while another accident was a friction fire due to nose gear collapse.

Category 3 involves 225 fatalities of which 55 are due to non-tank rupture fires, 165 to drowning, and 5 to trauma.

Category 4 accidents involve at least 722 fire related fatalities and 5 trauma fatalities. There are 3 accidents involving 179 occupants and 130 fatalities that are undefined. The specal case DC-8 accident was placed in this category because of the major fuel spill resulting from tank rupture following engine/pylon separation. Drownings account for 18 fatalities, at least 15 of which occurred after evacuation. In most accidents involving drowning, few details are available. In one well-documented case the drownings are thought to have occurred after evacuation and trauma fatalities were due to seat separation, floor distortion, and to occupants who did not use their seat belts.

Category 5 involves 934 fatalities of which 45% are of undetermined causes. Of the known causes of fatality, 335 are related to fire and 210 are related to trauma.

Category 6 involves 1547 fatalities of which 59% were of undetermined causes. Of the known causes of fatality 189 are related to fire and 190 are related to trauma. In 4 accidents only the fate of the flight deck crew is defined although there are indications of cause with terms as "many" or "most". The enormity of many accidents and shortage of pathological skills preclude accurate postmortem determination of cause.

DEFINITION OF ACCIDENT SCENARIOS

Recognizing that each crash sequence is unique, the definitions of the crash scenarios are broad in nature, rather than specific, and are intended to cover a range of accident occurrences including rather severe conditions that are marginally survivable. The purpose of defining such scenarios are for accident classification to assist in the identification of crash technology phenomena and to allow for the study of structural failure mechanisms under specified impact conditions. After an analysis of the structural damage and injury causing mechanisms three basic crash scenarios evolved: "Air-to-Surface, Hard Landing"; "Air-to-Surface, flight into obstruction"; and "Surface-to-Surface, overrun".

Air-To-Surface, Hard Landing

This scenario considers those types of accidents in which the aircraft impacts a level surface from the air, and is characterized by a high sink rate with wheels up or down, with the airplane in a symmetric

- (

nose-up or nose-down attitude typical of a hard landing or approach accident.

Crashes on final approach usually occur because the aircraft is not where the pilot thinks it is. The forward speed of the aircraft is between the speed for flap deployment (160-175 kts) and stall (120-126 kts). The rate of descent is between 10 and 40 ft/sec. The angle of the aircraft relative to the ground (pitch) is dependent on the slope of the ground and the attitude of the aircraft. The airplane attitude is assumed symmetrical with $+15^{\circ}$ pitch, with impact on the runway or within 600ft of the runway. The aircraft gross weight is weight at takeoff less weight of fuel burned.

For landing accidents, forward speed may be between the prescribed landing speed and stall speed. Some instances of higher speeds were noted, but these cases resulted in overruns. The pitch of the aircraft varies between 3-4 degrees nose down/up to the nose-up stall angle. Rate of descent is between 10 and 40 ft/sec.

To further explore the effect of rate of descent on fatalities a graph of fatalities as a percentage of total onboard for air-to-surface approach accidents, as a function of sink rate, is plotted in figure 11. In figure 11(a) the data from ref. 19 is presented, in 11(b) the data from ref. 20, and in figure 11(c) the data from ref. 21. Recognizing the fact that following initial impact, subsequent hazards may be encountered such as impact into columns, ditches or other obstructions the data plotted in figure 11 should only be viewed as indicating a trend. Furthermore, the accidents in which a large percentage of the fatalities are fire related are shown as solid symbols. Reviewing the solid and open symbol data for all three data bases indicates a general increase in trauma-related fatalities occurring at aircraft sink speeds of approximately 25 fps and above. This trend shows an inherent structural capability of the airframe to provide a good measure of load attenuation in the vertical direction. In figure 12(a), (b), (c) the percent injury to total onboard is plotted as a function of sink rate for the same air-to-surface approach accidents as in figure 11. Again, the accidents involving a high percentage of fire-related fatalities are shown as solid symbols. The data exhibit no apparent trend indicating that injury-causing mechanisms may be more local in nature than global. The accident data does show injuries occurring at a sink speed of 10 fps and above which coincidentally is approximately the landing gear design sink sp∈ 1.

Air-To-Surface, Flight Into Obstruction

This scenario considers those accidents in which an airplane encounters a hostile environment at impact such as during an undershoot. In this scenario the hazard and terrain conditions have a significant influence on the severity of damage the Frplane sustains. The hazards include ravines, embankments, lights, r les, trees, dikes, buildings and vehicles. These accidents can be generally described as controlled or ucontrolled collisions with an obstacle or hestile terrain (undershoot) occurring near the airport (from 400 to 4000ft off the runway) or in some cases several miles from an airport. If the accident occurs during the landing or approach phase the airplane is in a level attitude, with $0^{\circ} - +15^{\circ}$ pitch, and approximately zero roll and yaw. If the accident occurs during takeofs the pitch can range from $0^{\circ} - +45^{\circ}$, roll from $+5^{\circ} - +45^{\circ}$, and the yaw from $0^{\circ} - +10^{\circ}$. The ranges of forward speed and sink speed are from 120 - 200 kts and from 10 to 40 ft/sec., respectively. The hazards and terrain conditions have a significant affect on the structural damage and airplane post-impact behavior.

Surface-To-Surface

This scenario considers those accidents in which the aircraft is on the ground and encounters obstructions. The accident is characterized by horizontal motion of the airplane into a hazard such as during take-off abort or landing overrun. The sink speeds, including ground slope effects, range from zero to design sink speed. The forward velocity ranges from 70 kts to rotation speed with the airplane in a level attitude with some swerve. The damage sustained by the airplane is a function of the hazard encountered and ranges from paved surfaces, and hard ground (sliding contact), to ditches, humps, vehicles, light poles, buildings, and soft earth.

Finally, classifications of scenarios are not static but are influenced by airplane and airport design changes. New accident types coming into the data base should have a significantly different distribution from those of the first 20 years. This dist.ibution might be expected to be strongly affected by improvements in accident avoidance techniques and by reduction of hazards on and around airports. Development of fire-suppressing fuel additives could not only alter the distribution of accident statistics in the scenarios, but could change the significance of structural component participation. Consequently, the scenarios should be reviewed at intervals to ensure their continuing applicability. Further, the scenarios should reflect current aircraft behavior as well as data drawn from historical accident reports.

STRUCTURAL FEATURES AND SUBSYSTEMS THAT CONTRIBUTE TO OCCUPANT INJURIES AND FATALITIES

structural behavior of transport aircraft in accidents The involving substantial hull damage, that are impact survivable, will contain the loss, destruction, or damage of one cr more structural components or subsystems. During the sequence of events as the destruction occurs and the aircraft comes to a stop, the lives of persons onboard are being jeopardized. In the 176 accidents reviewed in the combined data base (fig. 6) it was determined that the most critical event in the crash sequence that caused most fatalities was the release and ignition of fuel creating a fire hazard. For those persons not injured by impact, the probability of survival was determined by time (measured in minutes and seconds) and by obstructions in the escape route. In order to define approaches to improve the crashworthiness of transport aircraft it is necessary that the involvement of the structural components, systems, and subsystems be determined and the sequence of events and interaction of their involvement in a variety of accidents be well understood. (ref. 19).

Discussion of the major hazards, the dominant structural components, and the interaction as relating to survivability is discussed in the following sections.

Failure Mechanisms and Injury Types

In the review and study of historical accident data various structural failure mechanisms can be identified and are listed in Table 13. In the sequence of events occurring in an accident several of these failure mechanisms may be involved and may interact with one another. The types of injuries that occur are identified in Table 14 (ref. 19).

The structural components are the landing gear, pylon/engine, wing box structure, fuselage, fuel distribution system, floor structure, seats/restraint systems, cabin interior, and entry and escape doors. The landing gear includes nose gear, wing mounted main landing gear, and wide-body fuselage mounted gear. Pylon/engine include wing pod mounted engines and aft body engines. Wing box structure is concerned basically with fuel tankage and primary load carrying members. Fuselage includes lower fuselage, (bottom of fusetage to the cabin floor structure) and upper fuselage (floor structure to crown). Cabin interiors include seats, overhead storage, galleys, closets, dividers, lavatories, ceiling panels, sidewalls, etc.

Subsystem Participation

The crash dynamic response of these various components, their interaction with other components, and the direct result of this action, are given in Table 15 (ref. 19). The frequency of occurrence or participation of each of these structural system failures in the data base of accidences considered in ref. 19 is given in Table 16. The diagonal shows the total participation of any one component while the off-diagonal values show co-participation of other components. The data presented on cabin interior, seats, doors, tloors, and body fuel lines are cited in the accident data However, in field reports. investigations of accidents interior structural component failures are not consistently documented and omission of a particular component does not necessarily indicate that no failure has occurred.

Subsystem Participation and Accident Severity

In Table 17, the participation of each structural component and damage category (as defined in Table 11) is presented as a function of accident scenarios (ref. 19) and subsets within these scenarios. On the basis of fatalities in percent of occupants, flight into obstructions is the most lethal accident followed by air to surface, unclassified, and then surface to surface. This order tends to agree with the total energy to be dissipated in the crash. The frequency of fire, while not independent of the total energy, further increases the lethality of the accident. Considering total fatalities, the ranking of the accident scenarios are air-to-surface, flight into obstructions, surface-to-surface and unclassified. No single scenario appears to be "the major type for lethality"; rather each must be studied to fully understand the crash response of aircraft. Likely candidate scenarios would be air-to-surface impact on gear, surface-to-surface - low obstruction and flight into obstruction - impact column.

Structural Factors in Fatalities

The participation of structural factors in fatalities is shown in figure 13 (the number of fatalities coming from Table 12. The major factor in fatalities is fire/smoke, the unknowns representing a combination of trauma and fire. The role of trauma injuries in fire fatalities is undefined. An assessment of the interaction and role of these structural components in a crash environment is presented in Appendix A. A more thorough assessment is presented in references (19), (20), and (21).

POTENTIAL FOR IMPROVING CRASH PERFORMANCE

In this section, potential research areas in aircraft structural subsystems are identified. Structural factors in fatalities are reviewed from Appendix A to indicate those systems for which the greatest gain in crashworthiness might be achieved. Research areas are discussed and some approaches are presented. Finally an assessment of the potential for improvement of structural systems is given.

The accident performance of current aircraft is the result of continuing engineering effort, based on accident experience, to improve occupant protection. Certification requires protection of the occupant in minor accidents. Depending on the details of a very severe accident, there appear to be zones of survivable environment within the aircraft even under severe crash conditions.

From the review of accident data for structural system participation, total fatalities have been divided into three groups; trauma, fire/smoke, and drowning. In some cases (Table 11- category 6) trauma injuries have resulted in fire/smoke fatalities through incapacitation of the occupant both inside and outside of the aircraft. As regards fire/smoke and drowning categories, aircraft evacuation problems have also resulted in fatalities.

Fire Hazard

Fire/smoke caused the most known fatalities, followed by trauma, and then drowning, Table 12. The greatest gain in crashworthiness might result from containment of fuel, which would eliminate or reduce the fire hazard. Factors that affect the integrity of the fuel tanks need to be understood. Severe fuel fires have accounted for, directly or indirectly, approximately 36% of the fatalities in the study of 153 impact survivable accidents (table 12). Hazards consist of burns from flame and hot gases, inhalation of smoke/fumes from fuel fire, inhalation of smoke/fumes from burning airplane/ baggage/passenger materials (ignited by fuel fire), and panic/stampede of passengers due to fire/smoke effect. To prevent or reduce the numbers of these types of fatalities, research areas are identified (listed in order of possible effectiveness):

(1) Fuel Containment

(a) Develop tank vessel/structure to be more resistant to tears, rupture, puncture, etc.

(b) Develop wing box structure (assuming integral tank design) that will fail at predetermined locations when overload forces occur and include double fuel tank ends at these locations. Thus, wing separation/failure at these "fuse" points between the double tank ends may avert massive fuel spills.

(c) Fuel tank explosions cause massive rupture of the vessel and instantaneous enlargement of the severe burn area. To eliminate or reduce the probability of a tank explosion, it is necessary to provide a flame arrestor media that will act as a deterrent to propagation of an explosive flame front. This media could be a metallic resistant material such as aluminum foil or an open-cell plastic foam that has a high melting temperature and is compatible with hydrocarbon fuel.

(d) Develop fuel transfer/feed lines that are more resistant to rupture and, in event of rupture, provide automatic shut off of fuel flow.

(2) Tank Rupture

(a) Main landing gear collapse or separation allows the wing box to scrub on the runway or terrain and to impact low objects or allow engine pods to scrub and separate. Main landing gear design that is more resistant to collapse or separation due to hard landings or travel over rough/soft terrain would be effective in reducing the number of fire related accidents (table 16) in which tear or rupture of the wing lower surface has occurred.

(b) Engine separation and tumbling under the wing has caused rupture or puncture in the wing box. Engine to strut or strut to wing design should be developed to reduce probability of separation.

(c) Fuel spill ignition has resulted from engine separation. During this occurrence the separation and arcing of electrical power leads can ignite fuel from broken feed lines. Designs to minimize arcing should be developed.

(3) Fuel Characteristics

(a) Anti-misting fuel research and development should continue. This technique has the potential to reduce fatalities by reducing the probability of fuel vapor explosions and by delaying the spread and intensity of fire in massive fuel spills.

(b) Jelled or emulsified fuel research should also be considered. From a safety standpoint their viscous nature and low rate of vapor release are desirable characteristics. However, compatibility of emulsified fuels and turbine engine performance must be considered.

Evacuation from the Aircraft

In most accidents, particularly those involving severe fuel fires, the speed with which crew and passengers are evacuated has a major effect on the number of survivors. Experience indicates those occupants

that require more than one minute to evacuate may not survive. This is due to fuel smoke and flame burning through the fuselage or entering via a rupture in the fuselage skin. Anything that hinders or delays passenger/crew movement within the passenger compartment must be considered a hazard that requires research and study.

(a) Entry, galley, emergency exit, and cockpit door design should be evaluated for both jamming and blockage. This includes door frame warpage, cabin floor uplift in the vicinity of the door area, door opening mechanism, sliding door tracks, and adequacy of door viewing windows. Passenger panic blockage of door opening areas should be considered during door design.

(b) Overhead passenger storage compartments often open on impact and spill contents or collapse/separate from the fuselage structure so as to injure passenger heads and block/trap passengers in their seats. Contents and debris block aisles and hinder passenger movement to exits. Overwing exits have been blocked by collapsed overhead compartments.

(c) Passenger and crew seat separations or collapse can trap passengers in the seat area and, in some cases, block aisles needed for evacuation. In some cases seat separations have resulted in passenger injury which delayed or prevented evacuation and resulted in death due to fire or smoke.

(d) Partial blockage of aisles and exit areas by galley contents and interior and miscellaneous debris has occurred in about 15% of the accidents studied. However, in only a few of these was the debris more than just a slight hinderance in the evacuation. In general the galley debris concentrates in the area of galley service doors. Since galley displacement is an infrequent occurrence, research should concentrate on containing galley contents.

Structural Break-Up

Structural break-up and excessive impact loads have resulted in trauma fatalities and injuries. These represent approximately 12.5% of all fatalities in the 153 potentially impact survivable accidents (Table 12). Most of the trauma fatalities occur within the fuselage area but a few are a result of passengers being thrown out when fuselage break-up occurs. In many cases trauma injuries are not identifiable because they result in unconsciousness or inability to evacuate the aircraft or the fire area outside the aircraft and therefore death occurs due to fire. both the percentage of fire fatalities and trauma Consequently, tatalities are conservative since 45% of the fatalities occurring are classified as "unknown" simply because it can not be determined if they were solely due to fire or trauma but are a combination of both (see Table 12, figure 10). To prevent or reduce the number of trauma fatalities, detailed studies should consider the following research areas:

(a) Fuselage Breaks - Of the 64 accidents involving breaks in the fuselage, 23 reported that one or more persons were ejected or fell out of fracture holes in the fuselage resulting in death or injury. Similarly, in 13 accidents it was also reported that one or more persons

stepped or crawled out of the break (most of these could probably also have evacuated through available doors and hatches). Study and research aimed at improving fuselage structural integrity, particularly breaks and separation, would provide a substantial reduction in trauma fatalities.

(b) Fuselage Floor - Elevation or displacement upwards of the fuselage floor was reported in 36 accidents. Passenger seat elevation, which caused or contributed to serious injuries to passengers sitting in the seats, was reported in 9 accidents. Localized floor displacement has also contributed to passenger and crew injuries during evacuation. In most cases floor beams were displaced upwards in addition to the floor panels. Development of a floor beam and floor panel assembly that is more resistant to both uplift and separation would reduce trauma injuries to seated passengers and probably reduce fatalities by not blocking or restricting evacuation routes.

(c) Seat Load Limiting and Occupant Retention - While it is difficult to establish a numerical measure of seat and occupant retention performance in accidents, research on methods of limiting crash loads on occupants through seat design should be continued. Occupant restraint systems require further study. The floor track/seat/occupant/restraint system response to the various crash loadings should be understood. Effort should be made to establish the injury tolerance limits of the commercial aircraft occupant.

Effects of Water Entry

Accidents in which aircraft impact water or come to rest in deep water involve special hazards. Drownings occurred in 11 of the 16 water related accident cases in the data base. Over two thirds of the drowning fatalities occurred in six of the accidents (air to surface) which involved breaking of the fuselage at impact. The other five accidents involved rupture or tearing of the lower fuselage surface which allowed rapid entry of water.

(a) To reduce or possibly eliminate fatalities due to drowning, study and research should center on improving the fuselage pressure vessel structural integrity, primarily to eliminate fuselage breaks and lower surface tears. Aircraft floatation should be assured if water touchdown occurs at final approach speed and at a touchdown attitude.

(b) In 3 of the 11 water entry accidents the onboard life rafts and vests were used effectively. In the other 8 accidents, onboard rafts were not used, were inflated inside the aircraft, or there were no rafts onboard. Research of this emergency equipment should include consideration of external stowage and deployment of rafts.

Assessment

The potential for improved crash performance for structural subsystems has been assessed to provide some guidance for the planning of research programs. Current structural systems are being designed with current crashworthiness and methods technology. The potential for improved performance is assessed relative to the crash function. Research into the crash behavior of structural subsystems consists of both analysis and test. Emphasis is placed on treatment of subsystems because the subsystems must perform their crash function in order to achieve crashworthiness for the complete aircraft. Further, it is in detailed mechanisms of failure that engineering changes may be effected. In addition, detailed crash response of an isolated subsystem may be better measured than from complete aircraft testing. On this basis the assessment in Table 18 is presented.

The rating potential for improved performance is given in relative terms; C having good potential, B, being better, and A, being highest. These ratings are subjective and do not reflect the difficulty in advancing the technology. It is expected that some ratings will change as future research and development programs progress.

Analytical research treats the methods of modeling the subsystem to depict detailed crash response. Subsystems of imediate interest are wing tankage, seat/occupant, floor/seat/occupant, and fuselage sections. In this endeavor, the full power of analytical programs may be used to represent the structure in detail. Results of these analyses should be validated with subsystems tests.

Testing of structural subsystems will permit identification of detailed failure mechanisms and sequences of events in simulated crash conditions. In addition, these results may serve as a basis for comparison for the evaluation of advanced material concepts. Advanced material applications for subsystems should also be tested and evaluated. As the applications advance, new subsystem specimens may have to be fabricated, tested, and evaluated.

CONCLUDING REMARKS

Current jet transport design methods are continually updated or modified based on knowledge gained from transport accident data. A study of transport accident data was undertaken in a joint research program sponsored by the FAA and NASA and reported in contract reports (refs. 19, 20, 21). Some of the results of these studies have been highlighted in the present report. There is a point reached in the study of accident data, however, particularly on the condition and details of the airplane cabin interior, in which the omission of data becomes evident and it cannot be assumed that it did not occur, but rather that it did not get reported. Thus, the causative factors related to transport fatalities may not be well defined when many factors interact in the cabin area or when the accident scenario is complex. However, much can still be learned from the historical study of accident data.

It became evident from the accident data study that the greatest potential for improved transport crashworthiness is in the reduction of fire related fatalities. Quoting from ref. 19, research relating to suppression of fire merits the highest priority. Time is a critical element associated with escape when a severe fuel fire exists outside the aircraft or when the aircraft is sinking in deep water. If flame and smoke enter the fuselage passenger area immediately after the aircraft comes to rest, the probability of escape is reduced substantially. Retaining fuselage integrity and delaying entrance of smoke and flame is essential if survivability is to be enhanced. Debris and obstructions that hinder movement of persons on the escape route cause delays that reduce the probability of survival. Consequently, factors that would increase the available time for egress is essential. Fuel additives as in the anti-misting kerosene research program, rupture resistant fuel tanks or fuel cells, and structural improvements to protect fuel tanks and occupants should be subjects of research.

Second, structural integrity of fuel systems, fuselage, and landing gear are leading candidates for improved crashworthiness. Structural integrity of fuel systems is a key factor in suppression of post crash fire. Integrity of the fuselage contributes to the reduction of fire related fatalities by preventing or delaying the entry of fuel, fire, and smoke and by maintaining egress routes. Main landing gear that are more tolerant to off-runway conditions would continue to provide ground clearance for the wing and engine pods thereby reducing the hazard of wing breaks, tearing of tank lower surfaces, and engine pod scrubbing or separation.

Trauma fatalities have predominated generally, when the energy absorbing protective capability of the aircraft structure has been expended and the aircraft has experienced major structural damage. Trauma fatalities might be reduced, however, by improving the airframe energy absorption capability and structural integrity. The dynamic performance of current occupant seat/restraint systems are not well understood and the accident data does not define adequately the response relationship between occupant and structural dynamic characteristics of the seat, floor, and fuselage. Only recently has mathematical modeling of the seat and occupant progressed to where some of this behavior can be more thoroughly explored. Of particular concern is the dynamic response of the occupants in new seats compared to conventional seats as both seat and occupant interact with floor pulses. acceleration This becomes particularly important for applications of advanced materials. The crash performance of structural components made from advanced materials must be compared to that of Differences in performance must be current structural components. assessed for their effect on accident performance of the complete aircraft. Impact response mechanisms of advanced components must be understood in order that accident structural performance might be optimized.

New occupant protection concepts for advanced materials may be required. Current metal aircraft have inherent properties contributing to crashworthiness protection in addition to other design conditions that may not be present in aircraft designed with advanced materials. Of particular concern are wing tanks, fuselage integrity including energy absorption, and the floor/seat/occupant/restraint system interaction. Consequently, it may be necessary to introduce new approaches to occupant protection.

REFERENCES

1. Pinkel, I. I.; Preston, G. M.; and Pesman, G. J.: Mechanism of Start and Development of Aircraft Crash Fires. NACA Research Memorandum E52F06, August 1952.

- Eiband, Martin A.; Simpkinson, Scott H.; and Black, Dugald O.: Accelerations and Passenger Harness Loads Measured in Full-Scale Light-Airplane Crashes. NACA TN 2991, August 1953.
- Reed, W. H.; Robertson, S. H.; Weinberg, L. W. T.; and Tyndall, L. H.: Crash Tests of a Douglas DC-7. FAA Report ADS-37, April 1965.
- Bigham, James P.; and Bingham, William W.: Theoretical Determination of Crash Loads for a Lockheed 1649 Aircraft in a Crash Test Program. FAA Report ADS-15, July 1964.
- 5. Thompson, William C.: Model Ditching Investigation of the Boeing 707 Jet Transport. NACA RM SL55K08, Nov. 21, 1955.
- Vaughan, V. L., Jr.; and Alfaro-Bou, E.: Impact Dynamics Research Facility for Full-Scale Aircraft Crash Testing. NASA TN D-8179, 1976.
- Alfaro-Bou, E.; and Vaughan, V. L., Jr.: Light Airplane Crash Tests at Impact Velocities of 13 and 27 m/sec. NASA TP-1042, 1977.
- 8. Castle, C. B.; and Alfaro-Bou, E.: Light Aircraft Crash Tests at Three Flight Path Angles. NASA TP-1210, 1978.
- 9. Castle, C. B.; and Alfaro-Bou, E.: Light Airplane Crash Tests at Three Roll Angles. NASA TP-1476, 1978.
- Vaughan, V. L., Jr.; and Alfaro-Bou, E.: Light Airplane Crash Tests at Three Pitch Angles. NASA TP-1481, 1979.
- 11. Vaughan, V. L., Jr.; and Hayduk, R. J.: Crash Tests of Four Identical High-Wing Single Engine Airplanes. NASA TP-1699, 1980.
- Castle, C. B.: Full-Scale Crash Test of a CH-47 Helicopter. NASA TM X-3412, Dec. 1976.
- Hayduk, R. J.: Comparative Analysis of PA-31-350 Chieftain (N44LV) Accident and NASA Crash Test Data. NASA TM X-80102, 1979.
- 14. Alfaro-Bou, Emilio; Fasanella, Edwin L.; and Williams, M. Susan: Determination of Crash Test Pulses and Their Application to Aircraft Seat Analysis. Paper 810611 SAE Business Aircraft Meeting, Wichita, KS, April 7-10, 1981.
- Carden, H. D.; and Hayduk, R. J.: Aircraft Subfloor Response to Crash Loadings. Paper 810614, SAE Business Aircraft Meeting, Wichita, KS, 1981.

- 16. Hayduk, R. J.; Thomson, R. G.; Wittlin, G.; and Kamat, M. P.: Nonlinear Structural Crash Dynamics Analyses. SAE Paper 790588 SAE Business Aircraft Meeting, Wichita, KS, April 3-6, 1979.
- TR60-77: Crash Injury and Crashworthiness Final Report. Contract No. TC-624, Flight Safety Foundation, December 1960. TREC Tech. Report 60-77, AvCir 70-0-128.
- Turnbow, J. W.; Carroll, D. F.; Haley, J. L., Jr.; and Robertson, S. H.: Crash Survival Design Guide. USAAVLABS Technical Report 70-22.
- Widmayer, E.; and Brende, Otto B.: Commercial Jet Transport Crashworthiness. Contract No. NAS1-16076, Boeing Commercial Airplane Company, March 1982, NASA CR-165849, DOT-FAA-CT-82-86.
- Cominsky, A.: Transport Aircraft Accident Dynamics. Contract No. NAS1-16111, McDonnell Douglas Corporation, March 1982, NASA CR-165850, DOT-FAA-CT-82-70.
- Wittlin, Gil; Gamon, Max; and Shycoff, Dan: Transport Aircraft Crash Dynamics. Contract No. NAS1-16083, Lockheed-California Company, March 1982, NASA CR-165851, DOT-FAA-CT-82-69.
- 22. Anon: Turbine-Engined Fleets of the World's Airlines, 1982. Air World Survey, Supplement to V. 34, no. 2, 1982.
- 23. Anon: Dimensions of Airline Growth. Boeing Commercial Airplane Company, Y9181, March 1980.
- 24. Anon: Worldwide Accident Summaries 1964-79. Civil Aviation Authority.
- 25. Special Study: Passenger Survival in Turbojet Ditchings. NTSB-AAS-72-2, April 1972.
- 26. Caiafa, C. A.; Nari, L. M.; Chandler, K. F.; and Donell, W. P.: Crash Injury Protection in Survivable Air Transport Accidents -- U.S. Civil Aircraft Experience from 1970 to 1978. FAA-CT-80-34, August 1980.

i

APPENDIX A - INTERACTION OF STRUCTURAL COMPONENTS AND SUBSYSTEMS

The details of the assessment of the interaction of structural components and subsystems are repeated in this appendix as given in ref. 19. Additional information on structural component behavior can be found in refs. 20 and 21. The participation of the components and their contribution to major injury producing hazards, have been categorized in this appendix into the following sections: fire hazard, engine/pylon separation, fuselage break/rupture, blocked egress, landing gear collapse, water entry, and seat collapse.

Fire Hazard and Tank Rupture

Severe fuel fires are the primary cause of most fatalities and result from unwanted release or spillage of tank fuel. In ref. 19 it was reported that 107 accidents involved tank fuel spillage, and 85 of these had fires of varying severity. Spillage directly from the integral tank usually occurs from six types of events: wing box fracture or break, lower wing skin tear or rupture, penetration of the tank by an object, tearing open the wing box during separation of main landing gear or engine pylon, fuel tank ullage explosion, and flow from wing tip vents. In a given accident two or more of these types of spillage sometimes occur. These types and the number of occurrences are shown in figure Al, and discussed below.

(a) Wing box fracture or break - Most fractures occur due to high vertical loads or due to impact with large objects such as trees or buildings. Some wing fractures occur early in the accident sequence and the fuselage continues to slide or move, possibly away from the initial large fuel spill location. Fuel is usually scattered over a large area. In other cases the wing fracture occurs at about the time and point where the aircraft comes to rest and the fuel spill is adjacent, under, or around the fuselage. If fuel ignition occurs, an almost instantaneous severe fuel fire develops; this constitutes the "most hazardous scenario". Damage to other structural components can influence passenger/crew survivability in this situation. Fuselage breaks and fuselage lower surface ruptures can provide immediate access for flame and smoke to the passenger compartment. Damage to the cabin interior such as collapsed overhead storage, galley debris, ruptured floor, and jammed/blocked exits can impede evacuation. The effect of engine/pylon separation (in wing/pylon mounted engines) and gear separation in maintaining ground clearance of the wing does appear to be a significant factor.

(b) Lower wing surface tear - Tear or rupture of the wing lower surface is known to have occurred in eight accidents and probably occured in 19 others. These generally occur when the wing is subjected to scrubbing/sliding on the runway, on rough terrain, or over various objects. Accident records indicate that 13 involved contact with rough terrain, 7 involved sliding over fences and walls, 4 involved sliding on level ground, 1 involved settling on a separated engine, and 1 involved impact with another aircraft. In 26 of these accidents the aircraft was destroyed and 40% had fire-related fatalities.

The hazard evolving from these wing tank tear/ruptures is related to the size of the tank opening, the rate at which fuel is released, the temperature, and whether the fuel was ignited. Many of these occurrences involve severe fires, but they tend to be localized in the wing area and thereby make it possible for persons onboard to evacuate from both ends of the fuselage away from the fire. The interaction and impact that other structural components have on these wing lower surface tears is the same as with wing break occurrences. An increase in the hazard occurs with time (possibly 30 seconds to 5 minutes); fuel ignition on the wing often causes tank explosions that spread the fuel further and intensify the fire. Research should be directed to containing the fuel within the tank or at least restricting the flow of fuel through the rupture or hole in the wing skin.

Landing gear collapse or separation has been a major factor in 50% of the spills and had a lesser effect in about 30% of the spills. Wing mounted engine/pylon separation or collapse during lower surface tear failed to maintain ground clearance in 95% of the cases.

(c) Gear/pylon tear - Tearing away sections or parts of the wing box fuel tank and subsequently releasing large quantities of fuel during separations of main landing gear or of engine pylon is an infrequent occurrence, being reported in seven accidents. However, when it does happen, a severe fuel fire generally occurs. Design philosophy for main landing gear and engine pylon attachment to the wing box should be reviewed to ensure these units are fused for a clean overload separation that does not fracture the integral fuel tank.

(d) Tank explosion - Wing box fuel tank ullage explosions have been reported in 17 accidents and probably occurred in 6 others. In most of these, a severe fire already existed and generally the size or intensity of the fire increased. In most cases it is not known how many, if any, additional fatalities resulted from the tank explosions but it appears from available data that evacuation was usually affected. The initial fire in three accidents occurred at the engine pylon wing interface after engine separation, two of these explosions occurring in flight.

(e) Tank puncture - There are three accidents in which tanks have been punctured by foreign objects. Two of these accidents occurred during aircraft operation and resulted in fires that destroyed the aircraft but for which there were no fatalities. One of these involved puncture by debris from a disintegrating engine and the other involved parts from a disintegrating wheel. The third incident occurred after the accident when the tank was punctured during rescue operations but there was no fire.

(f) Leakage - There are four accidents in which fuel spillage resulted from leaking tanks. Only one accident experienced fire which destroyed the aircraft, but there were no fatalities. While fire hazard is present, these accidents have not been lethal.

Rupture of body fuel lines is a hazard associated with aircraft configurations having aft mounted engines or auxiliary power unit. If fuel tank shut-off valves are activated immediately after a crash, the amount of fuel spilled due to body line rupture is only a minor contributor to the accident severity. However, when the lines are not shut off, the resulting fire has been catastrophic. For example, in the 727 Salt Lake City accident on November 11, 1965, a separated landing gear penetrated the lower fuselage and ruptured a body fuel line. Forty-three occupants died from fire-related causes. As a result of this accident, body lines were strengthened and rerouted to avoid this type of rupture. The only other instance in which body fuel lines are thought to be a major contributor to the severity of an accident is the DC-9 accident at O'Hare on December 20, 1972, where the aft fuselage of a DC-9 struck the vertical tail of an 880 during take-off and probably ruptured a body fuel line. Ten persons perished from fire-related causes in this accident.

The wing tank vent system has been involved in one severe fire accident. In this case, an engine fire spread to fuel dripping from the adjacent wing tank vent at the wing tip, progressed through the vent system and caused a tank ullage explosion. Any studies involving fuel tank design should include the tank vent system and flame suppression.

Engine/Pylon Separation

Separation of an engine from the pylon or separation of the pylon from the wing or body often occurs in accidents involving hard touchdown, undershoot, overrun, or veering off the runway. When one or both main landing gear collapse during these types of occurrences, the probability of engine pod damage or separation is increased. Generally, loss of the engine (forward or reverse thrust) is of minor significance but rupturing of the engine fuel feed line (releasing fuel) and tearing of electrical leads (causing arcing) can be a hazard because of the potential for a fire occurring at the fuel feed line break point. The significance of this pylon-break fire hazard increases if the wing fuel tanks are ruptured and large quantites of fuel are released on the It is believed that the engine and the pylon break fires have ground. been the ignition source for many of the fuel tank fires. Accident reports seldom confirm or deny this, since it is not generally possible to establish from evidence at the accident site what actually provided the ignition source. In some occurrences, friction sparks from wing or fuselage sliding on terrain may have caused ignition of released tank fuel only seconds or microseconds before an engine pylon fire occurred. It is difficult to establish the actual sequence of events. However, from a review of accident data, there appears to be a relationship between wing tank ruptures, severe fuel fires, and pylon break fires that indicates pylon break fires probably provided the source of ignition for released fuel in many accidents.

Of the 153 accidents studied in ref. 19, 94 involved aircraft with engines on wing pods and 59 involved aircraft with engine pods on the aft fuselage. These two groups of air craft were reviewed separately.

(a) Wing pod engine - Of the 94 accidents (including known and probable occurrences) involving wing pod engined aircraft, 67 (71%) involved rupturing of the wing box fuel tank and 68 (72%) involved collapse or separation of the engine pylon to the extent that the engine fuel feed line was torn or ruptured. Fuel fires originating at the fracture of the engine fuel feed line in the pylon are reported to have

occurred in 12 accidents and probably occurred in 33 accidents. No fires were reported at this fracture point in 23 accidents. The proximity of the wing pod engine to the wing box fuel tanks has resulted in correlations between engine separation, fuel tank rupture, and a severe fuel fire. Approximately 71% of the accidents involved rupture of the fuel tank and releasing fuel on the ground and, of these, 91% were considered large fuel spills in that the spill area probably was near or adjacent to the engine pylon location. The study shows that 82% of the large fuel spills resulted in severe fires and, in 78% of these, a ruptured engine pylon fuel line fire probably also occurred.

In numerous accidents, separated engine pods have rolled or tumbled under the wing or fuselage as the aircraft slides to a stop. However, accident reports seldom indicate that the pod ruptured the wing box fuel tank. In most cases, investigators are probably unable to determine what objects actually caused tank rupture.

(b) Aft body engine - Of the 59 accidents involving aft body engined aircraft, 38 (64%) involved rupturing of the wing box fuel tanks and 21 (36%) involved collapse or separation of the engine pylon to the extent that the engine fuel feed line was torn or ruptured. Of the 21 occurrences involving engine/pylon collapse or separation, 7 resulted from a very hard touchdown, 7 due to impact with ground objects, and 7 due to high vertical loads as the aircraft slid over rough ground or impacted water. No engine pod separations were known to be caused by pod ground contact during aircraft slide on the lower fuselage.

Fuel fires originating at the fracture of the engine fuel feed line in the pylon are reported to have occurred in two accidents and probably occurred in five accidents. Reports indicate that no fire occurred at this fracture point in 14 accidents. Severe wing tank fuel fires occurred in 26 accidents but, of these, engine/strut fuel line fires were reported in one and probably occurred in 5. This indicates that wing tank fuel, in 77% of these cases, was ignited by something other than by an engine fuel feed line fire. In the other 23% (six cases) the reports do not indicate or show evidence that the engine fuel feed line fire provided the ignition source for the wing tank fuel fire. In most accidents, the investigators are probably unable to determine the actual source of the spilled tank fuel ignition.

Fuselage Break/Rupture

(a) Fuselage break (excluding Fuselage Lower Surface Rupture) - Of the 153 impact survivable accidents used in ref. 19, 64 are known to have experienced one or more breaks in the fuselage and 7 others probably also had breaks. Forty-six of the 64 were fatal accide. Available data indicates that 39.5% of the persons onboard in the or accidents were fatalities. The other 82 accidents did not experience fuselage breaks and 27 of these were fatal accidents of which 20.6% of the persons onboard were fatalities. Of the 64 accidents experience fuselage breaks, 6 involved the aircraft touching down in deep water and 58 involved the aircraft touching down (impacting) on ground or in swampy areas with shallow water. The six deep water entry accidents in which the fuselage broke into several pieces had a 36.8% fatality rate (36.8% of those on board) and are discussed under the heading "Water Entry". The fifty-eight ground or swampy slide accidents experienced fuselage breaks due to main landing gear separation/collapse, excessively hard touchdown or hard flat/impact after takeoff, touchdown in areas of trees/buildings/objects or on rocky/rough terrain, or combinations of these conditions. Of these fifty-eight accidents, 39 involved fatalities which had a 52% fatality rate. In 5 acc. dents (8.6%) landing gear collapse or separation is believed to have contributed to the fuselage breaking; that is, if the gear had not failed the fuselage may not have broken.

The accidents are divided into three groups which are discussed as follows:

1. Twelve accidents involved a slight break(s) or fracture in which fuselage sections did not separate far enough for a person to be ejected or for a person to crawl or step out during evacuation (class 1 of Table 11). These accidents generally occur on or near the airport and are the result of landing overruns, takeoff abort, or veering off the Impact which caused the fuselage break runway. usually occurred after considerable braking decelerations both off and on the runway. Only two of the accidents (16.6%) involved a severe fuel fire, and only 6.3% of the persons onboard in these 12 accidents were fatalities.

2. Twenty accidents involved a clean, wide break in which the fuselage section remained basically intact but separated far enough for a person to be ejected or to crawl/step out (class 2 of Table 11). About 75% of these accidents involved severe fuel fires and 29.4% of the persons onboard in these 20 accidents were fatalities. Approximately half of these accidents involved aircraft impact speeds of 100 knots or more.

3. Sixteen accidents involved considerable destruction of the fuselage sections and in most cases the sections slid or traveled many feet after separation (class 3 of Table 11). During this movement persons were often thrown/ejected from the remains of the fuselage section. In some cases ejected persons were killed from trauma, and in other cases the ejected persons survived because they were thrown out of a fire or burn area. About 93.8% of these accidents involved severe fuel fires and 77.8% of those onboard in these 16 accidents were fatalities. In most cases the aircraft speed at impact was well over 100 knots--two of these had an impact speed of 188 and 271 knots, yet some persons survived. Many accidents in this group can be considered to be only marginally survivable.

It can be concluded that the probability of fatalities in accidents

resulting in fuselage breaks during ground slides is closely related to aircraft speed at the time of impact. The group of accidents resulting in only slight breaks (class 1) had an average aircraft impact speed of 57 knots and 6.3% of those on board were fatalities. The group resulting in a clean (but open) break (class 2) had an average speed of 83 knots and 29.4% were fatalities. The group resulting in a torn fuselage (class 3) had an average speed of 136 knots and 77.8% were fatalities. (See figure A2). The greater the speed, the greater the fuselage damage and the greater probability of fuel tank rupture causing severe fire. However, even in the worst cases, some persons onboard survived. Design changes that would result in a stronger fuselage that is more resistant to fragmentation should provide a substantial increase in survivability for those onboard.

(b) Fuselage Lower Surface Rupture (excluding fuselage break accidents) - Of the 153 impact survivable accidents in ref. 19, 57 aircraft are known to have experienced considerable damage to the lower fuselage and little or no damage to the upper fuselage (above the floor line). Seventeen of these 57 were fatal accidents, with 17.5% of the persons onboard being fatalities. In addition to the accidents noted above, there are seven accidents that probably experienced fuselage lower surface damage; three of these were fatal accidents with 45.8% of the persons onboard being fatalities.

Lower fuselage tear or rupture generally occurs when the landing gear fails to support the aircraft. Thus, scrubbing on rough surfaces (sometimes even on the runway) rips open the thin skins and body frames. At the same time, wing box fuel tanks are also subject to rupture and fuel spillage. In 37 of 53 ground slide accidents (4 of the 57 accidents were water entry accidents), the wing box was probably ruptured in 32 of these accidents; 25 severe fires resulted and 12 minor or moderate fires.

Lower surface damage accidents are divided into three groups for study purposes: extensive rupture, minor or moderate damage, and those involving water entry (the four accidents involving water entry are discussed under "Water Entry").

> 1. Twenty-eight accidents experienced extensive damage and rupture of the fuselage lower surface. Eleven of these were fatal accidents with 27.7% of the total onboard being fatalities. A severe fire occurred in 15 of the accidents and 9 of these were fatal accidents. Six other accidents involved a minor or moderate fire with no fatalities.

> 2. Twenty-five accidents experienced moderate or minor damage of the fuselage lower surface. Of these only three were fatal accidents, with 1.5% of those onboard being fatalities. Six of these accidents involved a severe fuel fire, four involved a moderate or minor fire, and six had no fire reported. Of the three fatal accidents, two had severe fires and one a moderate fire. Six accidents involved the nose gear collapsing aft into the lower fuselage. One resulted in a severe fire (friction

ignited) which destroyed the aircraft and one resulted in a moderate fire (also friction ignited) which resulted in substantial damage. In another case of friction fire, the aft fuselage broke and was dragged on the runway.

In design, the prevention of friction fires is treated by separation of flammable materials from the proximity of friction sparks or heated structure. In operation, rapid action by the airport fire fighting team has reduced the effect of the friction fire.

It can be concluded that the probability of fatalities in accidents resulting in lower fuselage tear or rupture during ground slide is closely related to the occurrence of severe fuel fire. Flame and smoke from fuel burning on the ground below and around the fuselage have, in many cases, rapidly entered the passenger area via openings in the lower fuselage. If openings had not been present, the precious minute or two required for skin burnthrough would probably be adequate for evacuating most or all persons via escape routes away from burn areas. Of the 12 fatal accidents during ground slide, 11 had severe fire and one had a moderate fire.

Blocked Egress

(a) Cabin Door or Exit Jamming or Blockage - Of the 153 impactsurvivable accidents studied in ref. 19, reports for only 47 accidents cited occurrences of entry door, galley door, cockpit door, or emergency exits jamming or being blocked by cabin equipment, debris, or outside objects. It is believed that door or exit related evacuation problems also occurred in many other accidents.

Fuselage breaks often provide a handy and expeditious means for some of the passengers and crew to evacuate the aircraft. In 10 of the 47 accidents, where door/exit problems were cited, the reports also indicated that some passengers and crew departed via breaks and holes in the fuselage. In most cases these people could have also departed through available doors or exits. However, in a few cases the fuselage break was probably the only means of escape. In many accidents which involved severe fuel fires, some doors or exits could have been readily opened but were not used because of fire in that particular area outside the fuselage.

Available factual data relating to the 47 accidents citing door/exit problems are tabulated in figure A3. These data indicate that most occurrences (57%) involve doors at the front of the fuselage and only 16% at mid-body and 27% at the aft fuselage. This ratio is expected since in ground slide accidents the forward fuselage is generally the first to impact objects such as buildings, trees, poles, etc. These data also indicate that forward fuselage doors involved jamming in 64% of the cases and blockage in 36% of the cases. Doors in the aft fuselage had approximately the same ratio. Mid-body exits, however, had this ratio reversed with blockage being 64% of the cases and jamming only 36% of the cases. It is probable that the wing box

structure provides protection from jamming of the mid-body overwing exits.

Considering all doors/exits, jamming is reported in 59% of the cases and blockage in 41% of the cases. Jamming is generally caused by door frame distortions; however, accident reports seldom provide much detail on what caused the problem. Floor-lift due to upward forces from the cargo area often cause total or partial jamming of doors. The same upward forces may also cause door frame distortion. In a few cases evacuation slides are involved in door jamming. Blockage is generally caused by collapsing of overhead storage compartments and release of the contents. This debris usually results in complete inability to open the door or exit. Spillage of galley contents occurs frequently, which tends to cause a delay in opening the door. In a few cases displacement of a galley or coat storage compartment has caused door blockage, particuarly at the forward fuselage locations.

The number of fatalities that were a direct result of door jamming or blockage can seldom be determined or even estimated from available data. Of the 47 accidents in which door/exit problems were cited, only 24 involved fatalities (2187 total onboard of which 753 or 34.4% were fatalities). Of the 24 accidents with fatalities, 9 had two or more doors or exits jammed or blocked and 41.9% of those onboard were fatalities. In the other 15 accidents only one door or exit jammed or was blocked and 27.1% of those onboard were fatalities.

From this study of door and exit problems during emergency evacuations, it can be concluded that survivability might be increased if floors and structure in the area of each entry and galley door were designed to eliminate jamming of doors, and if overhead storage compartments were designed to resist collapse and reduce door blockage.

(b) Fuselage floor displacement - Displacement and rupture of the passenger floor has resulted in passenger and crew injuries, and has restricted movement of survivors to exits. In some cases the upward movement of the floor has resulted in the jamming of doors or door frames and in other cases doors could not be opened due to debris blocking the door. Generally, floor surface displacement is a result of the structural floor beams being torn, ruptured, and displaced upwards by the impact forces of cargo, cargo containers, separated landing gear or ground objects. The exception to this is floor displacement by the hydraulic action of water when the aircraft touches down in water or rolls into water at high speed--in these cases the floor beam may not be displaced upward.

Of the 153 accidents studied in ref. 19, 36 are known or reported to have experienced passenger or crew area floor displacement or rupture, and this occurred probably in 4 other accidents. Statistical data on these occurrences are tabulated in figure A4. For study purposes, these 36 accidents are divided into three groups: 15 that did not involve a fuselage break, 17 that did involve a fuselage break, and 4 that involved the aircraft touching down or overrunning into water. These groups are discussed as follows:

> 1. Of the 15 accidents which did not have fuselage breaks, 8 involved displacement upwards of the cabin floor as a result of the nose gear

tolding/collapsing aft into the lower forward fusciage cargo compartment or electronic compartment. Displaced cargo or electronic equipment forced the floor up and probably tore or bent the floor beams. In four of these accidents the cockpit door was jammed, and in two the entrance door was jammed or blocked. None of these were fatal accidents; however, one resulted in a friction-ignited fire at the nose gear tires which spread and destroyed the aircraft.

Seven other accidents involved a ground slide in which the fuselage lower surface was torn or crushed upward such that floor and floor beams were displaced upwards in localized areas. In one of these a main landing gear assembly rolled/tumbled under the fuselage and caused much of the damage. In three accidents, an entrance door was jammed or blocked by the floor.

Passenger seat elevations occurred in seven accidents which contributed to passenger injuries. In three accidents passenger seat separations occurred. Accident reports in these cases did not site seat separation or floor displacement as interferring with passenger egress.

Seventeen accidents which had fuselage 2. breaks also had areas where the floor was displaced upwards. These accidents tend to be more severe than those without fuselage breaks. If fuselage separation is complete and wide enough for human and seat ejection, the effects of passenger floor elevation or rupture on survivability is reduced. Ιn 13 accidents passenger seat separation was reported and in 9 accidents seat elevation was reported, but in only 4 accidents was passenger egress reported to have been impeded. It is not known how much influence the elevated or broken floor had on passenger egress. Passenger entry door jam was reported in five accidents and crew door jam in two accidents. Cause of these door jams in most cases could not be established with any certainty but was probably due to either floor elevation/rupture or due to fuselage break if the break was adjacent to the door.

3. Crew/passenger floor elevation and rupture occurred in four accidents which involved the aircraft touching down in deep water or rolling into water at high speed. In these cases the lower fuselage surface was torn open and the lower (cargo) area filled with water. Hydraulic action/pressure forced the floor panel upward, causing seat separation in two accidents and seat elevation in three accidents. Exit doors were found to be blocked in two accidents.

In one accident, the forward closet dislodged. It shifted forward in such a way that the forward entrance door was partially blocked and delayed opening of the door. Also a section of floor came up and created an opening through which two of the crew fell into the lower forward compartment. In another accident, the nose gear separated and tumbled aft, rupturing the lower fuselage. Floor beams and floor panels were elevated causing passenger seats to tilt backwards and block emergency exits on both sides of the fuse lage.

Available accident data provides evidence that displacement, elevation, or dislodging of the passenger/cockpit floor system in localized areas has resulted in passenger and crew injuries and has, in varying degrees, interferred with or delayed the evacuation of pasenger and crew. However, accident reports generally provide very little detailed information on this type of damage unless it is related to the cause of the accident. It is concluded from reviews of available data that a floor system more resistant to tear/rupture/separation, though still flexible, may reduce some of the factors which are believed to impede evacuation of the aircraft.

(c) Cabin interiors - In the accident study, the 45 accidents where cabin interiors have been cited should serve as an indication of possible crash behavior of cabin interior equipment. The 23 accidents where probable participation has been assessed may not include all incidents. In some accidents where at least one feature of the cabin interior participated, participation of other features are probable.

Overhead storage compartments have been assessed with regard to separation, spillage of contents, evacuation blockage, and injury to occupants. Ceiling panels, sidewall liners, and class partitions have been assessed for separation. This separation usually has some effect on egress. Galleys have been assessed for spillage of contents as well as egress blockage. These units are of particular concern since they affect availability of the service doors as an egress route. These assessments are shown in figure A5. Cabin interiors have been a major factor in evacuation in 12 known accidents and a probable factor in 14 accidents. Overhead storage has caused injuries in five known accidents and probably caused injury in three additional accidents.

Figure A6 shows interaction between other structural systems and the cabin interior system. Crush of the lower fuselage is deemed to have occurred in 52 of the 68 accidents. Fuselage breaks are deemed to have occurred in 32 of the 68 accidents. Landing gear separation or collapse occurred in 48 accidents and the gear was retracted in 6 other cases. Floor distortion is deemed to have occurred in 26 accidents. All of these interactions participate in severely loading the structural supports for the cabin interior equipment. Fire was present in 41 of the accidents.

Landing Gear Separation/Collapse

There are 96 accidents in which one or more of the landing gear

separated or collapsed. In addition there are 15 accidents in which the gear was stowed or retracted. The effect of gear separation or collapse will be considered, followed by the effect of gear in stowed positions. Some comparison of the two effects will be made.

Referring to table 16, the total occurrences show that for 95 cases of gear involvement (1 accident involves debris from the gear damaging the aircraft) there were 80 hull losses, 64 fires, 71 tank ruptures, 46 wing mounted engines/pods separated (11 cases of engine separation involve aft mounted engines), 62 fuselage breaks or crush, 38 door hatch involvements, 33 floor distortions, 33 cases of debris, and 26 seat involvements.

Direct effects of gear separation are: separation of wing pod mounted engines; rupture of fuel tanks by failing to maintain ground clearance and by the separating gear tearing a wing box; and damage to the lower fuselage by crushing, friction, and by breaks. Secondary effects are fire due to fuel spillage from ruptured fuel lines and tanks problems, and to friction, floor distortions, door/hatch seat separation, and debris due to the distortion and breaks of the fuselage as a result of ground contact. In 67% of the accidents all gear separated or collapsed, while in 22% only the main gear separated or collapsed, and in 9% only the nose gear separated or collapsed and in 2% the nose gear and one main gear separated or collapsed.

Gear separation or collapse was involved in tank rupture in 17 cases of lower surface tear, 12 cases of wing breaks, 14 cases of wing box tear, and 4 cases of tank leakage. This fuel spillage resulted in 42 fires. Thus gear separation or collapse is a factor in 64% of the fires that occurred when the landing gear participated in the accident. Using small, medium, and large as the degree of involvement, the gear was a large factor in 26 of the 42 fires, a medimum factor in 4 of the fires, and a small factor in 12. With respect to fatalities, there were 28 accidents with fire related fatalities and 24 accidents with trauma deaths.

Lower fuselage crush occurred in 53 accidents with gear separation being a large factor in 37 cases. Lower fuselage crush has a secondary effect on door/hatch jamming, on separation of seats, and on cabin interior debris. Gear separation was a large factor in 9 cases of fuselage breaks. For 15 accidents in which the gear was known to be retracting or in the stowed position, there are ony 5 cases where having gear extended may have prevented the crash. These cases mostly involve extensive slide-out, but occurred during aborted takeoffs or flight activities for which the gear is normally retracted.

From the above discussion it may be concluded that development of gear more tolerant to conditions that cause separation would result in some increase in crashworthiness. Further, when separation does occur, the wing box should not tear open.

Water Entry

Accidents in which aircraft impact on water involve special hazards. In air to surface accidents involving impact in water, 46.3% of the occupants drowned. In 11 of the 16 water accidents water was an important factor in survivability. These 11 cases are reviewed.

Water entry accidents of concern appear to have some common factors. First, they usually occur at night. Second, there is usually a relatively rapid loss of flotation resulting in a portion or all of the aircraft sinking. Third, while there has been confusion, most occupants have been able to evacuate the aircraft. Finally, many of the drowning fatalities occur after the occupants have left the aircraft.

Assessment of the water entry accidents is shown in figure A7. The accidents are divided into two groups: high-energy impact and slide/roll into the water. There are eight high-energy accidents, and three cases where the aircraft rolled or slid into the water. For all of these accidents the fuselage experienced either lower surface crush or had one or more breaks. In all the higher energy impacts there was a loss of floation attributed primarily to fuselage damage. While tank rupture resulted in some loss of buoyancy, the major effect of tank rupture was to expose occupants to fuel (chemical) burns and to make everything slippery.

Six water entry accidents in which the fuselage broke into several pieces (fuselage break, A7) had fatalities (36.8% of those persons onboard). In five of these accidents one section of the fuselage sank rapidly: some of the passengers and crew probably were ejected or fell into the sea without benefit of survival gear and others were trapped inside. other fuselage sections floated briefly, allowing The evacuation into rafts or floating slides. In other accidents the fuselage sections floated briefly, but 84% of those onboard drowned. Survivor reports indicated that in at least two accidents, interior and carry-on debris blocked evacuation routes and in two other accidents some exit doors were jammed. In another, the passenger compartment floor was displaced upward restricting evacuation.

Touchdown in deep water or rolling into deep water at high speed caused the lower surface of the fuselage to be torn or ruptured but the fuselage did not break (lower fuselage crush, A7). Three of these four lower fuselage crush accidents resulted in extensive lower surface damage and the aircraft sank rapidly. All three were fatal accidents with 18.1% of persons onboard being fatalities. One accident resulted in moderate damage to the lower surface as the aircraft rolled into water and came to rest on its gear with the water level at or slightly above the cabin floor. There were no fatalities. However, in these accidents the aircraft floated at least 5 minutes and in most cases 10 to 20 minutes, thus allowing adequate time to escape. In three of the four accidents it was established that the onboard rafts and floating slides were not used.

The floor system was known to be disrupted in six of the eight high energy water entry accidents. Disruption was due in part to the hydrodynamic forces of water entering the fuselage underside through breaks in the fuselage. A part of this disruption resulted in displacement and elevation of floor beams with subsequent separation of seats, which contributed to problems in the evacuation of the aircraft. In addition, doors were jammed and debris from cabin interior systems was present.

Accidents where aircraft skidded or rolled into water experienced similar damage as the high energy impact, but to a lesser degree,

However, close proximity of land substantially reduced drowning. The 15 drownings in the DC-8 Rio de Janeiro accident (table 8) were attributed to disorientation of the occupants after they evacuated the aircraft and to improper use of flotation devices. After the DC-9 St. Croix accident (table 8), a special study (ref. 25) was made by the NTSB on water ditching. Here, even though it was known that ditching was inevitable, 23 occupants drowned. There were problems with life rafts, life vests, and seat belts. Other problems with this equipment were encountered in the DC-8 Los Angeles accident (table 8). It is felt that the incidence of drowning could be substantially reduced by better location of life rafts. For instance, placement of rafts above the exits with external access might provide better accessibility.

It can therefore be concluded that in deep water entry accidents in which the fuselage does not break, the survivor rate should be very high with proper crew response/actions using available equipment. Improved crashworthiness might also be obtained by increasing the resistance of the fuselage to breaks and by increasing the resistance of the lower fuselage to water penetration.

Seat Collapse

Seats interface with the occupant and with the structure to which they are attached. Three basic types of seats are of concern: crew seats, flight attendant jumpseats, and the double and triple bench Crew seats are single seats that are for passengers. seats. mechanically adjustable to conform to pilot preference and are attached to the cockpit floor structure. A combination shoulder and lap belt restrain the occupant. Flight attendants' jumpseats may be single or double units attached to a bulkhead and mechanically folded or retracted when not in use. These seats support vertical loads, with the restraint harness transmitting side and longitudinal loads to the structure. Passenger seats are attached to floor tracks and in some designs to the fuselage sides. Floor tracks are attached to the floor structure or to pallets attached to the floor structure. The passenger is restrained by means of a lap belt.

(a) Seat/Structure Interface - For the interaction of seats with structure, no distinction is made for types of seats, but two interactions are of concern with the structure--the effect of a fuselage break and the distortion of the floor. In a fuselage break, seats may be ejected through the break, or may simply separate from a broken floor track. In floor distortion, seats may separate from the track, or may be elevated.

The potentially most lethal of these interactions is ejection through the fuselage break. Survival of the occupant is a matter of chance, depending on many factors such as velocity of ejection, nature of impact area, and the orientation of the occupant at impact. Further, the ejected occupant may be in an area that is exposed to fire or is overrun by the advancing aircraft. Seats located in the vicinity of a fuselage break may be subject to high acceleration pulses due to the redistribution of the stored strain energy as the structure breaks. This frequently results in the separation of the seats due to rupture of seat tracks, seat track attachments or seat structure. Separated seats may then shift position and cause injury or hinder the egress of the occupant.

Seat dislocation caused by floor distortion may be due to separation or to elevation of the seat. Separation may force the occupant into contact with interior objects and may hinder egress. Floor elevation may block egress routes such as over-wing escape hatches, may hinder the occupant in exiting from the seat, or may force contact with the cabin interior. For crashworthiness, it is desirable to keep seats attached in place, and to maintain a survivable volume for the occupant.

There are 48 accidents with identified interactions and another 21 accidents to which probable interactions were assigned. Assessment of these accidents is shown in figure A8. Fuselage break has resulted in 15 certain and two probable accidents where one or more occupant was ejected through the break. Separation of some seats at the break with the seats remaining in the aircraft occurred in 30 accidents with probable occurrence in at least 13 other cases. Seat separation due to floor or fuselage side distortion occurred in 19 accidents with probable occurrence in 5 other cases. Elevation of the seat without separation occurred in 14 accidents with 4 other probable occurrences. Seat detachment (separation) is generally associated with loss of structural integrity due to destruction of the fuselage shell, fuselage breaks, and to extreme distortion of the structure. Detachment may occur if all the seat legs or attachment fittings rupture or if the seat tracks rupture. indicates that a more compliant seat/floor substructure to This accommodate distortion might be more beneficial than an increase in seat strength criteria.

(b) Seat/Restraint System - The discussion of seat/restraint system performance in survivable crashes is presented in two parts. The first part includes those accidents in which some injuries might be related to seat strength performance and in which seat/restraint performance were cited by the accident investigation team. The second part includes serious accidents in which the seat/restraint performance was not cited and in which no injuries that might be related to seat strength occurred.

Thirty-one accidents were found in which seat performance was mentioned in NTSB reports. A detailed review of these accidents indicated that the seats provided some protection to the occupant depending upon the crash loads. The current study drew upon NTSB accident reports and special studies, NTSB Human Factors Factual Reports, NTSB Public Hearing Dockets, and the manufacturers accident files for each accident. A separate FAA study (ref. 26) also treats NTSB data, and includes FAA Civil Air Medical Institute (CAMI) data but does not include the manufacturers files.

For engineering purposes it is necessary to relate seat performance to injury. To do this it was necessary to review the Human Factors Factual Reports and, in some instances, survivor testimony. The NTSB statistical category, "Serious Injury", used in NTSB Accident Reports does not necessarily identify actual physical injury nor relate injury mechanisms to injury. Accident victims who are hospitalized for 48 hours for medical observation, legal considerations, or other reasons are listed as serious injuries even if there is no treatment. An immediate improvement in crashworthiness statistics could be obtained simply by using a more accurate definition of serious injury.

In the accident review in ref. 26, investigators did not identify a single trauma fatality caused by lack of seat strength or seat attachment structure strength. It is recognized that such identification is difficult because of incomplete knowledge of local crash dynamics, fatal injury mechanisms, and survivor testimony. Also, postcrash fire frequently consumes necessary evidence. There are limited, though subjective, indications where an increase in attachment strength may have provided some benefit. For instance, one passenger in the 727 St. Thomas accident (table 8) was ejected in his seat through a fuselage break and died of trauma injuries. This seat was located in the aircraft in the region of fuselage rupture.

It can be observed that injuries are sustained in deforming of The cases discussed in ref. 19 involved serious injury caused seats. by seat/restraint system crash behavior. Of the twenty-nine accidents involving seat citations, twenty-six also involved a hull loss, 19 involved fire, 22 involved at least one fuselage break, 14 involved severe floor distortion, and 4 involved water impact. Seat-related to the head, spine, chest, and pelvis are of concern, although injuries of these types may arise from a variety of other causes. In ref. 19, these injuries are reported the flight deck crew and passengers, while spine and pelvis injuries are reported for flight attendants. There are eight accidents in which flight attendants suffered spinal injuries while seated. In the DC-8 Anchorage accident, one injury occurred when the seat retracted from under the attendant during upward acceleration causing the attendant to fall to the floor. The remaining injuries occurred with the flight attendants in the seat. Two flight attendants had spinal and pelvic injuries in the high longitudinal deceleration 727 JFK accident on June 24, 1975, even though there was no damage to the seat/restraint system. Most of these citations involve instances of seat collapse or partial collapse due to rupture of a hinge, seat attachment fitting, or of the supporting mechanism. The injuries sustained did not cause loss of mobility in most cases.

Four accidents are of concern in accident performance of the flight deck seats. In the DC-8 Portland accident, the right side of the cockpit experienced loss of survivable volume due to impacting a large diameter tree (of the cockpit occupants, only the Captain survived). The First and Second Officer's seats separated while the Captain's seat was attached but was loose and had some seat pan deformation.

For commercial jet transport aircraft, there is little evidence of seat separation with subsequent "stacking" in the forward section of the aircraft. Two exceptions to this are the DC-9 St. Croix accident (table 8) where three double seats stacked due to the impact of some passengers who did not use their lap belts; and the 737 Midway accident (table 8) where two triple seats (rows 14 and 15 A, B, and C) stacked due to severe structural damage to the fuselage in that area. The more severe injuries occur in the vicinity of fuselage breaks and areas of extreme fuselage distortion. This might be expected since these are locations of very high loadings and areas where the airplane structure has lost its ability to protect the occupants.

For a more definitive discussion of individual accident cases relative to seat/restraint system performance see refs. 19, 20, and 21. An overall assessment of seat/restraint system performance, as stated in ref. 21, is:

> "The performance of seats with regard to protecting occupants during an accident is generally good provided the structural integrity of the fuselage shell and supporting floor structure is maintained. The most vulnerable area for seat failure appears to be at the attachment to the floor. While seats exhibit desirable deformation characteristics in the process of failing there is little quantitative data available with regard to load vs. stroke Presently, characteristics. static tests are performed to determine strength. The current static requirements appear to account for dynamic effects, possibly because:

> l) seats may have higher strength than is required and,

2) metal support structure has inherent crush capability which provides energy absoprtion in an overload condition". TABLE 1. - SUMMARY OF ACCIDENT INJURY LEVELS AS A FUNCTION OF AIRPLANE WEIGHT CLASS (BASED ON REDUCED NUMBER OF STRUCTURAL-RELATED ACCIDENTS)

				1964-11 NI 58 Data
	SEVERIT	Y OF INJURY		Percentage of
Fatal	Serious	Minor/ None	Total	10101
22	11	111	144	42.2
24	17	78	119	34.8
16	6	36	61	18.0
	Ω	11	17	5.0
63	42	236	341	100
18.5	12.3	69.2	100	
a second s	Fatal 22 24 16 1 1 63 63 18.5	SEVERIT Fatal SEVERIT 22 11 22 11 24 17 16 9 1 5 63 42 18.5 12.3	SEVERITY OF INJURY Fatal Serious Minor/ None 22 11 111 111 24 17 78 78 16 9 36 36 1 5 11 78 1 5 236 36 18.5 12.3 69.2	SEVERITY OF INJURY Fatal Serious Minor/ None Total 22 11 111 144 23 17 78 119 24 17 78 119 16 9 36 61 1 5 11 17 1 5 11 17 1 5 11 17 18.5 12.3 69.2 100

TABLE 2. - SUMMARY OF ACCIDENT INJURY LEVELS AS A FUNCTION OF AIRPLANE WEIGHT CLASS (BASED ON REDUCED NUMBER OF STRUCTURAL-RELATED ACCIDENTS)

1964-77 NTSB Data		SEVERI'	TY OF INJURY		
	FATAL	SERIOUS	MINOR/ NONE	TOTALS	% TOTAL
AIRCRAFT DAMAGE Destroyed Substantial Minor/ None	<i>8</i> 00	16 25 1	10 220 6	89 245 7	26 72 2
POST CRASH FIRE OCCURRENCE Yes No Unknown	61 2 0	19 23 0	4 212 0	84 237 0	25 70
1. <u>SEVERE IMPACT</u> A. Controlled Collision B. Uncontrolled Collision C. Undershoot D. Stall	2 4 8 8 3	4 5 1 1	1 8 1 8	28 11 24 7	21
 MODERATE-HIGH SINK SPEED A. Hard Landing B. Gear Collapse C. Wheels Up D. Retracted Gear E. Swerve F. Overshoot 	~~~00~4	000m	24 16 16 16	25 24 25 26 26 26 26 26 26 26 26 26 26 26 26 26	£
111. <u>SYSTEM MALFUNCTION</u> A. Engine Malfunction B. Prop. Rotor Malfunction C. Airframe Failure D. Fire/ Explosion	~ 4	00 M M	27 3 12 15	38 7 19 19	23
IV. <u>CULLISION WITH</u> A. Trees B. Ditches, Fence, Seawall C. App. Lights, Wires D. Obstacles (bldg., auto, etc.)	\$ N O N	0~~0	4 0 10	10 2 0 12 10 2	=
TOTALS	63	747	236	341	8

TABLE 3. - SUMMARY OF ACCIDENT TYPES BY OPERATIONAL MODE (BASED ON REDUCED NUMBER OF STRUCTURAL-RELATED ACCIDENTS)

				1964-77	NTSB Data	
	TAKEOFF	LANDING	TAXI	FLIGHT	TOTALS	.
	Z-Υ-X	*-Y-Z	۰. ۲-۲-۲	• X-Y-Z	τ-Υ-Χ (T)	
 SEVERE IMPACT A. Controlled Collision R. Uncontrolled Collision 	2-0-0	15-4-1 2-1-0		6-0-0 1-0-0	(70) 37-9-24 (28) 23-4-1 (11) 8-2-1	
C. Undershoot D. Stall	0-1-4	4-2-18 2-0-0		5	(11) 0 2 1 (14) 4-2-18 (7) 2-1-4	
11. MODERATE-HIGH SINK SPEED A. Hard Landing B. Coar Collance	V-[-[2-1-24 0-2-23	LL-0-0		(154) 8-12-134 (27) 2-1-24 (42) 1-2-28	
C. Wheels Up Detracted Coar	0-0-1 0-0-1	0-0-15 0-0-15			91-0-0 (21) 91-0-0 (21)	
E. Swerve F. Overshoot	1-1-6	0-0-18 0-0-18 4-6-16	0-1-2		(1c) 0-0-14 (29) 1-2-26 (26) 4-6-16	
 III. SYSTEM MALFUNCTION A. Engine Malfunction B. Prop/Rotor Malfunction 	1-6-9 2-0-2	0-2-2 1-0-1		1-1-16 1-0-0	(80) 8-15-57 (38) 2-9-27 (7) 4-0-3	
C. Airframe Failure D. Fire/Explosion	0-3-1 0-1-1	0-0-3 0-1-4	0-0-3 0-1-3	1-0-5 1-0-7	(16) 1-3-12 (19) 1-3-15	
IV. COLLISION WITH A. Trees B. Ditches Fence Seawall	1 - 3 - ()	5-0-3 1-0-0		1-0-1	(37) 10-6-21 (10) 6-0-4 (5) 2-3-0	
C. App. Lights Wires D. Obstacles (Bldg., Auto)	0-1-0-1	0-2-4	9-0-0	0-0-1	(10) 0-3-7 (12) 2-0-10	
TOTALS	11-18-35	37-21-144	0-2-26	15-1-31	63-42-236	
	(261) (79%)	202 (59%)	28 (8%)	47 (14%)	341	
• $X-Y-Z$ $X = NO. OF ACCIDENT Y = NO. OF ACCIDENTZ = NO. OF ACCIDENT$	S INVOLVING FA	ITALITIES GHEST INJURY IND LY ANAOR NO INJU	DEX IS SEVERE IN URIES WERE SUS	N JURY TAI NED		

(T) = TOTAL NO. OF ACCIDENTS

TABLE 4. - SUMMARY OF ACCIDENT TYPES BY AIRPLANE WEIGHT CLASS, BASED DN REDUCED NUMBER OF STRUCTURAL-RELATED ACCIDENTS

SOKA-77 NITER Data

					BION OCINI / MOAT
		WEIGHT CL	ASS		
DDIMADY ACCIDENT TYDES	8	ပ	٥	ш	•
FRIMART ACCIDENT TTES	Z- Ý- X	X-*-Z	X-*-X	Z-Ÿ-X	(T) X-Y-Z
I. SEVERE IMPACT					(70) 37-9-24
A. Controlled Collision	6-1-1	10-1-0	1-1-0	0-1-0	(28) 23-4-1
B. Uncontrolled Collision	3-0-0	2-2-1	2-0-0	1-0-0	(11) 8-2-1
C. Undershoot	1-0-12	2-2-4	1-0-2		(24) 4-2-18
D. Stall	1-0-3	1-1-1			(7) 2-1-4
II. MODERATE-HIGH SINK SPEED					(154) 8-12-134
A. Hard Landing	1-0-6	1-0-12	0-1-2	0-0-1	(27) 2-1-24
B. Gear Collapse	0-2-17	0-1-13	1-0-8		(42) 1-3-38
C. Wheels Up	0-0-10	0-0-2	1-0-0		(16) 0-0-16
D. Retracted Gear	0-0-11	0-0-3			(14) 0-0-14
E. Swerve	0-1-12	0-1-8	1-0-4	0-0-2	(29) 1-2-26
F. Overshoot	0-2-6	2-3-5	2-1-4	1-0-0	(26) 4-6-16
III. SYSTEM MALFUNCTION					(80) 8-15-57
A. Engine Malfunction	1-3-14	1-2-9	0-3-2	0-1-2	(36) 2-9-27
B. Prop/Rotor Malfunction	3-0-2	1-0-1			(7) 4-0-3
r Airframe Failure	1-1-3	0-0-4	0-1-2	0-1-3	(16) 1-3-12
u. Fire/Explosion	I-0-5	0-0-2	0-2-4	1-1-0	(23) 1-3-15
IV. COLLISION WITH					(37) 10-6-21
A. Irees	3-0-3	3-0-1			(10) 6-0-4
B. Ditches Fence Seawall	0-1-0	1-2-0	1-0-0		(5) 2-3-0
C. App. Lights Wires	0-0-1	0-2-3	0-0-3	0-1-0	(10) 0-3-7
D. Obstacles (Bldg. Auto)	1-0-5	0-0-3	1-0-1	1-0-0	(12) 2-0-10
TOTALS	22-11-111	24-17-78	16-9-36	I-5-1I	341 (3-42-236
	144 (42%)	119 (35%)	61 (18%)	17 (5%)	341
					

Ζ-Υ-Χ•

X = NO. OF ACCIDENTS INVOLVING FATALITIES Y = NO. OF ACCIDENTS IN WHICH HIGHEST INJURY INDEX IS SEVERE INJURY Z = NO. OF ACCIDENTS IN WHICH ONLY MINOR/ NO INJURIES WERE SUSTAINED

(T) = TOTAL NO. OF ACCIDENTS

TABLE 5. - AVERAGE DISTANCE FROM AIRPORT ASSOCIATED WITH ACCIDENT CATEGORIES

DESCRIPTION	AVERAGE DI STANCE FROM AI RPORT (MILES)
HARD LANDING	0.00
CONTROLLED COLLI SION	7.80
UNCONTROLLED COLLI SION	2, 70
UNDER SHOOT	.16
STALL	1.20
COLLISION WITH OBSTACLE (ALL)	(1.50)
a) OFF AIRPORT	2.30
b) AT AIRPORT	0.00
ABORTEJ TAKEOFF	. 13
OVER SHOOT	.11
TABLE & - SUMMARY OF ACCIDENT OCCURRENCE AS A FUNCTION OF PROXIMITY TO AIRPORT

1964-69 NTSB Data	SI	EVERITY OF 1	NJURY	DF ACCIDENT	
LOCATION	FATAL	SERIOUS	MINOR/ NONE	RECORDS	% TOTAL
On airport	12	33	180	225	50. 34
Within: 1/4 Mile	0	2	m	5	1. 12
1/2 Mile	2	1	1	4	. 89
3/ 4 Mile	1	1	1	°	. 67
1 Mile	1	1	ĸ	2	1. 12
2 Miles	2	2	2	6	2.01
3 Miles	2	2	1	5	1. 12
4 Miles	2	0	0	2	. 45
5 Miles	ŝ	0	m	9	1.34
Beyond 5 miles	35	101	24	160	35.79
In traffic pattern unknown	5	Ś	9	16	3.58
Miscellaneous	0	4	m	7	1.57
Totals	68	152	227	447	100.

TABLE 7. - COMPARATIVE COMMARY OF ACCIDENT TYPES BY AIRPLANE WEIGHT CLASS, FOR NTSB AND WORLDWIDE DATA

NTSB 1964-77 Data		WEIGH	T CLASS			
	æ	U U	0	ш,	101	ALS
	χ-Υ-χ	Z-Y-X	Z-Y-X	Z-Y-X	E	Z-Υ-Χ
I. SEVERE IMPACT					(02)	37-9-24
A. Controlled Collision	6-1-1	10-1-0	0-1-2	0-1-0	(28)	23-4-1
B. Uncontrolled Collision	3-0-0	2-2-1	2-0-0	1-0-0	(11)	8-2-1
C. Undershoot	1-0-12	2-2-4	1-0-2		(24)	4-2-18
D. Stall	1-0-3	1-1-1			6	2-1-4
11. MODERATE-HIGH SINK SPEED					(154)	8-12-134
A. Hard Landing	1-0-6	1-0-12	0-1-2	0-0-1	(21)	2-1-24
B. Gear Collapse	0-2-17	0-1-13	1-0-8		(3	1-3-38
C. Wheels Up	0-0-10	0-0-5	1-0-0		(16)	0-0-16
D. Retracted Gear	0-0-11	0-0-3			(14)	0-0-14
E. Swerve	0-1-12	0-1-8	1-0-4	0-0-2	(5 <u>)</u>	1-2-26
F. Overshoot	0-2-6	2-3-5	2-1-4	0-0-1	(26)	4-6-}6
TOTALS	12-6-78	18-11-52	14-3-24	1-1-4	(224)	45-21-158
	96	81	41	Ŷ		
Worldwide 1964-79** Data						
i. SEVERE IMPACT					(210)	115-jh-79
A. Controlled Collision	49-7-24	6-1-6	3-0-4		(100)	58-8-34
B. Uncontrolled Collision	12-2-7	1-1-11	4-0-2		(40)	27-3-10
C. Undershoot	5-3-11	4-0-5	5-1-1	0-0-5	(37)	14-4-19
D. Stall	12-1-13	1-0-3	2-0-0	1-0-0	(33)	16-1-16
II. MODERATE-HIGH SINK SPEED					(450)	18-29-403
A. Hard Landing	1-0-15	0-0-18	1-0-12	0-0-4	(12)	2-0-49
B. Gear Collapse	3-5-92	1-1-36	0-0-11	0-0-3	(152)	4-6-142
C. Wheels Up	0-0-27	0-0-0	0-0-0	9 9 0	(27)	0-0-27
D. Retracted Gear	0-8-28	0-1-14	0-0-4	0-0-5	(27)	0-9-48
E. Swerve	0-8-28	2-1-10	1-1- 5	1-0-0	(88)	8-4-76
F. Overshoot	1-6-30	3-3-19	1-1-0	0-0-2	(22)	4-10-61
TOTALS	88-34-307	28-8-112	16-3-46	1-0-17	(099)	133-45-482
	450	148	65	18		

j

X = No. of accidents involving fatalities

Y = No. of accidents in which highest injury index is severe injury

 \tilde{z} = No. of accidents in which only minorl no injuries were

sustained

•• Thru March 1979 (T) = Total No. of Accidents

ł

1

1

47

Ì

i i

21) TABLE 8. - COMBINED SELECTED ACCIDENT DATA BASE (REF. 19, 20,

ABORTED VET VL-OVERNAM-HIT BLAST FEMEL-CHOISDED ALT DEL VL-DEL VET DEL VEL VEL VERED OF TV-LOVERNAM-HIT STREAM ROLLER AND LOST 44 ENG-FUEL FIRE. XPLOSICIN VEERED OF FUNAN-HIT STREAM ROLLER AND LOST 44 ENG-FUEL FIRE. XPLOSICIN STREAM ROLLER AND LOST 44 ENG-FUEL FIRE. XPLOSICN FIGINE OUT TRATING-VEERED OFF RUNAM-HIT STREAM ROLLER AND LOST 44 ENG-FUEL FIRE. XPLOSICN FIGINE OFT TV 10000 T RATING-VEIRE DOFF RUNAM-HIT STREAM ROLLER AND LOST 44 ENG-FUEL FIRE. XPLOSICN FIGINE OFT TV 10000 TRATING-RT VID STREAM ROLLER AND LOST 44 ENG-FUEL FIRE. XPLOSICN FIGINE OFT RUNAM-HIT DITCH-LOST FRUMAM-HIT DITCH-LOST GEAR. FIGINE OUT RATING FIRE ADDRITO AT V1-OVERRAM-HIT DITCH-LOST PANE SAME DROWING
MAT ABDRITO AT V1-SURRAM-HIT DITCH-BROKE L. WING, FUSELGE-44 LNG. SEP. 1051 POWER AT V1-SLID OFF RUNAMY VINT REES
ABDRITD AT V1-SURRAM-HIT DITCH-BROKE L. WING, FUSELGE-44 LNG. SEP. 1053 POWER AT VR-MHELES AND SEAR-ATC BROKE & SAME DROWING
ABDRITD-HIT DITCH-BROKE LI, WING REES
ABDRITD-OVERRAM-HIT DITCH-BROKE LI, WING, FUSELGE-44 LNG. SEP. 41
ABDRITD-OVERRAM-HIT DITCH-BROKE LI, WING, FUSELGE-44 LNG. SEP. 41
ABDRITD-OVERRAM-HIT ZO FILL HIT RUNAM-VEERED INTO PUJGH TE-REE
ABDRITD-OVERRAM-HIT DITCH-BROKE LI, WING, FUSER-FIRE ADDRITD-OVERRAM-HIT ZO FILL HIT RUNAM-VEERED INTO RULE AND SEAR IN SLIDE OUT RUNAVY-VEERED INTO RULE AND SEAR IN SLIDE OUT RUNAVY-VEERED INTO RULEASAND SEAR IN SLIDE OUT RUNAVY-VEERED INTO RULEA AND RUNAVY USES IN SLIDE OUT RUNAVY-VEERED INTO RULEA AND SURFED AND SEAR IN SLIDE OUT RUNAVY-VEERED INTO RULEASAND SEAR IN SLIDE OUT RUNAVY U Appreach Landing A/C STRUCK BRIDGE ABUTHENT WITH TAIL-IMPACTED INTO WATER, SANK-IGE, SLEET AND SNOW Takecff Climt CRASHED JUST AFTER LIFT OFF-SEVERE LATERAL DIVERGENT OSCILLATIONS WITH RT. WING CAME TO REST IN BAY WATER-274 M OVERRUN TET RUNARY-ALC STOPPED ON THE RUNNARY TIRES BLEW-STOPPED 1222 M SHORT OF DEPARTURE END A/C LEFT RUNNAY INTO SOD-HIT APPROACH LIGHT STRUC.-THROUGH A DITCH. OVER A ROAD Taxi eeces ABORTED AT V1-OVERRAN-HIT BLAST FENCE..CROSSED BLVD-KILLED FLT DECK CREW A/C STALLED-ABORTED WHEELS UP-SEPARATED BOTH ENG-FIRE STARTED LT. WING FWD G.C. PROBLEM-A/C OVERRUN AND BROKE UP LOST POURER-OVERRAM-CRASHED INTO 51 FT DEEP RAVINE DE SCR IPT ION ON THE RUNWAY JNI OND T CHILDRE 3 IBWN FINGTS I JUCKY WAT IMT
 TO
 FIRE
 VES

 TO
 FIRE
 VES
 YES 1 PAR YES YES YES YES YES YES YES PAR YES YES YES PAR YES FIRE FIRE FIRE F IRE F IRE F IRE 222222 2222222 48 20 48 20 No IN 3 0 0 258 0 3 230 0 1 230 0 1 10 6 4 79 74 5 OF VOENO 246 0 5507 7174 ្ឋ x 106 4 x 41 0 x 132 13 x 105 15 x 73 48 47 5 4 0 259 0 259 0 140 0 197 2 197 2 6 0 107 2 126 1 0 00 0 262 33 ³³ 5 36 66 S3 107 **44** 139 45 16 85 107 ANCHORAGE, ALASKA X SAN FRANCISCO, CA X 121778 737 HYDERABAD. INDIA PARIS, ORLY RIO DE JANIERO CHICAGO O'HARE BALTIMORE, MD DC GERONA, SPAIN PHILADELPHIA VCI ADDIS ABABA LOS ANGELES GREENSBORD LAKE TAHDE BANGOR, ME C INC INNAT I SIOUX CITY PRESTWICK TENER IFE ANCHORAGE HONG KONG MIAMI, FL AUCKLAND TEL AVIV CHICAGO HAMBURG DC9 DENVER 707 PRESTMIC 747 TENERIFI DC8 SHANNON DC8 TOKYO SHANNON DC9 TORONTO MUNICH ALASKA BOMBAY DENVER BAC LAKE TV CC1 JFK 880 MIAMI TOKYO MILAN 030178 DC1 LOS AN 052578 880 MIAMI ROMF ΤF (a) Takeoff 070466 DC8 / 082666 980 110667 707 0110667 707 0110567 880 1122768 DC9 032168 727 011469 BAC N CMT 202 202 DC9 DC9 Takeoff 737 DC8 CL44 707 707 122668 707 091372 707 062073 DC8 032774 DC8 DC8 082062 0C8 707 12364 112770 071970 113070 U30573 121773 111275 011961 060362 071970 020970 122072 121676 111676 031777 062678 082775 011677 041772 081372 020975 072761 012371 032777 041877 100277 (P)

011383

:

HAMPERED RESCUE OPERATIONS

N = 42

** This accident was added later and data used in the present paper. Sew

TABLE 8. - CONTINUED



i

49

ļ

t

1 . .

i

TABLE 8. - CONTINUED

(a) Takeoff (c) Clamb (c) Approach (d) Landing (d) Taxi	 ALIT TREES-FWD FUSCLAGE DESTROYE / AN 5.6 FIRE-HIT RALLRADD TRACKS-LOST GEAR ED HILL IN LEFT TURN-SURVIVORS EVECTED DEE UP DEE UP DEE ANINOR SEMALL-SURVIVORS EVECTED ELGHTS AND SEMALL-SURVIVORS EVECTED ELGHTS AND SEMALL-SURVIVORS EVECTED ELGHTS AND GEAR-HIT SEVERAL HOUSES-FIRE ALLED-WING TANKS RUPTURED-FIRE ALLED-WING TANKS RUPTURED-FIRE ALLED-WING TANKS RUPTURED-FIRE ALLED-WING TANKS RUPTURED-FIRE ALLED-WING TANKS RUPTURED-FIRE ALLED-WING TANKS RUPTURED-FIRE C FUSELAGE BROKE-A/C BROKE UP AND BUGHTEL ENDER TREES-A/C BROKE UP AND BUGHTEL MOINTS AND GEAR-HIT DRUWHED DS-LOST GEAR AND SURVIDURS FULL ENA-FIRE OTSINTEGATED IN SLIDE OUT-FIRE DISINTEGATED AND BURNED E CLU WITH TREES-A/C BROKE UP-FIRE DISINTEGATED AND BURNED DISINTEGATED AND BURNED DISINTEGATED AND BURNED DISINTEGATED AND BURNED STATED AND BURNED DISINTEGATED AND BURNED STATED AND BURNED DISINTEGATED AND BURNED STATED AND BURNED DISINTEGATED AND BURNED SAUTED AND BURNED SAUTED AND BURNED DISINTEGATED AND BURNED SAUTED AND BURNED TREES-A/C BROKE UP-FIRE DISINTEGATED AND BURNED TREES-A/C BROKE UP-FIRE C FEW TRAPPED IN COUNT TREES-A/C BROKE DISINTEGATED AND BURNED ANEGRATED AND BURNED AND DISCHTANS RUTUES-FUND FUSELAGE RANKE FIRE AND DISCHTA-TANS RUTUES-FUND FUSELAGE RANKED AND DISCHTA-TANS RUTUES, FUSELAGE RANKED AND DISCHTA-TANS RUTUES, FUSELAGE RANKED AND DISCHTA-TANS RUTUES-FUND FUSELAGE RANKED AND DI	PACI-141. BLUG
DESCRIPTION	ATTEMPTED C-XSH LOG IN RTVER INTERPATED C-XSH LOG IN RTVER SHORT-HIT TREES, TANKS RUPTU HIGH RATE OF DESCENT-IMPACTE HIGH RATE OF DESCENT-IMPACTE WINDSHEAR-A/C HIT APPROACH I CANDED IN DRY LAKE BED-HIT 3 ADD SDIL-SEPARAT LANDED IN DRY LAKE BED-HIT 3 SHORT.HIT TREES, HAUN BUDSE TO SHORT.HIT TREES, HOUSE TO SHORT.HIT TREES, HOUSE TO SHORT.HIT TREES, HOUSE TO SHORT.HIT TREES, HOUSE TO HIGH RATE OF DESCENT-LOST FR MINDSHEAR-HILD IMPACT ON HIL SHORT.HIT TREES, HOUSE TO SHORT.HIT TREES, HOUSE TO CHICK BROKE UP-A/C SHORT.HIT TREES, HOUSE TO HIGH RATE OF DESCENT-LOST FR MINDSHEAR-HILD IMPACT ON HIL SHORT.HIT TREES, HOUSE TO CHICK SANTA MONICA BAY-A/C IMPACT SHORT. IN SHOLLOW LAKE HIT HILL-SURVIVORS EJECTED MINDSHEAR-HILD IMPACT SAND IMPACT SHORT. IN SHOLLOW LAKE CHIT TREES, HOUSE SAND IMPACT SHORT. IN SHOLLOW LAKE A/C HIT TREES, HOUSE SAND IMPACT SHORT. LINES, JIPPACTIS SHORT.HIT TREES, HOUSE SAND IMPACT SHORT.LINES, JIPPACTIS SHORT.HIT TREES, HOUSE SAND IMPACT SHORT.LINES, JIPPACTIS SHORT.HIT TREES, HOUSE SAND IMPACT SHORT.LINES, JIPPACTIS A/C HIT TREES, LOAS WALLANT A/C HIT TREES.LOST BOIN HIM A/C HIT TREES.LOST BOIN HIM A/C HIT TREES.LOST BONH NIM A/C HIT TREES.LOST BONH NIM A/C HIT TREES.LOST BONK IN WATER-FI IMPACTED NON HIGHAP-HIT TREES.AND IMPACTED NON HIGHAP-HIT TREES.LOST CANSHED ON RUBBER PLANTATION IMPACTED MONT IN PACTED MONT IN WATER FILL A/C HIT TREES.LOST BONK IN WATER-FILL A/C HIT TREES.LOST BONK IN WATER FILL A/C HIT TREES.LOST BONK IN WATER-FILL A/C HIT TREES.LOST BONK IN WATER IN TREES.LOST BANDER A-HIT PROFACT-F	MIRODREARSEARD FAIL USMN 100
1475 ° 1 44	441 444 444 444 444 444 444 444 444 444	
, Edwy	A DYPUT A CONTRACT	Ľ Ľ
140 341 J	A A A A A A A A A A A A A A A A A A A	147
(N, *+3,),),	α τατά τα	-
10 J J J	0~~~048004777777777777777777777777777777	3
CHE AL	A C C C C C C C C C C C C C C C C C C C	n
*50, *40	8000 1000 1000 1000 1000 1000 1000 1000 1000 1000 1000 1000 1000 1000 1000 1000 1000 1000 1000 1000 1000 1000 1000 1000 1000 1000 1000 1000 1000 1000 1000 1000 1000 1000 1000 1000 1000 1000 1000 1000 1000 1000 1000 1000 1000 1000 1000 1000 1000 1000 1000 1000 1000 1000 1000 1000 1000 1000 1000 1000 1000 1000 1000 1000 1000 1000 1000 1000 1000 1000 1000 1000 1000 1000 1000 1000 1000 1000 1000 1000 1000 1000 1000 1000 1000 1000 1000 1000 1000 1000 1000 1000 1000 1000 1000 1000 1000 1000 1000 1000 1000 1000 1000 1000 1000 1000 1000 1000 1000 1000 1000 1000 1000 1000 1000 1000 1000 1000 1000 1000 1000 1000 1000 1000 1000 1000 1000 1000 1000 1000 1000 1000 1000 1000 1000 1000 1000 1000 1000 1000 1000 1000 1000 1000 1000 1000 1000 1000 1000 1000 1000 1000 1000 1000 1000 1000 1000 1000 1000 1000 1000 1000 1000 1000 1000 1000 1000 1000 1000 1000 1000 1000 1000 1000 1000 1000 1000 1000 1000 1000 1000 1000 1000 1000 1000 1000 1000 1000 1000 1000 1000 1000 1000 1000 1000 1000 1000 1000 1000 1000 1000 1000 1000 1000 1000 1000 1000 1000 1000 1000 1000 1000 1000 1000 1000 1000 1000 1000 1000 1000 1000 1000 1000 1000 1000 1000 1000 1000 1000 1000 1000 1000 1000 1000 1000 1000 1000 1000 1000 1000 1000 1000 1000 1000 1000 1000 1000 1000 1000 1000 1000 1000 1000 1000 1000 1000	2
(c) Approach	 (10) 959 707 050, WASHINGTON (20) 255 770 050, WASHINGTON (20) 255 770 CAIRO (20) 2565 771 CUMMAIT (20) 2565 771 CUMMAIT (20) 2565 771 CUMMAIT (20) 2565 721 CUMON (20) 2565 721 CUMON (20) 2565 727 CULCUTTA (20) 2565 727 CULCUTA (20) 2565 727 CULCUTA (20) 257 720 MANU (20) 257 720 MANU (20) 257 720 MANU (20) 257 720 MANU (20) 200, MASS. (20) 2137 727 058 MANUA (20) 2137 727 058 MANUA (20) 200, MASS. (21) 257 28 MALMACA (22) 21 MANU (20) 21 MAN	

w

TABLE 8 CONTINUED	C A DEC CONTRACT C A DEC C A DEC C A DEC C A DE DEC C	 B 315 AP FIRE PR EW >10 M/SEC-FWD SECTION TELESCOPED-SURVIVORS WERE IN MID AND AFT COMPYTS A/S FLEW IND MILL A/C LANDED-61 M SHORT B 30 0 APP FIRE PAR A/C LANDED-61 M SHORT B 20 11 APP FIRE PAR A/C CUT THROUGH TREES AND CAME TO REST INVERTED POSITION BFORE PROSIFION BFORE STRIKING WALE 2 11 APP FIRE PAR A/C CUT THROUGH TREES AND CAME TO REST INVERTED POSITION FWD (RUDS A/S FLEW INFORM SLE 763 H) FROM ALPORT 2 2 31 APP FIRE PAR A/C CUT THROUGH TREES AND CAME TO REST INVERTED POSITION PROGRESSED-OCCURRED 753 H) FROM ALPORT 2 31 APP FIRE PAR A/C CUT THROUGH TREES AND CAME TO REST INVERTED PROGRESSED-OCCURRED 753 H) FROM ALPORT 2 31 APP FIRE PAR A/C CUT THROUGH TREES AND CAME TO REST INVERTED PROGRESSED-OCCURRED 753 H) FROM ALPORT 2 31 APP FIRE PAR A/C CUT THROUGH TREES AND CAME TO REST INVERTED PROGRESSED-OCCURRED 753 H) FROM ALPORT 2 4 4 A APP FIRE PAR A/C CRASHED IN AKE OF DC-10-MNSURVITAL FOR CORFIT CABIN COMPTT INTERTITY MAINTAINED-A/C INVERTED CY RUMAAY 2 4 4 A APP FIRE PAR 3 APP FIRE PAR 4 4 0 APP FIRE PAR 4 5 APP FIRE PAR 4 5 APP FIRE PAR 4 4 0 APP FIRE PAR 4 5 APP FIRE PAR 4 5 APP FIRE PAR 4 5 APP FIRE PAR 4 6 APP FIRE PAR 4 7 APP FIRE PAR 4 7 APP FIRE PAR 4 8 6 APP FIRE PAR 4 8 6 APP FIRE PAR 4 8 6 APP FIRE PAR 4 9 APP FIRE PAR 	DESCRIPTION	<pre>10 UD FIRE YE HORD INFOCACIONS FALLED LOST DOD TANKS-FIRE TRAINING. 112 0 UD FIRE YE HORDAULTS FALLED AND VEREBUO FIR NUMAR-HIT FRUCK-LOST ALL GEAR, FAG. 1.2,4-6/AMED 112 0 2 UD FIRE YE HORDAULTS FALLED AND VEREBUO FIR NUMAR-HIT FRUCK-LOST ALL GEAR, FAG. 1.2,4-6/AMED 113 0 2 UD FIRE YE HORDAULTS FALLED AND VEREBUO FIR NUMAR-HIT FRUCK-LOST ALL GEAR, FAG. 1.2,4-6/AMED 1240 7 UD YE YE HORDAULTS FALLED AND VEREBUO FIR NUMAR-HIT FRUCK-LOST ALL GEAR, FAG. 1.2,4-6/AMED 1240 7 UD YE YE HORDAULTS FALLED AND VEREBUO FIRE NUMAR-HIT FRUCK-LOST ALL GEAR, FAG. 1.2,4-6/AMED 1240 7 UD YE YE YE HORDAULTS FALLED AND VEREBUO FIRE NUMAR-FILE TANKS LEAKED 1240 7 UD YE YE YE HORDAULTS HONSTON BASIN 1240 2 UD YE YE YE YE HORDAULTS HONSTON BASIN 1250 1 UD YE YE YE YE HORDAULTS HONSTON BASIN 1250 2 UD FIRE YE YE HORDAULTS HONSTON BASIN 1260 2 UD YE /pre>
	SSO, DERU	×××××××××××××××××××××××××××××××××××××		860-1000 2000 2000 2000 2000 2000 2000 200
	(c) Approach (continued)	042266 L-188 ARDHC3E, OK 080768 727 80510M 122468 CV580 BRADFORD, PA 122468 CV580 BRADFORD, PA 100270 H4040 S1LVER PLUME, CO 050771 CV440 NEW HAVEN, CT 050771 CV440 NEW HAVEN, CT 053072 EPG FORT HORTH, TX 072373 FH227 ALBAN, NY 072373 FH227 ALBAN, NY 072373 FH227 S1 LOUIS, MO 072373 FH227 S1 LOUIS, MO 072375 FC ALBAN, NY 072373 FH227 S1 LOUIS, MO 072077 CV240 MS N = 59	(d) Landing	022060 CMT BUENOS ATRES 071161 DC8 DENVER 051161 DC8 DENVER 05151 707 LT500N 052761 CVL BRASSILA 032564 CVL BRASSILA 031864 BAC MISLEV. ENG. 031864 BAC MISLEV. ENG. 031265 BAC TS SALT LAKE CITY 070165 707 KANSAS CITY 072265 BAD ITL JAKE CITY 072265 BAD ATLANE CITY 022265 BAD ATLANE CITY 022865 CMT ROME 032868 DCB ATLANE CITY 022865 CMT ROME 032869 DCB ATLANE CITY 022865 CMT ROME 032869 DCB ATLANE CITY 022865 CMT ROME 032869 DCB ATLANE CITY 032868 DCB ATLANE CITY 032869 DCB ATCON, CA 0321170 DCB JFK 0251170 DCB JFK 031570 DCB JFK 03550 DCB JFK 0550

	 (a) Takeoff (b) Climp (c) Approac (d) Landing (e) Taxi 	S RUNWAY NG FIRE-FUEL LEAN AS STATIGN-FUSELAGE BROKE-FIRE AS STATIGN-FUSELAGE BROKE-FIRE AS STATIGN-FUSELAGE BROKE-FIRE FUEL SPILL-SURVIVORS SUECTED WING & NOSED DOWN NING & NOSED DOWN I. LMLG COLLASLD-MIMOR FIRE 1. LMLG COLLASLD-MIMOR FIRE 1. LMLG COLLASLD-MIMOR FIRE	LE TO THE RUNMAY CNETRATING A METAL BLG-100 M UVERRUN		52 4	DOWN PRIOR TO ETACEATION
LE 8 CONCLUDED	Purities Purities Purities Printies DESCRIPTION	INAUVERTAMI SPOILER DEPLOYMENT-HARD LANDIN A/C HIT APPROACH LIGHTS-LDG. & GEARS OVE RUN-WARD LANKER BLG. OVE RUN-WARD DOWN IMPACT-NO FLARE LONG AND FAST-WENT THROUGH 2 EKICK WALLS OVERRUN-HIT ILS-DITCH CONG RAND-HIT TLS-DITCH OVERRUN-HIT ILS-DITCH OVERRUN-HIT TLS-DITCH OVERRUN-HIT TLS-DITCH OVERRUN-HIT TREES SHORT-LOST GEAR, ENGSLEFT HING SEP. OVERRUN-HENT DOWN SLOPF, CROSSED ROAD-HIT WHELS UP-TRAIL FIRST-SLID OFF RUNMAY OVERRUN-SLID DOWN 750 EMBANYTENT-HIT BRIDG WHEELS UP-TRAIL FIRST-SLID OFF RUNMAY OVERRUN-SLID DOWN 750 EMBANYTENT-HIT BRIDG VERRUN-HIT ILS TOWER FRANNENT HHELS UP-DID NOT SHUT OFF FUEL VALVE OVERRUN-HIT ILS TOWER-TRAINING OVERRUN-HIT DITCH HHELS UP-DID NOT SHUT OFF FUEL VALVE OVERRUN-HIT DITCH IMPACTED LDG-ATTEMPTED GO ROUND-A/C HIT LT. OVERRUN-HIT ILS TOWER-TRAINING OVERRUN-HIT DITCH IMPACTED LEVEL-BROKE UP AND SANK-PAX DROWNI HIT HARD AND BOUNCED-HOSE GEAR COLLAPED OVERRUN-HIT VEH., SEP. HIG-AIRBORNE-HIT I	SLID OFF RUNMAY-YAWING TO LEFT, © 100° ANGI ENCOUNTERED RAISED SIDEWALK-CAME TO REST PI	DESCRIPTION	GEAR COLLAPSED-WING HIT GRD-FIRE SLIDE BACKWARDS OFF RUNWAY-HIT BANK COLLISION WITH KLM 747-WING RUPTURE-FUSELA CRUSHED-FIRE	A/C HAD 2 FLAT LNG GEAR TIRE-ENG. NOT SHUT
TAB		128 0 8 LDG FIRE VES x 151 0 3 LDG FIRE VES x 57 0 3 LDG FIRE VES x 57 0 3 LDG FIRE VES x 57 0 3 LDG FIRE VES x 53 0 3 LDG FIRE VES x 52 57 LDG FIRE VES x 373 0 1 LDG FIRE VES x 57 1 2 CG FIRE VES x 373 0 1 LDG FIRE VES x 13 LDG FIRE PAR VAT x 19 LDG FIRE PAS x 10 D DG FIRE PAS x 13 D DG FIRE PAS x 13 D DG FIRE	92 0 4 LDG YES 119 0 0 LDG YES		X 96 15 ? TAX FIRE VES 121 0 2 TAX X 396 334 62 TAX FIRE PAR	X 347 0 8 TAX FIRE YES
	(d) Landing (continued)	062373 DC8 JFK 121773 DC1 BOSTON 121973 707 NEW DELHI 122373 CVL MANAUS, BRAZIL 011674 707 LOS ANGELES 091174 727 PORTO ALEGRE, BRAZIL 033175 737 CASPER, WYO. 092475 F28 PALENBANG 010276 DC1 ISTANBUL 040576 727 KETCHIKAN 042776 727 ST. THOMAS, V.I. 042775 727 ST. THOMAS, V.I. 042775 727 ST. THOMAS, V.I. 042775 727 ST. THOMAS, V.I. 022376 DC9 PHILADELPHIA 1111777 747 JFK 021118 737 CHARLROI, BELGIUM 0111777 747 JFK 021118 737 CHARLROI, BELGIUM 010078 BAC ROCHESTER 1111777 747 DALC 040278 737 CHARLROI, BELGIUM 070978 BAC ROCHESTER 122378 DC9 PALERMO, ITALY 070978 DC8 PALERMO, ITALY 070978 DC8 PALERMO, ITALY 070978 DC8 CHARLROI, BELGIUM 070978 DC8 CHARLROI, BELGIUM 070978 DC8 CHARLROI, BELGIUM 070079 DC8 ATHERS 100779 UC8 ATHERS 100779 UC8 ATHERS	(d) Landing 060868 727 SALT LAKE CITY 081269 DC9 VIRGIN ISLANDS, V.I. N = 59	(e) Taxi	031574 CVL TEHRAN, IRAN 121675 747 ANCHORAGE 032777 747 TENERIFE (e) Taxi	090172 747 JFK

_1

ť

1

•

N = 4

TABLE 9. - ACCIDENT DATA BASE SUMMARY; REF. 19

	CASES	20
TOTAL ACCIDENTS	153	100.0
FOREIGN	16	59.5
U. S. AND POSSESSIONS	62	40.5
HULL LOSS	133	87
FATALITIES OR SERIOUS INJURY	119	78
FIRE	103	67
FIRE CAUSED FATALITIES	57	37
TRAUMA CAUSED FATALITIES	55	35
DROWNING	10	9
SPECIAL	4	2.6
TRAUMA CAUSED SERIOUS INJURIES	92	60
FIRE/ SMOKE CAUSED SERIOUS INJURIES	46	30

. _1

ر (

0
—
•••
<u></u>
10
2
-
L .1
$\boldsymbol{\omega}$
-
جار.
8
-
~
\checkmark
$\tilde{\mathbf{a}}$
<u> </u>
—
Z
~
$\boldsymbol{\Box}$
_
$\boldsymbol{\circ}$
$\overline{\sim}$
Q
\checkmark
\sim
Ļ
<u> </u>

\mathbf{C}
111
5.4
S
1
-
Ö
1
_
æ
4
2

- **

		(a) Taxeoff (b) Climb (c) Approach (c) Approach
(a) Takeoff	A A A A A A A A A A A A A A A A A A A	DESCRIPTION (e) Taxe
DITAGI DER JEK	X 106 4 2 TO FIRE PAR	ARORTED AT VI-DVERDAN-MIT RIAST FENCE-CROSSED RIVD-KII.EIJ E:T DECK CREW
072761 707 HAMRIIDG	K 41 0 10 10 FIRE YES	VERED OFF RUMAY SEPARATED GEAR
DK()3K2 707 PARIS, OPLY	X 132 130 2 TO FIRE UDF	OVERRUN-RRAKE FIRE-LMG SEPFIRE LT WING-RMG SEPP2 :ND SEPTHR. BLG
UNCUDA DUE RIO DE JANIERO	X 105 15 ? TO YES WAT	ABORTED-OVERRUN-LOST THRUST REVERSERS-HIT FENCE, ROAD-ENTER WATER-DROWNINGS
DICASS /U/ KUML	X /3 48 20 10 FIRE YES	ABORTED-VEERED OFF RUNWAY-HIT STREAM ROLLER AND LOST \$4 ENG-FUEL FIRE, EXPLOSION
082666 880 T0KYD	X 5 5 0 TO FIRE YES	ENGINE OUT TRAINING-RE, WING HET GRU-A/C BROKE UP Engine out training-veeren def Rhimuav-mit ditch-idst sear fngines-wing Fire
110667 707 CINCINNATI	X 36 1 2 TO FIRE PAR	ABORTED AT VI-OVERBAN-LOST MAIN GERA-A/C DAMAGED IN SLIDE OUT-WING BREAK-FIRE
110567 abo Hong Kong	X 137 1 7 TO YES WAT	ABORT-VEERED OFF RUNWAY INTO BAY-FUSELAGE BROKE & SANK-CROWNING
122768 DC9 SIOUX CITY	X 66 0 3 TO YES	ABORTED AT VI-SLIDE OFF RUNWAY INTO TREES
03/108 /2/ CMICAGO	X 3 0 1 TO FIRE YES	ABORTED AT VR-DVERRAN-HIT DITCH-BROKE LT. WING, FUSELAGE-#4 EMG. SEP.
DIGTO 232 PHILAN		LOST POWER AT VR-WHEELS UP LDGSLID INTO TREES
112770 DCB ANCHURAGE	X 02 U 1 1U 1ES X 220 47 47 TO FIDEVEC	LOSI POWER-OVERRAN-GEAR FAILED, #1 ENG. SEP, #1 TANK KUR VUKED Abouted wit ditch and antenna Joner and and south one of a south of a
020970 CMT MUNICH	X 23 0 0 10 FIRE VEC	AGORTO-ULT DILLA AND AND ANDENNA JOHKE-AND LOSI PANIS-FUSE, BFUKE -FJKE Abodstoj-ult sense stad side in dilla ult ulture in distributione
071970 BAC GERONA, SPAIN	X 85 0 3 TO YES	NGO TICOTTI TENECTERA SET FILME IN NJ MINU Aron to tenectera set filme frammarka
113070 707 TEL AVIV	X 3 0 0 TO FIRE YES	HIT A/C UNDER TOW-LOST ENGINES AND EAR IN STIDE DU
012371 707 BOMBAY	X 5 0 0 TO FIRE YES	ENGINE OUT TRAINING-LOST POWER-TAIL HIT RUNWAY-VEERED IN D ROUGH TERPAIN
1/20/2 DC9 CHICAGO O'HARE	X 45 10 9 TO FIRE YES	HIT CV880-IMPACTED RUNWAY-SKIDDED 300 FTFIRE IN RUPTURD FUEL LIMES
UMI//2 VLI AUUIS ABABA Abi372 307 354	X 107 43 7 10 FIRE UDF	LOST POWER-ABORTED-OVERRAN- OVER STEEP BANK-HIT ILS TUWER-IMPACTED URD.
030632 707 0FAUCD	186 0 0 10 FIRE YES	ABCRTED-OVERRAN-HIT BLAST FENCE-BPCKE LEFT WING-FIRE
UJUJIJ TUL ULAYEK 121773 Pro Coffwearda		3 ENG FERRY FLT-LT WING HIT GRD-A/C VEERED OFF RUNWAY
DODATS WE WELENDOWD		LUST PORE ABORTED-VEERED OF RUNNAY-LING FULDED-LT WILLG AMK KIPTUR
111275 DC1 JFK	X 139 0 2 TO FIRE YES	HII SHOW BARK-VERKU UFF RUNMAY-KI MING, KMG, NG SEPARAIJU Fngînê dîşinteçratêr-arodtêr-firê al eng-yenî def taximai-dî bing têrî Filî
121676 BBO MIAMI	X 3 0 1 TO YES	FWD CG-ABORTED-OVERRUM-STOPPED IN CANAL
111676 DC9 DENVER	X 85 0 2 TO FIRE YES	STALL AT VR-ABORTED-VEERED OFF RUNWAY-HIT DITCHES AND POLES-TANK RUPTURE
031777 707 PRESTWICK	X 4 D O TO FIRE YES	ENGINE OUT TRAINING-LARGE YAM & ROLL-A/C HIT GRD-SLID OUT LOSING GEAR & ENGINE
132/// /4/ TENERIFE	X 246 246 0 TO FIRE YES	A/C HIT PAA 747-LOST LMG AND #2 ENGHIT RUNWAY AND BURNED
CALET DUCT STARTER	X 259 U 1 1U FIRE YES	WHEEL FAILURE-ABORTED-RT MAIN TANK PUNCTURE-FUEL FEO FIRE
030178 DCI LOS ANGELES	X 147 2 11 10 11 12 14 14 14 14 14 14 14 14 14 14 14 14 14	VELKED OPP RUNWAY-LOST ALL GEAR AND ENGINES Arndited at vi.overdniv.imc.sed diretided tanks
052578 880 MIAMI	X 6 0 0 70 YES	PUDGATES IN FLOURING CHARACTER STATES CONTROL INNA FWD G.C. PROBLEM.A.C. OVERRIIN AND REDAK FLUG
062678 DC9 TORONTO	X 107 2 7 TO PAR	LOST POWER-OVERRAN-CRASHED INTO SI FT DEEP RAVINE
IZI//8 /3/ MYDERABAD, INDIA M: 35	X 126 1 4 TO FIRE YES	A/C STALLED-ABORTED WHEELS UP-SEPARATED BOTH ENG-FIRE STARTED LT WING
2		

-- ...

54

.

TABLE 10. - CONTINUED



TABLE 10. - CONTINUED

(c) Appro	ABCT	*07 ***0 1774	ON THE SECOND	01435	"(NI 149) 7	1, 5m 341	15 - 1 M A	DE SCRIPTION .	Takeoff Climu Approad Landing Taxi
101959 707 082759 CMT	OSO, WASHINGTON ASCUNCION	***	-	5 5 5 5 5 5		M S S	R WAT	ATTEMPTED CRASH LDG IN RIVER-HIT TREES-FWU FUSELAGE DESTROVED INSTRUMENT APPROACH-TOUCHOUGHN 5.5 MILES FROM RUMMY	
050265 720	CAIRO CAIRO	N 125	121	* * *			01	SHURLSHITT HEES, TANKS HUTURE, FIRE-HITT KALIKOBU YAKK FUST & AK HIGH RATE OF DESCENT-IMPACTED HILL IN LEFT TURN-SURVIVONS 5 35CT50 HUMANTED HOMEN THIS AM ADDAVE ADDAVE ADDAVE ADDAVE ADDAVE	
030466 DC8	TOKYO	22 7	83.	₹ 2 5	191	29	Y 1	INTERCITO MOUTO HILL-AVO BRUKE UP WINDSHEAR-A/C HIT APPROACH LIGHTS AND SEAMALL-SURVIYORS EUSCTED	
122466 DC8	KUMAIT MEXICO CITY	x 110	00	8 ≷ 8 ⊗	τ FIR	<u>لياني</u> مرحم		LANDED IN SANDY SOIL-SEPARATED GEAR-MINOR FUEL SPILL LANDED IN DRY LAXE BED-HIT 3FT HIGH ROAD. SHED M.GFUSELAUC BROKE	
021566 CVL	NEW DELMI	X 95	~~~	14 24 24 25	. <u>.</u>			A/C HIT CEMENT PILLAR-GEAR FALLED-WING TANKS RUPTURED-FIR	
030567 008	MONRO''IA	88 	23	≹ຊ `	2 G 2 G 2 G	Z Š	Y 14	JAPALIEU MOODED HILL-A/C BROKE UP HIGH RATE OF DESCENT-LOST ENGINES AND GEAR-HIT SEVERAL HOL,655-FJRE	
063067 CVL	HDNG KONG	83	2,	2 S	م د د	ί, κ	S WAT	SHORT, IN WATER, MOSE UP-A/C FUSELAGE BROKE A/C SANK-PAX L&OWNED	
021668 727	TAIPEI	4 X	ۍ ۲°	\$ \$}	2 <u>6</u> 2 <u>6</u>	ig g	5 14	SMORT-MER MEES AND MOUSE TUPS-LUST BEAR AND 3 EMBINES-FUEL LEAR FIRE SMORT-MIT TREES, FARM MOUSE, MORE TREES-A/C BROKE UP AND BUBNED	
080268 008	MILUN 100000	X 95	22	~ ₹	P FIF	ŭ V	<u>م</u>	WINDSHEAR-MILD IMPACT ON HILL WITH TREES-A/C INTACT-FUE. SPILL, FAULNE	F.RE
121 695010	LUMDUN GATHICK	X 55	8 ×	14 AC	4 4 4	a y w	2 CAT	SHORT-MIT TREES, HOUSE A/C DISINIEGRATED IN SLIDE OUT-F.F.	
092169 727	MEXICO CITY	x 118	38	×8 28	بم	A S		ITTACT SANNA MUNICA BAT-A/L PUSELAGE BAUKE ANU SANA MA UNANEL IMPACT SHORT IN SHALLOM LAKE-SLID 900 FT AND HIT 10 FT ALCH 32 345 A/C	82 A 1
091269 BAC	MANILA	X 47	45	۲ ۲	P FIG	E PAL	~	HIT HILL-SURVIVORS EJECTED	
0/2/70 008	NAHA, OK INAWA	*	4	0 8	ġ.	P A	R WAT	IMPACTED MATER-A/C BROKE UP-2 CREW SRAPPED IN COCKPIT 1200-46	
130770 BAC	CASABLANCA	x 85	61	21 AF	4 1 1	<u>9</u>	LL 1	A/C HIT POWER LINES, IMPACTED ON HIGHWAY-BOCHCED IN BAL . TLK: F-JUSC	A.F. 80
120872 737	CURSIANA CHIFAGA MIDUAY	2 2	9 F		4 0 0			SHORT StallED THDAFTED UDVISES AND TREES AVE RROWE UP FIRE	
122972 110	H[AM]	x 176	8	50 AF		λ Α Α	2 HAT	JIMI CEVETIN MULICU MUUUSEN ANU INELOEMUL DAVAK UNELIENE IME CIED IN EVERGLADESLAVK DISINTEGRATERUMOST SURVIVORS EUSEYSES	
012177 DC9	ADANA	×		Å.	P FIE	μ Ψ	S	IM-ACTED ON DOWNWIND LEG AND BURNED	
122377 528	CSLA CSLA	X 45	Ş	5 ×	P FI	ĝ,	u.	A/C IMPACTED IN FOREST-DISINTEGRATED AND BURNED	
	POSTON, MASS.	×	& c	14 ×		αŭ A J	α. 4	A/C HIT SEAWALL AND DISINTEGRATED AND BURNEN uit addreaded itente it under furthe and fead fead fead on frank	
-22 5 2 2 2 2 2 2 2 2 2 2 2 2 2 2 2 2 2	NEW DELHI	× 9	۰ <u>۲</u>	5 ¥	, a , a		~~	HII APPRUACH LIGHIS-LI HING, ENGINE AND GEAM SEMARATEDFU FLAGE GATKE SHORT-HIT ADNIIDERS-SEP GEAR, RT HING, #2 ENGINE FEUSEIAGE GADKE AND BUB	65
707 10013 707	RIO DE JANEIRO	*	~	0 8	9	PA	R WAT	INADVERTENT SPOILERS-A/C HIT APPROACH LIGHTS-IMPACTED WATER	
091174 DC9	PAGU PAGU, AM, SAMUA CHARIOTTE N.C	101 X	62	5 10 &		u B≱ U	<i>~~</i>	A/C HIT TREES, LAVA WALL, AND DITCH-TANKS RUPTUREN-FIRE Ave Lawded in Field - Wit Trees separation cear and simus impacted sume	r flor
010174 F28	TURIN, ITALY	2	*	2		9		INPACT SHORT-FUSELAGE BROKE AND BURNED	
121 212111		821 Y		2 2		¥ ٽ م	χu	WINDSHEAR-HII APPROACH LIGHIS-A/C BROKE UP Mimosurae waar imbari	
111575 528	NR. BUENOS AIRES	5 38 ×	00	२ २ २ ०	ιġ	Ξŭ	<u>م</u> م	MINUSHEAK-HARU IMPALI A/C HIT TREE-LOST GEAR AND IT MING TIP ON GRO IMPACT-HIT FARGE TREE	
042276 720	BARRANQUILLA, COL.	*	0	- N	P FIF	يت بر	2	A/C HIT TREES-LOST BOTH WINGS-FUSELAGE BROKE	
040477 009	NIAMEY, NIGEK NEW HOPE GA	х х 8 2	~ \$	~ ~ 2 \$		u A B A B A B	<u>ہ</u>	SHORT-MIT DITCHES-A/C BROKE UP IN SLIDE - ANDED AN MICHMAX WIT TREES POLES CARE BUILDINGE SUSTING AND	L
092777 008	KUALA LUMPUR	567 X	2	2 4 7 4	1913 1913 1913	ť≦ ∙u	6 10	LANVER OR MIMMAT-MININEES, PULES, LANS, BUJLUIMUS, PLARTAUR BRUKE F. Prashen om bibbed blamtation	ž
112177 BAC	BAR ILOCHE, ARG.	¥ 79	45	34 Ač		ŝŝ		THE ACTED ROCKY AREA	
121677 CVL	MADE IRA	X 23	8	13 AC	<u>م</u> ،	μ,	S WAT	A/C TOUCHED DOWN IN WATER-FLOATED 5 MINUTES-PAX DRCWNED	
17/ 8/8/.cn	PENSALULA Füriman sur Laura	x x x x	.	3÷ ∷,	0 0 2	ωĉ , ,	S KAT	IMPACTED MATER IN APPROACH ATTITUDE PAX DROWNED	
1229/3 008	PORTLAND, OREGON	X 185	<u> </u>	21.25	r č r	n de N	_ 0*	- FRANKEU FRANKERNERNERMERET EGENYEN OMER FRANKENEN OMER FRANKENEN OMER FRANKENEN OMER Omenen som enter hette det for dammen omenen omenen omer omer omer omer omer	
021979 707	57. LUCIA	170	, o	2 A 2 O	. <u>a</u>			MAR AND AN ASSEMUTI FOLCES, BANNS, THESE AND AND AND AND AN ASSEMUTION AND AND AND AND AND AND AND AND AND AN	
731.479.727	SCHA, QATAR	x 64	\$ 2	15	13 4	1	œ:	WINDSHEAR HARD TAIL DOWN IMPACT HIT SLOG	
49 									

Y akeoff Climb Approach Landing Taxi HARD IMPACT-GEAR FAILED LOST POD TANKS-FIRE-TRAINING HYDRAULICS FAILED-A/C VEERED OFF RUNWAY-HIT TRUCK-LOST ALL GEAR, ENG. 1,2,4-B.JRN; D HARD LOG-COLLAPSE NOSE GEAR LONG, HARD LANDING-GEAR COLLAPSE FRICTION FIRE TANKS LEAKED HARD LANDING-SEPRATED ONE ENGINE, MOSE & RMG OVERRUN-ENTERED THURSTON BASIN LUG FAILED-A/C STOPPED ON REMAINING GEAR AND LEFT WING TIP-FIRE GRO LOOP ON VOERRUN-HIT BLG, LEVEF GRO LOOP ON VOERRUN-HIT BLG, LEVEF HIGH RATE OF DESCENTIONE LINE FIRE SHORT-GEAR SHEARED ON REMAINING GEAR AND LEFT WING TIP-FIRE HIGH RATE OF DESCENT-GEAR ATLURE-FIRE HIGH RATE OF DESCENT-GEAR ATLURE-FIRE HARD LOG-VEERED ON RUMMAY LIP-RUPT TANK-FIRE HARD LOG-VEERED OFF RUNMAY HIT DITCH-LOST GEAR-E.G FIF-34E - 155 2 HARD-TAIL FIRST-#4 ENG HIT RUNWAY, SEPARATED-FIRE-EXPLOSION ON 30 ARCUND 00000 ÷. HARD LDG.-GEAP SEP. & TANK RUPT. RUNAAY TOO SHORT-OVERRUN HIT DITCH OVERRUN-HIT CONCRETE BLG. FOUNDATON OVERRUN-FELL INTO SO FIL DAND STREAM OVERRUN-FELL INTO SO FIL DEEP RAVINE SHORT-HARD-LOST RNG-LEFT WING SEPARATED-FIRE AT ROOT-FIRE DEATHS OVERRUN-FLEW OVER GULY-LANDED IN RAVINE-WING FIRE-FIRE . AN OVERPUN-MENT DOWN SLOPE, CROSSES FUNDEMENT RAS STATION PERFORMENT P WHEELS UP-TALL FIRST-SLLD OFF RUNMAY VEERED DE RUNMAY SS EMBANKMENT-HIT BRIDGE-FLE, SPITE REFERED VEERED OFF RUNMAY þ VEERED OFF RUNWAY-HIT BLG OVERRUN-HIT DITCH-LOST GEAR, ENGINE-FUEL SPILL OVERRUN-HIT DITCH-LOST GEAR, ENGINE-FUEL SPILL SHERT OFF RUNWAY-HIT DITCH-LOST NOSEGEAR-FPACTURED WINC SHORT ON S^O SLOPE-BROKE FUSELGGE-BOUNCED ONTO RUNMAY HARD IMPACT-FOURCED-OVERRUN-HIT TRUCK-SLIDE UP HILL-A/C BF)KE HARD IMPACT-FAILED WINGS HARD LDG, WING HIT GRD, & SEPARATED-FIRE INADVERTANT SPOILER DEPLOYMENT-HARD LANDING A/C HIT APPROACH LIGHTS-LDG, & GEARS A/C HIT ANDOLE MARKER BLG, OVERUN-HENT DOWN A SLOPE TO 50 71. BELOW RUWAY HARD-NOSEDOWN IMPACT-NO FLARE LONG AND FAST-MENT THROUGH 2 BRIGH WALLS SHORT-LOST GEAR, ENGS, -LEFT WING SEP. DE SCR IPTION IMPACT WATER-PAX DROWNED HIT ILS TOWER-LOST GEAR OVERRUN-HIT ILS-DITCH OVERRUN-HIT TREES OVERRUN TO SMALL HILL HARD LDG. ري د JNI CHAN T CHINA 1887,11,1675 1.38 CH I HARD WAT YES WAT MAT 47 LOUS IN JUSS LDG FIRE YES LDG FIRE YES LDG FIRE YES LDG FIRE VOS LDG FIRE YES LDG FIRE YES LDG FIRE YES LDG FIRE YES S S S S A PAR YES YES YES YES YES res ខ្លួ YES YES 160 - 100 - THICK STOLESS L06 L06 FIRE L06 FIRE L06 FIRE L06 FIRE L06 FIRE LOG FIRE LOG FIRE LOG FIRE LOG FIRE LOG FIRE LDG FIRE LDG FIRE LDG FIRE LDG FIRE LDG FIRE LDG FIRE FIRE LDG FIRE g 50 % c 25820 1 1414.5 2 æ OFNOENO 0 0 0 0 0128 SSOT TIME 0%0 33 \$ 2 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 ~00 0 0 000 0 57 88 105 154 151 **62** 373 122 <u></u> 102 S 156 ۳g 021 2 63 57 66 ** 61 55 108 66 9 b 727 PORTO ALEGRE, BRAZIL 737 CASPER, MYO. F28 PALEMBANG 008 ATLANTIC CITY 3 72) JFK 3 72) JFK 8 707 VANCOUVER, B.C. 9 208 STOCKTON, CA. 7 27 STOCKTON, CA 7 27 ST. THOMAS 9 90 ACAPULCO 9 20 ST. CR01X, V.I. 9 209 ACAPULCO 9 20 ST. CR01X, V.I. 9 20 BTK 7 11911MFHI, CHINA 7 707 11911MFHI, CHINA 7 707 11911MFHI, CHINA 727 ST. THOMAS, V.I. DC9 PHILADELPHIA CMT BUENOS AIRES DC8 DENVER 707 LISBON 1 720 BOSTON CVL BRASSILA CVL BRASSILA CVL BRASSILA 1 707 JFL 1 CMT SINGAPORE 1 CMT SINGAPORE 7 707 KANSAS CITY 8 802 KL TSL 2 2 SALT LAKE CITY 6 880 KL TS., JAPAN CMT ROME F 728 BOLBAO, SPAIN DC9 AKRON, OHIO 707 KHANO, NIGERIA 737 GRENSORO 737 GRENSORO 1 707 BUENOS AIRES DC8 JFK CVL MANAUS, BRAZIL 707 LOS ANGELES NIGERIA 727 KETCHIKAN NEW DELHI DCI ISTANBUL DCR BOMRAY 747 MIAMI MADEIRA DCI BOSTON ц, Landing 121 727 122060 | 071161 | C92475 010276 040576 042776 211610 11977 062376 11177 Ð

57

TABLE 10. - CONTINUED

	-
- 6	
Ē	L
4	
-	5
•	~
-	-
- 0	د_
-	5
-	۷.
0	\supset
- 2	、
	~
	1
	1
c	ו ⊐
2	, ⊐
	JU
	- 707 -
	י <u>א</u> אויי
	لة <u>ال</u>
	<u>8</u> ר זון -
	48LF 10
	ABLE 10

(d) Landing (Concluded) 021178 737 CRANBROOK, B.C. 030378 DC8 SANTAGO DE COMPO. 040478 737 CHARLADI, BELGIUM	100 FILE PAR 100 FO 100 FO 100 FO 100 FILE 100 FILE	ABORTED LDG-ATTEMPTED GO ROUND-A/C HIT LT. WING & MOSED CITED CC ADProach CC ADPR
070978 RAC ROCHESTER 172378 DC9 PALERMO, ITALY 032578 720 (NNDON 042679 737 MADRAS 100779 DC8 ATHENS 103179 DC1 MEXICO CITY N. S7	77 0 1 LDG YES X 129 108 7 LDG VES 82 0 7 LDG X 67 0 8 LDG FIRE YES Y 154 14 0 LDG FIRE YES X 87 70 17 LDG FIRE UDF	OVERRUN-HIT DITCH IMPACTED LEVEL-BROKE UP AND SANK-PAX DROWNED HIT HARD AND BOUCED-NOSE GEAR COLLAPSED OVERRUN-ROUGH TERRAIN-SEP. ENG. & NG & RMLG. LMLG CCLLAPSED MINOR FIRE OVERRUN-CRACK IN LEFT WING-FIRE OVERRUN-CRACK IN LEFT WING-FIRE TOUCHDOWN-HIT VEH., SEP. MLG-AIRBORNE-KIT WING LOW-SHIT BLG.
(e) Taxi		DESCRIPTION
031574 CVL TEHRAN, IRAN 121675 747 ANCHORAGE 032777 747 TENERIFE Ms 3	X 96 15 ? TAX FIRE YES 121 0 2 TAX YES X 396 334 62 TAX FIRE PAR	GEAR COLLAPSED-WING HIT GRD-FIRE SLIDE BACKWARDS OFF RUNMAY-HIT BANK COLLISION WITH KLM 747-WING RUPTURE-FUSELAGE CRUSMED-FIRE

.....

TABLE 11. - STRUCTURAL DAMAGE SEVERITY

DAMAGE

> 1	
2	
O	
<u>ত</u> ।	
Шİ	
ا ک	

- MINOR IMPACT DAMAGE INCLUDES ENGINE/ PYLON DAMAGE OR SEPARATION, MINOR LOWER FUSELAGE DAMAGE, AND MINOR FUEL SPILLAGE.
- MODERATE IMPACT DAMAGE INCLUDE HIGHER DEGREES OF DAMAGE OF TYPE 1 AND INCLUDES GEAR SEPARATION OR COLLAPSE.
- AND/OR CLASS 1 OR CLASS 2 FUSELAGE BREAKS, MAY HAVE GEAR COLLAPSE, SEVERE IMPACT DAMAGE - INCLUDES SEVERE LOWER FUSELAGE CRUSH BUT NO TANK RUPTURE.
- SEVERE IMPACT DAMAGE BUT NO FUSELAGE BREAK INCLUDES MAJOR FUEL SPILLAGE DUE TO WING LOWER SURFACE TEAR AND WING BOX DAMAGE.
- BREAKS WITH WING SEPARATION OR BREAKS, MAY HAVE GEAR AND/OR EXTREME IMPACT DAMAGE - INCLUDES CLASS I OR CLASS 2 FUSELAGE ENGINE SEPARATION.
- DESTRUCTION WITH TANK RUPTURE, GEAR AND/ OR ENGINE SEPARATION. AIRCRAFT DESTRUCTION - INCLUDES CLASS 3 FUSELAGE BREAKS OR

FUSELAGE BREAKS: CLASS 1 - SECTIONS BREAK REMAIN TOGETHER

- CLASS 2 SECTIONS BREAK AND OPEN CLASS 3 SECTIONS BREAK AND MOVE OFF

TABLE 12. - NUMBER OF FATALITIES AS A FUNCTION OF DAMAGE SEVERITY

ORY	ACCIDENTS	LOSS HULL	FIRE	OCCUPAN	ITS FATA	TAL		RE	TRA	NUMA	DROWN	VING	UNK	NMON
					ON	8 ⁶	NO.	₽ ²	NO.	8 2	Ő.	×	NO.	Ł
	5	3	4	616	53	8.6	53	8.6	0	0	0	0	0	0
•	24	12	9	1684	~1	. 06	0	0	-1	98.	0	0	C	0
~	22	20	6	2024	225	11. 11	55	2. 72	5	0, 25	165	8. 15	0	C
	40	36	35	3425	875	25. 54	122	21.08	5	. 15	18	. 53	130	3.80
10	35	35	5 8	2618	934	35. 68	335	12.80	210	8.02	32	1, 22	357	15, 93
` 0	20	20	18	1990	1547	77. 74	189	9.50	190	9.54	m	0. <i>15</i>	1105	58.94
NMON	7	۲	3	311	156	50.16	2	.	65	20, 90	0	0	80	28 61
AL	153	133	103	12668	3791	29.93	1356	10, 70	476	3.76	218	1.72	1741	15.74

1

INSUFFICIENT INFORMATION FOR CATEGORY ASSIGNMENT

<u>6</u>1:

• FUSELAGE	• WING
CRUSH (AXIAL & VERT)	BREAKS
BENDING BREAKS	WING BOX DESTRUCTION
LOCAL DEFORMATIONS	DISTORTION
TANGENTIAL DAMAGE	
	ENGINES/ PYLONS
GEAR	SEPARATION
SEPARATION	
COLLAPSE	● SEATS
	SEPARATION
HATCH/ DOOR/ FLOOR	DISTORTION
DISTORTION	RUPTURE
DESTRUCTION	
SEPARATION	INTERIORS
	GALLEY/DIVIDERS SEPARATION - SPILLAGE
BELTS/ HARNESS	COMPARTMENT SEPARATION - SPILLAGE
RUPTURE	PANEL DI SLODGEMENT
EJECTION	

TABLE 13. - FAILURE MECHANI SMS

61

TABLE 14. - INJURY TYPES



Ĵ

62

SYSTEM	CRASH FUNCTION	CRASH DYNAMICS	INTERACTION	DIRECT RESULT
Landing Gear	Energy absorption Maintain grd. clearance Separate with no damage to airframe	Stroke/ gear deformation	Load airframe	Energy absorption by gear
Nose		Collapse aft/ side and/ or sep.	Forward fuselage grd. contact	Energy absorption by grd. friction Energy absorption by
			Penetrate lower fuselage	iwr, ruse, ger. Gear damage Floor deformation Fire entry to cabin Fuselage break
Main/Body		Collapse or separation aft/ side	Center fuselage Lwr. fuse. penetration	Water/fuel/fire en [:] ry to lwr. fuse. Energy absorption by
			Wing pod grd. contact Wing grd. impact	pylon def. Grd. impact loads to wing
			Wing box tear Slewing of A/ C	Fuet spill/fire Fuselage break
			Lwr. fuse. penetration Aft structure contact	Body fuel line break/fire Empennage damage
Wing Pylon/Engine	React obstructions	Deformation	Load wing structure	Pylon/ engine damage Engery absorption Load wing structure Grd. friction
	Energy absorption Separate with no damage to airframe	Collapse/separation	Fuel/ electric/ hydraulic line rupture	Pylon/engine damage Fluid soill/arcino/fire
			Wing box web tear Wing tower surface penetration Wing ground contact	Wing box break Energy absorption
	Provide grd. reaction			

TABLE 15. - STRUCTURAL SYSTEMS (REF. 19)

(a)

5

. _1

TABLE 15. - CONTINUED

ê

Pyiun/ engine damage Fuer spill/ incing. Arc Fuselage fire damage Survivable vol. 1055 Egress blockage Seat lateral displace. Energy absorption by deformation Survivable vol. loss Occupant ejection/ egress route FIRECT RESULT Ene gy absorption by deformation Energy absorption by grd. friction Fuell firel smokel water/muc entry Flotation loss Fuselage damage Fuel spill/arcing Florr elevation Energy absorption rupture Tigh filiair accel. :foor/seat track Fuet spill/tire Wing damage Fuel spill/fire Ving damage Wing damage Fuel leak items A/ C dynamics/ flotation loss Hinder egress A/ C dynamics/ flotation loss Seats/ track/ floor beam Upper fuselage distortion Body fueli elec. line rupture Load fuse. structure Cabin interior items Doors/hatches Cargo displacement Floor displacement Seats Door/ hatches Cabin interior Floor structure INTERACTION Fuel spill/fire Wing damage Body fuel lines Fuel/electric line rupture Upper fuselage distortion Deformation/Separation CRASH DYNAMICS Lower fuselage crush Lower surface tear Wing box break Fuselage break Deformation Separation Separate with no damage to airframe **CRASH FUNCTION** Support main gear Support engine/ pylon Contain fuel Reacts obstructions Prevent A/C roll Energy absorption React obstructions Energy absorption Egress route Provide flotation Protective shell Flotation Egress Aft Pylon/Engine Wing Structure SYSTEM Fuselage

_ i

64

ł

	DIRECT RESULT	Fuel/fire entry	Seat separation/ ejection Cabin debris Flotation loss	Eritergy about priori Fuselage damage	Fuel spill	Energy absorption Egress blockage		Seat elevation/separation	Energy absorption Load limiting	Occupant release/ injury Occupant ejection/ injury Energy absorption	Cabin debris Egress blockage Occupant injury	Egress blockage Fuel/ tire/ smoke entry
	INTERACTION	Floor struc. displace.	seats Cabin interior items		Pyton/ engine Fuselage	Seat track/ seats Cabin interior items Doors/ hatches	Seat tracks/ seats Cabin interior items	Floor beams	Seat tracks	Seats structure Bulkhead structure	Upper fuselage Floor beams	Cabin interior systems Floor structure Upper fuselage
	CRASH DYNAMICS	Fuselage disintegration			Engine line rupture Body line rupture	Deformation	Rupture	Seat track deform. / rupt.	Seat deformation	Seat rupture Belt/ harness rupture	Overhead compart. spillage Overhead compart. sep. Ceiling panel/ sidewall sep. Galley/ closet/ divider sep. Galley/ closet spillage	Blockage by debris Jammed by floor Jammed by fuselage distort. Inadvertent opening
(C)	CRASH FUNCTION	Support floor beams Support cabin interior items		Constraint/ baggage-cargo	Retain structural integrity Limit fuel spillage	Restraint seats/ track Energy absorption Provide egress	Cabin interior items Retain structural integrity	Occupant containment/ protection	Energy adsorption	Remain attached to floor Release as required (belts/harness)	Contents containment Remain attached to structure	Operate as required
	SYSTEM				Fuel Task Storage System	Floor structure		Seats/ Restraints	System		Cabin Interior Sys.	Entry and Escape Doors

. .1

TABLE 15. - CONCLUDED

TABLE 16. - STRUCTURAL COMPONENT PARTICIPATION (REF. 19)

				N	IMBER OF ACCIDEN	AS - 153 TOT	AL					
	HULL		GEAR	ENGINE	FUSELAGE	TANK	CABIN				BODY	
	1055	FIRE	SEP.	SEP.	CRUSH BREAK	RUPTURE	INTERIOR	SEATS	DOORS	FLOORS	FUEL LINES	WATER
HULL	<u></u>	8	8	02	06	100	37	36	8	32	<u> </u>	15
FIRE	8	<u></u>	2	59	70	8	25	21	28	21	2	4
GEAR	8	2	RI	51	8	n	33	26	38	33	5	90
ENGINE	02	R	57	ଛା	61	61	30	28	82	26	Ф	10
FUSELAGE	8	2	ઝ	61	100	73	¥	38	41	38	2]4
TANK	8	8	ľ	61	13	<u>[]</u>	33	32	31	\$2	9	10
CABIN	37	\$	33	8	¥	33	. С	26	54	8	2	1
SEATS	36	27	26	- 8 2	38	32	26	4	ß	54	ŝ	2
DOORS	8	28	38	28	41	31	24	8	47	8	ŝ	ŝ
FLOORS	32	21	33	26	38	52	22	24	30	ଖା	3	7
LINES	7	Ś	Ś	4	S	9	2	ŝ	ŝ	3	~	2
WATER	15	4	80	10	14	10	٢	Ś	S	7	2	옑

i

TABLE 17. - COMPONENT PARTICIPATION AND ACCIDENT SEVERITY AS A FUNCTION OF ACCIDENT SCENARIO



AIRCRAFT
METAL
CURRENT
NC
R¢D
FOR
AREAS
I
18
ABLE

COMPONENT	CRASH FUNCTION	POTENTIAL FOR IMPROVED PERFORMANCE	AREAS FOR RED	COMMENTS
Landing Gear	Grd. Clearance	œ	Terrain Tolerance	Reduce fuel spills due to grd. drag, lower surface tear; engine pylon separation; lower fuselage crush; and fire hazard
	Clean Separation	J	Controlled Rupture of Support Structure	Reduce fuel spills due to tank tear and fire hazard
Pylon/Engine	Clean Separation	U	Controlled Rupture of Support Structure	Reduce fuel spill from tank tear and fire hazard
			Fuel, Hydraulic, Electric Line Separation	Reduce fire hazard
Wing Tankage	Contain Fuel	4	Improved Resistance to Rupture and Lower Surface Tear	Reduce fire hazard
Fuselage	Retain Integrity	8	Resistance to Breaks	Better occupant protection
	Prevent Fire Entry	8	Prevention of Holes	
			Heat Rejection	
	Flotation	8	Resistance to Breaks	
Lower Fuselage	Energy Absorption	U	Increase Energy Absorption	Lower loads on occupants and cabin interior equipment
	Prevent Water Entry	B	Increased Plate Strength	I mprove flotation and reduce floor displacement

$\boldsymbol{\Box}$
LL I
\mathbf{O}
=
~
\mathbf{O}
Z
\cap
\mathbf{X}
\mathbf{O}
ł
∞
щ
8
-

		POTENTIAL FOR		
SY STEM	CRASH FUNCTION	IMPROVED	AREAS FOR R€D	COMMENTS
Upper Fuselage	Protective Shell	J	Energy Absorption and Integrity	
	Energy Absorption	U		
Fuel Distribution System	Limit Fuel Spillage	82	Fuel Line Separation	Reduce fire hazard
Floor Structure	Energy Absorption	83	Energy Absorption	Reduce occupant loads
	Retain Seats and Interior Equipment	U	Controlled Deformation	Improve seat retention
	Provide Egress	U		Reduce door blockage
Seats/ Restraint System	Occupant Constraint	J	Occupant Dynamic Response	Reduce occupant injury due to surface contact and to restraint foads
	Energy Absorption	U	Improved Energy Absorption	Reduce occupant loads
	Remain Attached to Floor Track	മ	Seat/Floor Dynamic Response to Crash Accelerated Loads	Prevent ejection and contact with interior Acceleration environment requires definition
	Release as Required	J	Ease of Release	
Cabin Interior	Contents Containment	æ	Dynamic Response	Reduce debris and occupant injury
	Structural Integrity	80	Structural Attachments	Reduce egress blockage
Entry and Escape Doors	Operate as Required	8	Effects of Fuselage Distortion on Operation	Reduce egress blockage

ĩ



FIGURE 1(A). - TRANSPORT AIRPLANE VS TAKEOFF GROSS WEIGHT

NUMBER AND SERVICE - YEARS* OF JET TRANSPORT AIRCRAFT CURRENTLY IN SERVICE ē.

	13.4 %	19.5 %	31.3%	35.8%	
NUMBER OF AIRCRAFT CURRENTLY IN SERVICE	438 739 739	517 342 <u>215</u> 1074	74 13 1723	941 779 93 1969	T01AL 5505
	26.9%	<i>%</i> 9.6	30.7%	32.7 %	
/ICE-YRS*	7508 6009 13517	2382 1561 <u>892</u> 4835	1754 438 3234 5426	8192 4247 1962 2021 5 422	0TAL 50 200
SERV	707 DC-8	747 DC-10 L-1011	720 880/990 727 <u>1</u> 1	DC-9 737 CARAVELLE BAC III Id	Ţ
NE I GHT CLASS	Q	ш	сı	J	

*NUMBER OF AIRCRAFT imes YEARS IN SERVICE





MICROCOPY RESOLUTION TEST CHART NATIONAL BURFAU OF STANDARDS 1963 A

.





THE MENTER



FIGURE 4. - NORMALIZED FATALITY RATIO AS A FUNCTION OF DISTANCE FROM AIRPORT FOR CRASH SCENARIOS





FIGURE 6. - SELECTED ACCIDENT STUDY DATA BASE



and in water



FIGURE 8. - DOMESTIC VERSUS FOREIGN JET TRANSPORT ACCIDENTS (1959-1979)








FIGURE 10. - DISTRIBUTION OF FATALITIES AS A FUNCTION OF ACCIDENT CATEGORY



FIGURE 11(A). - FATALITIES AS A FUNCTION OF SINK RATE; REF. 19







Contractor and a second





FIGURE 12(C). - INJURIES AS A FUNCTION OF SINK RATE; REF. 21



	WN) TANK (3) LEAKAGE (4)	ENGINE (1)	LOOSE (1) - GROUND OBJECTS	LMANMADE (1)				
TANK RUPTURE (107) (85 FIRES)	CEAR/ GEAR/ PYLON II7 PROBABLE) EXPLOSION (6 PRO	- GEAR (5 KNOWN) - GEAR (10 PROBABLE)	L-PYLON (2 KNOWN) (7 PROBABLE)					
	WING 67 KNOWN) LOWER (b) WING 67 KNOWN) LOWER (8 KNOWN) BREAK (9 PROBABLE) SURFACE (19 PROBABLE) TEAR	TREES/ (21) POLES	- GROUND (18) - DRAG	VERT (10) Obstruct	INERTIA (8) LOADS	- WING (7)	DEEP WATER	-UNKNOWN (9)

FIGURE A1. - TYPES OF TANK RUPTURE (REF. 19)



Î

FIGURE A2. - AIRCRAFT SPEED AS RELATED TO ONBOARD FATALITIES

	T							
		NI A	DIVERT TO OTHER EXITS NO FATALS	4-	-		2	
		DELA	DIVERT TO OTHER EXITS SOME FATALS	9			-	1412
			DIVERT TO OTHER EXITS NO FATALS	- 07	`		3	
		COULD NOT BE OPENED	DIVERT TO OTHER EXITS SOME FATALS	ς φ	4	~~~	23	18. 71165
CIDENTS	NCES		NO OTHER EXIT AVAIL ALL FATALS	-			-)	
N 47 AC	CCURRE		PEOPLE				~)	
OCCURRENCES CITED	NUMBER OF CITED O	- 	EVAC. SLIDE OR LIFE RAFT	- 1			~	
		BLOCKAG	UNDEFINED		-			11.07
			INTERIOR & MISC DEBRIS	2 m 1	Q	~-~~	1	
			GALLEY DEBRIS	•		2	[m]	
			OUTSIDE OBJECT	2			~ \	
		MING	LATCH MECH.		-	-		
		CA	FLOOR	4 0 m		~~~	SI (8	
			FRAME DISTORTION	9 0	m	4	<u> </u>	
			DOOR OR EXIT POSITION	L. ENTRY GALLEY COCKPIT	FWD WING OVER WING AFT WING	L. ENTRY TAIL ENTRY GALLEY		
	[DOOR- EXIT LOCATION	FWD (39) 47 4	MID 800Y 16 5	AFT (18) 27 \$	101AL (68) 100 4	

FIGURE A3. - DOOR OR EXIT JAMMING AND/OR BLOCKAGE

OTAL ** LOCATIOI ATAL- FATAL- OF DI SPLACE ATAL- ITIES FWD MID IS 1.6 12 1 IS 1.6 12 1 6 9.5 10 7 35 13.8 3 1	OTAL F. LOCATION MTAL- FATAL- OF DISPLACEMENT MTAL- FATAL- OF DISPLACEMENT MTAL- FWD MID AFT MTES ITL6 12 1 18 1.6 12 1 6 9.5 10 7 9 58 24.9 10 7 9 132 13.8 3 1 1	OTAL ** LOCATION SEPAR- ATAL- ATAL- FATAL- OF DI SPLACEMENT ATION ATAL- FIES ITIES FWD MID AFT ATION 18 1.6 12 1 3 3 18 1.6 12 1 3 3 6 9.5 12 1 9 13 58 24.9 10 7 9 13 132 38.9 2 2 2 1 35 13.8 3 1 1 2	OTAL ** LOCATION SEPAR- SEAT MAL- FATAL- OF DISPLACEMENT ATION ELEVA- TIES ITIES FWD MID AFT TION 18 1.6 12 1 3 7 18 1.6 12 1 3 7 6 9.5 1 9 13 9 58 24.9 10 7 9 13 9 132 38.9 2 2 2 1 2 35 13.8 3 1 1 2 3	OTAL ** LOCATION SEPAR- SEAT NUMBE ATAL- FATAL- OF DISPLACEMENT ATION ELEVA- JAM/ ATAL- FWD MID AFT ATION ELEVA- JAM/ ATAL- FWD MID AFT ATION ELEVA- JAM/ 116 12 1 3 7 5 JAM/ 6 9.5 12 1 3 7 5 6 9.5 1 7 9 13 9 5 38 24.9 10 7 9 13 9 5 35 13.8 3 1 2 1 2 1 35 13.8 3 1 1 2 3 2 1	OTAL * LOCATION SEPAR- SEAT NUMBER OF ACCI MAL- FATAL- OF DISPLACEMENT SEPAR- SEAT DOOR DOOR DOOR JAM/ JAM/	OTAL ** LOCATION SEPAR- SEAT EXIT CREW ECRES TIES TTIES FWD MID AFT ATION BLOCKED BOOR DOOR INTER- 1165 FWD MID AFT ATION BLOCKED BLOCKED BLOCKED FERENCE 18 1.6 12 1 3 7 5 4 INTER- 18 1.6 12 1 3 7 5 4 INTER- 18 1.6 12 1 3 7 5 4 INTER- 18 1.6 12 1 3 7 5 4 I I I I I I 1 I 1 I	OTAL ** LOCATION SEPAR- SEPAR- MAL- FATAL- FWD LOCATION SEPAR- SEPAR- ATION SEAT EXIT DOOR DOOR GERESS GEAR INTER- FMD NUMBER OF ACCIDENTS 116 12 1 3 7 5 4 8 18 1.6 12 1 3 7 5 4 8 6 9.5 1 3 7 5 4 8 8 24.9 10 7 9 13 9 5 4 1 12 1 3 7 5 4 8 1 1 6 9.5 1 9 5 2 4 1 1 7 9 13 9 5 2 4 1 1 8 24.9 10 7 9 5 2 4 1 1 7 9 5 2 1 2 4 1 1	OTAL * LOCATION SEPAR- ATAL- FATAL- FWD SEPAR- MID SEPAR- AFT SEPAR- SEPAR- ATION SEPAR- BOOR SEPAR- DOOR DOOR LOCATION NUMBER OF ACCIDENTS 116 12 1 3 7 5 4 8 1 18 1.6 12 1 3 7 5 4 8 1 18 1.6 12 1 3 7 5 4 8 1 6 9.5 1 3 7 5 4 8 1 88 24.9 10 7 9 5 2 4 1 1 132 1 9 5 2 4 1 <th>OTAL * LUCATION SEPAR- SEAT EXIT DOOR CREW LOCATION ECRIT ATION NUMBER OF ACCIDENTS MTAL- TIES OF DISPLACEMENT ATION ELVA- LIAM DOOR LIAM UOSE LIAM MID AFT ATION ELEVA- LIAM DOOR LIAM MOSE LIAM MIG RUBER MIG RUBER MIG RUBER MID RUBER ATION ELEVA- LIAM LOCATION SEPAR- BLOCKED BLOCKED LOCATION SEPAR- RUB SIDE 18 1.6 12 1 3 7 5 4 8 1 8 6 9.5 1 1 3 7 5 4 8 1 8 8 24.9 10 7 9 5 2 4 1 14 35 13.8 3 1 1 2 3 2 1 1 14</th> <th>OTAL ** LOCATION SEPAR- SEAT DOR EXIT CREW EGRESS MIG GR TIR MAL- OF DISPLACEMENT ATION EEVA- JAMV INTER- POOR INTER- POOR EAT SEPAR- JAMV JAMV JAMV SLIDE SLIDE SUBE SLIDE SUBE SLIDE SUBE SUB- SUB- SUB</th> <th colspan="2">TOTAL T ON F</th> <th>1126</th> <th>63</th> <th>1477</th> <th>336</th> <th>¥2</th>	OTAL * LUCATION SEPAR- SEAT EXIT DOOR CREW LOCATION ECRIT ATION NUMBER OF ACCIDENTS MTAL- TIES OF DISPLACEMENT ATION ELVA- LIAM DOOR LIAM UOSE LIAM MID AFT ATION ELEVA- LIAM DOOR LIAM MOSE LIAM MIG RUBER MIG RUBER MIG RUBER MID RUBER ATION ELEVA- LIAM LOCATION SEPAR- BLOCKED BLOCKED LOCATION SEPAR- RUB SIDE 18 1.6 12 1 3 7 5 4 8 1 8 6 9.5 1 1 3 7 5 4 8 1 8 8 24.9 10 7 9 5 2 4 1 14 35 13.8 3 1 1 2 3 2 1 1 14	OTAL ** LOCATION SEPAR- SEAT DOR EXIT CREW EGRESS MIG GR TIR MAL- OF DISPLACEMENT ATION EEVA- JAMV INTER- POOR INTER- POOR EAT SEPAR- JAMV JAMV JAMV SLIDE SLIDE SUBE SLIDE SUBE SLIDE SUBE SUB- SUB- SUB	TOTAL T ON F		1126	63	1477	336	¥2	
FATAL- FATAL- ITIES OF DISPLACE ITIES FWD MID 1.6 12 1 9.5 24.9 10 7 28.9 2 2 2 38.9 2 2 2 13.8 3 1 1	Mathematical Location Fatal- ITIES OF DISPLACEMENT ITIES FWD MID AFT 1.6 12 1 1 9.5 12 1 9 24.9 10 7 9 38.9 2 2 2 13.8 3 1 1	ItesLocationSEPAR- ATIONFatal- ItiesOf DISPLACEMENT ATIONSEPAR- ATION11.612131.612139.512179.5107924.9107938.922213.8311	InterviewInterviewInterviewSEPAR-SEATFATAL- FITIESOF DISPLACEMENTSEPAR-SEATFATAL- FWDMIDAFTTTIESFWDMIDAFTT1.6121379.5121379.5107913924.9107913938.922221213.831123	Fatal- fatal- of Displacement SEPAR- SEPAR- ATION SEPAR- SEPAR- FUO SEAT DOOR JAM/ TION NUMBE 111ES FWD MID AFT TON BLOCKED 1.6 12 1 3 7 5 9.5 12 1 3 7 5 24.9 10 7 9 13 9 5 38.9 2 2 1 2 1 2 1 38.9 2 2 1 2 1 2 1 38.9 2 2 1 2 1 2 1	Fatal- Fatal- ITIES Decation Fatal- Fwp SEPAR- ATION SEAT ATION NUMBER OF ACCI Fwp NID AFT DOOR DOOR DOOR 111ES Fwp NID AFT ATION ELEVA- BLOCKED JAM' JAM' JAM' TION JAM' BLOCKED JAM' JAM' JAM' BLOCKED 9.5 1 3 7 5 4 9.5 1 3 7 5 4 9.5 1 3 7 5 4 38.9 2 2 1 2 1 2 38.9 3 1 1 2 3 2 2 13.8 3 1 2 3 2 3 2	ALL LUCCATION SEPAR- SEPAR- FIAL- ITIES SEAT FWD DOOR ATION DOOR DOOR EEVA- JAM/ JAM/ JAM/ JAM/ JAM/ JAM/ JAM/ JAM/	NUMBER OF ACCIDENTS FATAL- ITIES LOCATION FATAL- FWD SEPAR- AFT SEAT DOOR DOOR ECKIF CREW EGRESS GEAR 11 0F DISPLACEMENT AFT TION BLOCKED BLOCKED EGRESS GFAR- AFT 1.6 12 1 3 7 5 4 8 9.5 1 3 7 5 4 8 8.9 2 2 1 2 1 1 38.9 2 2 1 2 1 2 1 13.8 3 1 1 2 3 2 1 1	NUMBER OF ACCIDENTS FATAL- ITIES LOCATION FWD SEPAR- ATION SEAT DOOR EXIT DOOR ROOR DOOR NOSE FATAL MIG 111ES FWD MID AFT DOOR DOOR INTER- DOOR FOLDED UNDER 111ES FWD MID AFT B JAMU JAMU FERENCE AFT BODY 9.5 I 3 7 5 4 8 1 9.5 I 3 7 5 4 8 1 24.9 I0 7 9 13 9 5 2 4 1 38.9 2 2 1 2 3 2 1 1 1 1 38.9 3 1 1 2 3 2 1 <td>R LOCATION SEPAR- TION SEAT ATION DOOR EVIT NUMBER OF ACCIDENTS FATAL- TITES OF DISPLACEMENT FWD ATION EEVA- TION JAM/ BLOCKED DOOR INTER- JAM/ JAM/ JAM NOSE ATT MLG ATION GRD BLOCKED 1.6 12 1 3 7 5 4 8 1 8 9.5 1 3 7 5 4 8 1 8 1 3.4.9 10 7 9 13 9 5 2 4 1 14 3.4.9 10 7 9 13 9 5 2 4 1 14 3.8.9 2 2 1 2 3 2 1 14 13.8 3 1 1 2 3 2 1 14</td> <td>* LOCATION SEPAR- SEPAR- TILES SEAT EXIT DOOR LOOR NOSE INTER- TODED MLG BOOR MLG LOCATION GRD SEPAR- SEPAR- TION FERAL LOCATION SEPAR- SEPAR- SEPAR- TION SEAT LOCATION DOOR LOOR MID INTER- TODED MLG BOOR GRD INTER- SEV- LAM FIRE SEV- REFU 1.6 12 1 3 7 5 4 8 1 8 4 9.5 1 3 7 5 4 8 1 8 4 3.4.9 10 7 9 5 2 4 1 1 1 2 38.9 2 1 1 2 3 2 2 2 2 13.8 3 1 1 2 3 2 1 1 1 2 2 38.9 2 3 1 1 2 3 2 3 2 2 2 2 2 2 2 2 2 2 2 2 2 2 2 2 2 2 2</td> <td colspan="3">OTAL ATAL- TIES</td> <td>18</td> <td>vo</td> <td>88</td> <td>132</td> <td>35</td>	R LOCATION SEPAR- TION SEAT ATION DOOR EVIT NUMBER OF ACCIDENTS FATAL- TITES OF DISPLACEMENT FWD ATION EEVA- TION JAM/ BLOCKED DOOR INTER- JAM/ JAM/ JAM NOSE ATT MLG ATION GRD BLOCKED 1.6 12 1 3 7 5 4 8 1 8 9.5 1 3 7 5 4 8 1 8 1 3.4.9 10 7 9 13 9 5 2 4 1 14 3.4.9 10 7 9 13 9 5 2 4 1 14 3.8.9 2 2 1 2 3 2 1 14 13.8 3 1 1 2 3 2 1 14	* LOCATION SEPAR- SEPAR- TILES SEAT EXIT DOOR LOOR NOSE INTER- TODED MLG BOOR MLG LOCATION GRD SEPAR- SEPAR- TION FERAL LOCATION SEPAR- SEPAR- SEPAR- TION SEAT LOCATION DOOR LOOR MID INTER- TODED MLG BOOR GRD INTER- SEV- LAM FIRE SEV- REFU 1.6 12 1 3 7 5 4 8 1 8 4 9.5 1 3 7 5 4 8 1 8 4 3.4.9 10 7 9 5 2 4 1 1 1 2 38.9 2 1 1 2 3 2 2 2 2 13.8 3 1 1 2 3 2 1 1 1 2 2 38.9 2 3 1 1 2 3 2 3 2 2 2 2 2 2 2 2 2 2 2 2 2 2 2 2 2 2 2	OTAL ATAL- TIES			18	vo	88	132	35
ICCATION OF DISPLACE FWD MID 12 1 12 1 10 7 2 2 2 2 3 1	LOCATION OF DISPLACEMENT FWD MID AFT 12 1 12 1 10 7 2 2 2 2 3 1	LOCATION SEPAR- SEPAR- ATION FWD MID AFT 12 1 3 12 1 9 10 7 9 10 7 9 12 2 1 13 1 1 2 2 2 3 1 1	LOCATION SEPAR- SEPAR- ATION SEPAR- ELEVA- TION FWD MID AFT 12 1 3 12 1 3 12 1 3 13 9 10 7 9 10 7 9 2 2 1 2 2 1 3 1 2	Icoation SEPar- separ- FWD SEPar- ATION SEAT BLOCKED DOOR JAM/ TION 12 1 3 7 5 12 1 3 7 5 12 1 3 7 5 12 1 3 7 5 10 7 9 13 9 5 10 7 9 13 9 5 1 1 2 1 2 1 10 7 9 13 9 5 10 7 9 13 9 5 2 2 1 2 1 2 1 3 1 1 2 3 2 1	ILOCATION Colsplacement SEPAR- ATION SEPAR- SET SEAT DOOR JAM DOOR JAM FWD MID AFT 3 7 5 4 12 1 3 7 5 4 12 1 3 7 5 4 12 1 3 7 5 4 12 1 3 7 5 4 10 7 9 13 9 5 2 2 2 1 2 1 2 2 3 1 1 2 3 2 2	ILOCATION SEPAR- SEAT NUMBER OF ACCIDENTS ICOCATION SEPAR- SEAT DOOR DOOR ECREW FWD MID AFT ATION ELEVA- JAM' JAM' JAM' I2 I 3 7 5 4 INTER- I2 I 3 7 5 4 I2 I 9 5 2 4 I2 1 2 1 1 1 I2 1 9 5 2 4 I2 1 2 1 2 4 I2 1 2 1 2 4 I2 1 2 1 2 4 I3 1 1 2 3 2 1	NUMBER OF ACCIDENTS LOCATION SEPAR- SEPAR- TOD SEPAR- EXIT ATION SEPAR- EEVA- BLOCKED SEPAR- JAM/ JAM/ JAM/ JAM/ JAM/ JAM/ JAM/ JAM/	ILOCATION LOCATION SEPAR- FWD SEAR ATION SEAR ATION SEAR ATION MIGE CREW LOOR MOSE GEAR LIMBER MIG TUMBER FWD MID AFT DOOR DOOR DOOR INTER- JAM/ TION LOCATION 12 1 3 7 5 4 8 1 12 1 3 7 5 4 8 1 12 1 3 7 5 4 8 1 12 1 3 7 5 4 8 1 12 1 3 7 5 4 1 1 12 1 3 7 5 4 1 1 12 1 3 7 5 4 1 1 10 7 9 13 9 5 2 4 1 2 2 1 2 1 2 1 1 3 1 1 2 3 2 1 1	NUMBER OF ACCIDENTS LOCATION SEPAR- ation SEAT ation EXIT boor boor boor boor boor boor boor boo	NUMBER OF ACCIDENTS LOCATION SEPAR- SEAT DOOR MUG GRE FWD MID AFT ATION ELEVA- DOOR DOOR INTER- FIRE- FIRE FWD MID AFT DOOR DOOR DOOR INTER- GERES GERES GERES GERES ELEVA- 12 1 3 7 5 4 8 1 8 4 12 1 3 7 5 4 8 1 8 4 12 1 3 7 5 4 8 1 8 4 12 1 3 7 5 4 8 1 8 4 12 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 7 12 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 12 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 12 1 9 5 2 4 1 1 1 10 7 9 5 2	¶ FATAL- ITIES			1.6	9.5	24.9	% .9	13.8
2 2 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1	CATION SPLACEMENT MID AFT 1 1 2 2 2 2 1 1	CATION SPLACEMENT SEPAR- SPLACEMENT ATION MID AFT ATION 1 3 7 9 13 2 2 1 2 2 1 1 1 2	CATION MID AFT SEPAR- SEAT SPLACEMENT ATION ELEVA- TION TION TION TION TION TION TION TION	NUMBE Cation SEPAR- SPLACEMENT SEAT ATION DOOR ELEVA- LAM/ TION NID AFT TON RID ATION ELEVA- LAM/ TION BLOCKED 1 3 7 5 7 9 13 9 5 2 2 1 2 1 1 1 2 3 7	NUMBER OF ACCI CATION SEPAR- SPLACEMENT SEAT ATION DOOR ELEVA- TION DUOR DOOR DOOR DOOR DOOR DOOR DOOR 1 3 7 5 4 1 3 7 5 4 7 9 13 9 5 2 2 2 1 2 1 2 1 1 2 3 7 5 4 1 1 3 7 5 2 1 2 1 2 1 2 1 1 2 3 2 2 1 1 2 3 2 3	NUMBER OF ACCIDENTS CATION SEPAR- SEAT DOOR GGRESS CATION SEPAR- SEAT DOOR GGRESS SPLACEMENT ATION BLOCKED BLOCKED NID AFT ATION BLOCKED BLOCKED BLOCKED BLOCKED 1 3 7 5 4 1 1 7 9 13 9 5 2 4 2 1 2 1 1 1 1 1 1 2 3 2 4 1 1 1 2 3 2 4 1	NUMBER OF ACCIDENTS CATION SEPAR- SEAT DUMBER OF ACCIDENTS CATION SEPAR- SEAT DOOR DOOR ECKEN ECKES CGRESS CEAR NID AFT ATION ELEVA- JAMV JAMV JAMV FERENCE FOLDED NID AFT 3 7 5 4 8 8 1 3 7 5 4 8 8 7 9 13 9 5 2 4 1 2 2 1 2 1 2 1 1 1 1 2 3 2 1 1 1	NUMBER OF ACCIDENTS CATION SEPAR- SEAT EXIT CREW ECRES MOSE MLG SPLACEMENT AFT BOOR DOOR DOOR INTER- FOLDED UNDER MID AFT ATION ELEVA- JAM/ JAM/ INTER- FOLDED UNDER MID AFT BLOCKED BLOCKED BLOCKED ERENCE AFT BODY 1 3 7 5 4 8 1 7 9 13 9 5 2 4 1 2 2 1 2 3 2 1 1 1 1 2 3 2 1 1 1	NUMBER OF ACCIDENTS CATION SPLACEMENT SEPAR- ation SEAT ELEVA- ELEVA- TION DUOOR DOOR DOOR INTER- DOOR MIG FERENCE MIG AFT GRD BODY 1 3 7 5 4 8 1 8 7 9 13 9 5 2 4 1 14 2 2 1 2 3 2 1 14 1 1 2 3 2 1 14	NUMBER OF ACCIDENTS CATION SEPAR- SEAT BOOR DOOR DOOR SPLACEMENT ATION EXIT CATION SEPAR- SEAT DOOR DOOR DOOR JAM/	Ō	OF DI	FWD	12		0]	2	æ
	AFT AFT AFT AFT AFT AFT AFT AFT AFT AFT	MeNT SEPAR- MENT ATION AFT ATION 3 9 13 2 1 2 1 1 2	VALIT SEPAR- SEAT MENT ATION ELEVA- AFT 3 7 3 7 9 13 9 2 1 2 1 2 3 1 2 3	NUMBE NUMBE MENT ATION ELEVA- JAM AFT ATION ELEVA- JAM JAM JAM JAM JAM JAM JAM JAM	NUMBER OF ACCI MENT SEPAR- AFT SEAT ATION EXIT EXIT DOOR DOOR DOOR MENT ATION ELEVA- JAM, TION JAM, JAM, JAM, JAM, TION JAM, JAM, JAM, TION 1 1 5 4 2 1 2 1 2 1 2 1 1 2 3 2 2 1 2 1 1 2 3 2	NUMBER OF ACCIDENTS MENT SEPAR- AFT SEAT ATION EXIT DOOR DOOR DOOR EGRESS INTER- JAM/ JAM/ JAM/ BLOCKED a 3 7 5 4 1 1 1 1 1 9 13 9 5 2 4 2 1 2 1 1 1 2 3 3 2 4	NUMBER OF ACCIDENTS VILINATION SEPAR- SEAT SEAT SEAT EXIT DOOR CREW DOOR EGRESS GEAR AFT ATION ELEVA- JAMU JAMU INTER- JAMU FORDER AFT ATION ELEVA- JAMU JAMU INTER- JAMU FORDER AFT ATION ELEVA- JAMU JAMU INTER- JAMU FOLDED AFT A BLOCKED BLOCKED BLOCKED AFT AFT 3 7 5 4 8 9 13 9 5 2 4 1 2 1 2 1 2 1 1 1 2 3 2 1 1 1	NUMBER OF ACCIDENTS W SEPAR- AFT SEAT AFT DOOR DOOR TION CREW DOOR DOOR DOOR DOOR DOOR DOOR DOOR DOO	NUMBER OF ACCIDENTS MENT SEPAR- aft SEAT book EXIT book CREW LAM/ LAM/ LAM/ LAM/ LAM/ LAM/ LAM/ LAM/	NUMBER OF ACCIDENTS MENT SEPAR- ation SEAT book times EXIT book book book inter- book blocked block blocked blocked blocked blocked blocked blocked blocked bl	CATION	SPLACE	MID		<u> </u>	-	2	1

· · · · · · ·

FIGURE A4. - PASSENGER/ CREW COMPARTMENT FLOOR DISPLACEMENT





FIGURE A6. - INTERACTION BETWEEN CABIN AND OTHER STRUCTURAL SYSTEMS

* *. Ţ

Ì



FIGURE A7. - ASSESSMENT OF WATER ENTRY ACCIDENTS



والمتعدية فأحكم والمترابع والمرجوع والمرجوع والمرجوع

FIGURE A8. - SEAT INTERACTIONS